
Washington Central Unified Union School District 

WCUUSD exists to nurture and inspire in all students the passion, creativity and power to contribute to 
their local and global communities. 

1130 Gallison Hill Road 
Montpelier, VT  05602  Bryan Olkowski 
Phone (802) 229-0553 Superintendent     
Fax (802) 229-2761 

Washington Central Unified Union School District 
Board Meeting Agenda  

U-32 Cafeteria 930 Gallison Hill Rd Montpelier  

6.23.21 5:00 PM – 9:00 PM 
 

 
 

1. Call to Order 4 minutes 

2. Executive Session –  Legal Matter, Negotiations, Superintendent Evaluation, 56 minutes 

3. Welcome
3.1. Reception of Guests
3.2. Public Comments –Time limit strictly enforced, see note 15 minutes 
3.3. Agenda Revisions

4. Reports (Discussion/Action) 75 minutes
4.1. Student Reports 5 minutes 
4.2. Superintendent 45 minutes 

4.2.1. Black Lives Matter Flag Raising Request – pg. 3 
4.2.2. Social Justice Statement – pg. 11 
4.2.3.  COVID-19 Update – pg. 13 
4.2.4.  Curriculum Management Review Report – pg. 14 
4.2.5.  School Time Proposal – pg. 172 

4.3. Finance Committee(Discussion/Action) 15 minutes 
4.3.1. Financial Update & ESSER Reports  
4.3.2.  Food Service Financial Reports – pg. 174 
4.3.3.  Comparative Information 

4.3.3.1. Education Spending Per Equalized Pupil – pg. 188 
4.3.3.2. Special Education Financial Information – pg. 190 

4.4. Policy Committee (Discussion/Action) 10 minutes 
4.4.1. Second Reading for policy to be adopted on 6.16.21: F44 Password Management, 

B8 Electronic Communication between Employees and Students, D40 Acceptable Use 
– pg. 196

4.4.2.  Third Reading for Policy to be Adopted: F40 Change Management, F43 Backups 
D3 District Take Home Device & Personal Device, F47 Electronic Mail, F48 Incident 
Response Policy and Plan – pg. 206 

Virtual Meeting Information: 
https://tinyurl.com/x37fu768 

Meeting ID: 825 4422 1381 
Password: 974718  

Dial by Your Location: 1- 929- 205- 6099 

Berlin East Montpelier Calais 

Middlesex Worcester 

U- 32 

1

https://tinyurl.com/x37fu768


5. Board Operations (Discussion/Action)  45 minutes 
5.1. Interviewing Potential New Board Members – pg. 221 25 minutes 
5.2. Governance (Action to Elect Vice Chair) 10 minutes 
5.3. Policy Committee Members 10 minutes 

6. Consent Agenda (Action) 10 minutes 
6.1. Approve Minutes of 5.19.21, 6.2.21, 6.8.21, and 6.16.21 – pg. 228
6.2. Approve Board Orders

7. Personnel (Action) 10 minutes 
7.1. Approve New Teachers, Resignations, Retirements, Leave of Absence and Changes in FTE

Approval of New Bargaining Agreements (Action) – pg. 356 

8. Future Agenda Items
8.1. WCUUSD Name
8.2. Assessment Needs for Building Bright Futures
8.3. Diversifying Educator Work Force
8.4. Net Metering Proposal
8.5. Strategic Planning

9. Board Reflection

10. Public Comments 10 minutes 

11. Adjourn

Note: To ensure the board has time to conduct its business, the board will adhere to a strict 1.5-minute
public comment time limit per person. Microphones will be muted when time is up. If there is not
enough time on the agenda for all members of the public wishing to comment at the beginning of the
meeting, there is additional public comment time at the end of the meeting.

WCUUSD Board Norms - Adopted November 18, 2020 

• Public input –Notify the community about public forums and opportunities for public comment at
board meetings.

• Community involvement during regular meetings of the board – Every meeting will include at
least one opportunity for public comment. Public comment is an opportunity for board members to
listen and ask clarifying questions. If a board member feels a concern raised in public comment
warrants further board discussion, they may request that the issue be added to a future agenda.

• Community dialogue – The board may periodically schedule community forums that allow for
dialogue, questions and answers from the board or the district leadership team.

• Stay on time – Start and end on time. The chair may appoint a time-keeper.
• All voices will be heard – Every board member gets a chance to speak. Some topics warrant having

each board member speak in turn to ensure full representation.
• Reflection –To allow time for reflection, the chair and agenda steering committee will plan time for

complex or contentious issues to be discussed at more than one meeting before the board votes,
except where a decision is urgent.

• Announcements in reports – Announcements from the administration will appear in the reports and
not as discussion items.

• Role of the board – At the end of each board meeting reflect on whether the board remained
focused on its policy-making and oversight role during the meeting, rather than operational details
that are the responsibility of leadership team.

• Respect each other – Listen, allow others to be heard, share concerns, assume positive intentions,
be present, celebrate successes.

2



Washington Central Unified Union School District 

WCUUSD exists to nurture and inspire in all students the passion, creativity and power to contribute to 
their local and global communities. 

1130 Gallison Hill Road 
Montpelier, VT  05602  Bryan Olkowski 
Phone (802) 229-0553 Superintendent          
Fax (802) 229-2761 

TO:     WCUUSD School Board  

FROM:  Bryan Olkowski, Superintendent of Schools 

RE:       Board Flag Request  

DATE:    June 18, 2021      

A request has been received from a student group named BLAAMM (Black, 

Latinx, Asian And Many More) to extend the display of the Black Lives Matter 

flag, which is currently being flown at U-32 Middle and High School, beyond the 

end of the school year.  

According to our policy which is included in this packet, the School Board is to 

consider and make a decision in regards to the application. I have attached the 

application and policy for your review. Additionally, I have also included a letter 

that went out to the community on June 18, 2021.  

Berlin East Montpelier Calais 

Middlesex Worcester 

U- 32 

3



A Middle and High School Learning Community

WCUUSD Flag Request

In accordance with the School Board’s Flag Raising Policy F46 and its accompanying procedures, a
student group may request the School Board to fly a flag on the school flagpole, provided that the

proposal meets all the criteria set forth in the Policy. This form should be used to aid in that process.

Date of Application:  Thursday, May 13th

Student Group (name and description):   Seeking Social Justice (SSJ)  & Middle School
BLAAMM

Seeking Social Justice started in 2017 and is a student-driven social justice advocacy group.
BLAAMM (Black, Latinx, Asian, and many more) is a caucus and support group for students
of color.

Faculty/Staff Advisors: Amy Koenigbauer and  Meg Allison (SSJ), Krista Dy (BLAAMM)

Location/District Office:  U-32 MS/HS

Describe the flag. Include dimensions and the method of attachment.

Identical to the one that is currently flying.

Explain how the flag aligns with and supports the school district mission, goals, curriculum,

and/or student learning outcomes:

There is a prior precedent for support for this flag to fly at U-32 since it has been approved

by the U-32 school board three years ago and has been flying ever since. There is a growing

need for inclusivity and working for justice in our schools. The Black Lives Matter flag is a

symbol of our commitment to do more at a school district.

Below is an excerpt from the speech that Latisha Badeau of BLAAMM gave when calling

upon the school board to allow the Black Lives Matter flag to be raised. We believe these

words still ring true today, with the emphasis that, although this flag will not be enough to

930 Gallison Hill Road, Montpelier, Vermont  05602-8248
MAIN OFFICE: (802) 229-0321 FAX: (802) 223-7411

GUIDANCE OFFICE: (802) 229-0322 FAX: (802) 262-6979
www.u32.org4



A Middle and High School Learning Community

end prejudice at U-32 on its own, the continued flying of the flag is a first step towards

fulfilling our duty to protect the rights of our students.

“The Black Lives Matter movement was established four years ago and was built on

bringing attention to the violence that was being inflicted on Black communities. And

it was also built on anti-Black racism. Throughout the years it has thrived into

focusing on trying to make a world where a Black person can be successful,

economically, socially, and politically. We started BLAMM for people of different

races to come and talk about struggles that they have because of their race.

We talk about the everyday things that are said to us by ignorant people, and the

looks that we get because we are not white. Racism isn’t the biggest problem at

U-32, but it is a hidden problem. A lot of the racism that happens comes from people

who are very ignorant. So they don’t see the harm that they have done. To hang the

flag would be to show that we are invested in supporting the movement, and making

people aware that the very few not white students at U-32 also matter. We believe

that Montpelier started a big thing by hanging the flag, and we would like to be a part

of carrying that on. It’s not about someone's life mattering more than anyone else,

It’s about how my life matters the same as yours.”

Is there support for this proposal among students or in the school community?  Explain.

Seeking Social Justice sent out a survey in May of 2021 to the U-32 community asking their

opinions on the Black Lives Matter flag flying at U-32. We received 259 responses from

students, faculty, and staff responding to the following questions:

Do you want the Black Lives Matter flag to keep flying at U-32?

Yes: 82.5%
No: 13.5%
Maybe/unsure/doesn’t care: 4%

Considering your previous answer, why?

It is important that U-32 shows support for Black students and is open
to conversations around race and racism within the student body. The BLM flag is a
symbol of inclusivity at U32 and we need to continue to spread that message.

930 Gallison Hill Road, Montpelier, Vermont  05602-8248
MAIN OFFICE: (802) 229-0321 FAX: (802) 223-7411

GUIDANCE OFFICE: (802) 229-0322 FAX: (802) 262-6979
www.u32.org5



A Middle and High School Learning Community

 It is our responsibility to show support for people of color in Vermont, especially 
since the POC population is so small. Not raising the flag would be humiliating for 
our school and suggest that we do not care about POC nor feel the need to stand 

with them.

Taking down the BLM flag would be a signal to our Black students that they are not 
welcome here, that they do not matter, and that we do not care about the struggles 
they endure in an overwhelmingly white school. Why would a Black student feel safe 
here if we go out of our way to take down a flag that says that they matter?

Anonymous: To put it simply, Black Lives Matter. I prefer to be at a school that
honors this important message and promotes inclusion of all students of color.

Anonymous: It would be counterproductive to stop flying it and would probably
make a lot of our minority students feel like support has been lost.

The following are a collection of responses from the past 3 years from current and former U-32
students taken from the U-32 chronicle about the Black Lives Matter flag:

“When schools raise the flag,  they are also raising the conversation about race 
and racism within our schools.”

“As a school, there was a fairly positive reaction. I was not against it. It was a good 
gateway for conversation.”

Proposed Date & Time for raising flag:

Our proposal is to maintain the flying of the Black Lives Matter flag, without interruption.
With a re-raising ceremony to be organized in the fall of 2021-2022 school year.

Please attach a visual representation of the flag to this request form.

930 Gallison Hill Road, Montpelier, Vermont  05602-8248
MAIN OFFICE: (802) 229-0321 FAX: (802) 223-7411

GUIDANCE OFFICE: (802) 229-0322 FAX: (802) 262-6979
www.u32.org6



A Middle and High School Learning Community

930 Gallison Hill Road, Montpelier, Vermont  05602-8248
MAIN OFFICE: (802) 229-0321 FAX: (802) 223-7411

GUIDANCE OFFICE: (802) 229-0322 FAX: (802) 262-6979
www.u32.org7



 
 
                                    
WASHINGTON CENTRAL UNIFIED POLICY:          F46  
UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT  
 WARNED:      3/17/21      
Board of Directors’ Policy 
 ADOPTED:          
FLAG RAISING  
 EFFECTIVE:    
   
 
 
Policy 
 
It is the policy of WCUUSD that the School Board may, from time to time, decide to fly a flag on 
school grounds, in addition to the United States and Vermont flags, in accordance with the criteria set 
forth below.  In all cases, the raising and display of a flag on a school flagpole in this District shall 
remain a matter of the Board’s discretion and shall be considered an expressive act of the School 
District itself.  This Policy is not intended to and does not create a forum for speech by students or any 
members of the school community.   
 
Criteria include: 

• The request to fly a flag must originate from a WCUUSD student group. 
• The flag must represent ideas that align with and support the current District Mission, Goals 

and Student Learning Outcomes. 
• The flag may not depict symbols or language that are understood to promote hate or the 

supremacy of one group over others. 
• The flag may not include content that is vulgar, religious, commercial, or subject to trademark 

or similar restrictions. 
• The flag shall remain on the school flagpole through the end of the school year and shall then 

be removed, unless the Board elects a different timeframe. 
• The Board may invite comment from the community, including students. 
 
 

School administration, in consultation with the School Board, will develop operating procedures to 
implement this Policy.  
 
 

8



WCUUSD Flag Request 

In accordance with the School Board’s Flag Raising Policy F46 and its accompanying 
Procedures, a student group may request the School Board to fly a flag on the school flagpole, 
provided that the proposal meets all the criteria set forth in the Policy.  This form should be used 
to aid in that process. 

Date of Application:  ________________ 

Student Group (name and description):   ___________________       
________________________________________________________________________ 

Your name and grade: ___________________________________ 

Faculty/Staff Advisors (if any):  ____________________________________________ 

Location (circle all that apply): 

District Office    Berlin Calais Doty East Montpelier Rumney U-32 

Describe flag.  Include dimensions and the method of attachment.    

____________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________ 

Explain how the flag aligns with and supports the school district mission, goals, curriculum, 

and/or student learning outcomes:  

___________________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

Is there support for this proposal among students or in the school community?  Explain. 

____________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________ 

Proposed Date & Time for raising flag:  ___________________________________________ 

9



Washington Central Unified Union School District 
 
WCUUSD exists to nurture and inspire in all students the passion, creativity and power to contribute to their lo-

cal and global communities. 
 
 
1130 Gallison Hill Road 
Montpelier, VT  05602   
Phone (802) 229-0553                      
Fax (802) 229-2761          

      
June 17, 2021 
 
From:   Bryan Olkowski, Superintendent of Schools 
To:   Washington Central Unified Union School District 
 
Dear WCUUSD Families and Community Members 
 
The WCUUSD Board of School Directors has received a request from a student group named BLAAMM (Black, 
Latinx, Asian And Many More) to extend the display of the Black Lives Matter flag, which is currently being 
flown at U-32 Middle and High School, beyond the end of the school year.  
 
According to WCUUSD Policy number F46, a request to fly a flag must meet certain criteria, including: 
 
• The request must originate from a WCUUSD student group. 
• The flag must represent ideas that align with and support the current District Mission, Goals and Student 

Learning Outcomes.  
• The flag may not depict symbols or language that are understood to promote hate or the supremacy of one 

group over others.  
• The flag may not include content that is vulgar, religious, commercial, or subject to trademark or similar re-

strictions. 
• The flag shall remain on the school flagpole through the end of the school year and shall then be removed, 

unless the Board elects a different timeframe. 
 
The policy also states that “the raising and display of a flag on a school flagpole in this District shall remain a 
matter of the Board’s discretion and shall be considered an expressive act of the School District itself.” 
 
As the end of the current school year is upon us; and as a student group has made the request to keep the flag in 
place; the Board will discuss the issue at its next meeting on June 23, 2021. Members of the public who are resi-
dents of the district are invited to attend to share any thoughts or concerns they may have.  The meeting infor-
mation can be found at https://www.wcsu32.org/domain/272.  
 
Thank you 
 
Bryan Olkowski, WCUUSD - Superintendent of Schools 

10

https://www.wcsu32.org/domain/272


May 28, 2021 

Dear WCUUSD Board Members, Leadership Team, Superintendent, 

We, the undersigned and first cohort of the Racial Equity, Intersectional Justice, and Confronting Bias at 
School course for educators, offer the community our statement below regarding on-going education for 
equity and inclusion across the district. We have written this statement knowing the work for justice for 
all is life-long and requires all our persistent actions.  We have also selected our words intentionally and 
carefully. We want consistent attention to teaching our students to thrive in the future we are now 
creating. 

We have also applied for and received an Equitable Education Systems grant from the Vermont Agency 
of Education. This grant provides the foundational work to establish what we would like to call: The 
Humanity & Justice Coalition. This group, made up of community stakeholders, is tasked with enabling 
the statement to become three dimensional and real. 

This work occurred within the context of a course for WCUUSD educators who brought their creativity, 
commitment, and collaboration to class each week. They all brought a desire to learn and take action to 
enhance their understanding of the challenges our students face each day and to make change happen. We 
are elementary, middle, and high school teachers, librarians, an elementary principal, high school 
counselor, director of special services, the director of curriculum, instruction and assessment, and the 
equity scholar in residence. We consider this a working document. 

Here is Our Commitment to Humanity & Justice: 

The Washington Central Unified Union School District is dedicated to taking concrete actions that 
provide a safer and more supportive learning environment that is free of barriers; one that affirms 
the identity of each of us and acknowledges and celebrates differences to create a sense of belonging 
for each person connected to our schools. The school district is committed to creating inclusive 
educational opportunities that are relevant both historically and culturally, addressing the impacts 
of bias, prejudice, and discrimination while building more opportunity for us to thrive rather than 
merely survive. This statement represents a commitment within our school district to acknowledge 
and end oppression and oppressive systems, to center our full humanity of all in our community, 
and to keep broadening our perspectives. These identities — including and not limited to race, 
color, religion, creed, national origin, ethnicity, marital status, family composition, sex, sexual 
orientation, gender identity, varying physical and mental abilities, and socioeconomic status — 
carry socially constructed meaning and value. Our commitment is to the development of cultural 
humility and personal growth that is best supported in a climate that respects differences and 
provides a sense of belonging and inclusion. 

We are looking forward to your support and adoption of this statement as a commitment for our district 
and your encouragement for making this work a reality in all we do. 

In all efforts for access and justice— 

Meg Allison 
Mary Bove 
Kelly Bushey 

11



Alison Byrnes 
Ellen Cooke 
Krista Dy 
Cat Fair 
Jenn Ingersoll 
Amy Koenigbauer 
Karen Liebermann 
Alyson Mahony 
Jennifer Miller-Arsenault 
Shelley Vermilya 

12



TO: WCUUSD School Board
FROM: Elizabeth Wirth, Covid-19 Coordinator
RE: Safety and Effective Functioning of the District During the Pandemic Year
DATE: June 18, 2021

Dear School Board members,

Bryan has asked me to prepare a statement about the safety and effective functioning of the district during this pandemic
year.

Our District School Nurse team met regularly from last spring and throughout the summer to prepare for the 2020-2021
school year. Amy Molina was an integral part of the Facilities and Health and Task Force, having spent innumerable hours
investigating potential needs for PPE, staffing, and facility upgrades. We met to review health guidance and updates from
various organizations, including the Vermont Department of Health, the Centers for Disease Control, the Agency of
Education, the Emergency Operations Center, becoming educated on what other school districts in the US and abroad were
doing to open school safely.

In accordance with guidance from the AOE and the Health Department, the new district Superintendent made the decision to
hire a full time COVID-Coordinator for the district and to have all schools maintain a full time school nurse for the 2000-2001
school year.

Priorities became:
● Facilities - including ventilation systems, isolation rooms, cleaning protocols
● Ordering necessary PPE
● Configuration of classrooms with necessary distancing in mind
● Anticipation of training and education that staff, families and students may need prior to returning to school

By late July, we were comfortable that we could have necessary mitigation strategies in place for the safe start of in-person
learning on September 8, deciding that we would also offer a Remote Learning option for families for whom this would work
best. The decision was made to allow teachers to bring their own children into our schools at no cost to them or to their
home districts, in order that they could be available to keep our schools open for learning.

Priorities added:
● Decreasing the risk of individuals infected with Covid-19 from entering schools - utilized an on-line screening

questionnaire and a temperature check upon arrival at all schools
● Decreasing transmission among staff and students - mitigation strategies included mandatory mask wearing,

distancing in classrooms and hallways, regular handwashing and hand sanitizing, regular and frequent cleaning of
all contact surfaces in every  building safe busing protocols put into place

● Quickly identifying individuals with Covid-19 and putting containment procedures in place - clear protocols for illness
- anyone with symptoms monitored in a separate space until pick up could be arranged. Keeping students in small
pods allowed for easy containment if a positive case was found and fewer students/staff needing to quarantine

● Communicate regularly with staff, students, families and communities. We did develop a website initially and
produced several informational booklets, but what was most important was for families and staff to have quick
access to the COVID-19 Coordinator to answer the many questions and concerns that arose in the course of the
year

● Voluntary state surveillance testing of staff started in January and continued monthly through April of 2021, when
sufficient staff had been vaccinated. Over 200 staff participated in each test date through March. There were 3
asymptomatic cases identified in those events - none of which resulted in any in-school transmission.

● Manage constant changes in guidance from the CDC, AOE, Vermont Department of Health - weekly meetings of all
district nurses to review protocols and new guidance. Regular consultation with Carolyn Lorenz-Greenberg, MD. to
assure we were following best practice guidelines as the year progressed and things evolved

Results:
● We are aware of 30 members of our community - parents, children and staff who tested positive for COVID-19

during the current school year. This may be an underestimate since some people may not have shared the
information with us.

● Cases: 10 cases requiring contact tracing in our schools from November 21 through April 13. No evidence of any
transmission in our schools as a result of these cases, although quarantine requirements did cause short closings
of individual pods and 2 situations caused school closing for short periods

● As far as we know, none of the cases required hospitalization
● Our schools safely remained open for in-person learning for the the entire school year

As I prepare this memo, I am aware of the incredible success this year has been thanks to the foresight and support of a
new superintendent, the trust of staff and families that allowed them to move beyond the fears of the many unknowns of this
deadly virus, the incredibly hard work of teachers and staff and the resilience of children, for whom we do it all.

A special thanks to the Board for supporting us all this year. We could not have done it without you.

13



Washington Central Unified Union School District 

WCUUSD exists to nurture and inspire in all students the passion, creativity and power to contribute to 
their local and global communities. 

1130 Gallison Hill Road 
Montpelier, VT  05602  Bryan Olkowski 
Phone (802) 229-0553 Superintendent          
Fax (802) 229-2761 

TO:     WCUUSD School Board  

FROM:  Bryan Olkowski, Superintendent of Schools 

RE:       Curriculum Management Review Report  

DATE:    June 18, 2021         

I am writing to inform you that the Washington Central Unified Union School District has received the 
executive summary and final report from Curriculum Management Solutions Incorporated (CMSi).  As a 
result of receiving the report, I am requesting the School Board take action to receive the report and to 
direct the Superintendent to prepare a written response to the report, so the WCUUSD School Board can 
decide next steps after seeing the Superintendent’s response. Both Superintendent recommendations are 
listed at the end of this memo.  I have also included some additional information about the Curriculum 
Management Review’s final report to assist you in your reading of the report.   

The Curriculum Management Review’s final report includes the following: 

1) Findings covering the following Five Review Standards
a) Governance and Leadership
b) Curriculum and Learning
c) Equality, Equity, and Connectivity
d) Feedback and Assessment
e) Productivity and Resource Use

2) Recommendations that include all the findings.

These recommendations are directed to the Washington Central School Board and the Superintendent of 
Schools.  

In reading this report, it is recommended that you follow the process listed below to best make sense of 
the report: (Keep in mind this is not a cover to cover read) 

1) Start with the Executive Summary
2) Read each Finding head and then the first 2-3 paragraphs of each finding
3) Read the entire Recommendation section
4) Look through the individual findings to see the rationale for the finding, and data points.

Berlin East Montpelier Calais 

Middlesex Worcester 

U- 32 

14



Superintendent’s Recommendation: 

1) Motion to have Washington Central Unified Union School District to receive the report
entitled, “CMSi Curriculum Review of Washington Central Unified Union School District
Date May 2021”

2) Motion to direct the Superintendent of Schools to prepare a response to the report including
the following information:
a) Prioritize the areas needing attention
b) Identify which conditions most adversely affect students?
c) Identify which findings most adversely affect the system?
d) Develop a plan to address the recommendations.

15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



Washington Central Unified Union School District 

WCUUSD exists to nurture and inspire in all students the passion, creativity and power to contribute to 
their local and global communities. 

1130 Gallison Hill Road 
Montpelier, VT  05602  Bryan Olkowski 
Phone (802) 229-0553 Superintendent          
Fax (802) 229-2761 

TO: WCUUSD School Board  

FROM: Bryan Olkowski, Superintendent ; Steven Dellinger-Pate, U-32 

Principal   

DATE: June 14, 2021 

RE: School Time Proposal 

U-32 Administration is proposing a change to the student school day from 8:00-2:35 to 8:00-
2:55. The current teacher workday will not change; it will remain 7:45-3:15. This change falls 
within the current collective bargaining agreement for the teacher day and allows us the 
opportunity to add instructional time. Our Middle School will be able to have a silent sustained 
reading block that does not take time from core instruction, and our High School will be able to 
add an additional 5 minutes to every class period. By adding 20 minutes of instruction a day we 
will essentially add 50+ additional hours of instruction per year or another way to look at it, 7 
additional school days. Over the course of 6 years this would be an additional 40+ school days of 
instructional time. 

Justifications: Silent sustained reading has been a valuable part of the Middle School program 
for many years and strengthens student skills and reading stamina. 
High school has had the alternating remote/in-person schedule all year and any additional time 
that we can have students in class will benefit our students. 

Contractual language (Teacher Agreement): 
9.2a. Teachers are professional employees. Teachers will meet their professional obligations and 
structure their workday to achieve this end. The work week for full-time teachers will be thirty 
seven and a half (37.5) hours. Start and end times for the work day will be established by the 
Principal and shall be continuous except as provided in 9.2.b below. The Principal and the 
Association may agree, at the building level, to structure work days in a flexible manner to 
accomplish the objectives of the school and its professional educators. 

9.2b. The Principal and Association may agree, at the building level, to structure work days in a 
flexible manner to accomplish the objectives of the school and its professional educators. If 
requested, the Administration in each building will meet and confer with Association 

Berlin East Montpelier Calais 

Middlesex Worcester 

U- 32 

172



representatives no later than June 10th annually to discuss the student day start and end times in 
each building for the following school year. 
 
(ESP Agreement) 9.8. The workday for each ESP shall be determined by the Board annually at 
the time individual contracts are issued. 
 
Other considerations: 

1. Busing - We will need 4 additional buses in the afternoon at a maximum cost of 
$241,000.  Some routes may need to have U-32 and elementary students on the same 
buses in the afternoon, and families will need to “opt-in” to riding the bus for next year. 
Safety and efficiency of the bus routes will determine the full need for additional buses. 

2. While the estimated cost for 4 additional bus runs is $241k, the state reimburses districts 
approximately 44% two years after the expense is paid.  Therefore, this would generate 
approximately $106k in reimbursement in FY 23-24.  This means the net cost is 
$135k.  However, the board would need to earmark $241k from the fund balance for FY 
21-22.  The following year the budget would need to increase by approximately $241k 
for FY 22-23.  Next fall, the transportation contract will go out to bid and these 
transportation changes will need to be included in the bid specifications. 

 

173



Washington	Central	Unified	Union	School	District 

WCUUSD	exists	to	nurture	and	inspire	in	all	students	the	passion,	creativity	and	power	to	contribute	to	
their	local	and	global	communities.	

1130 Gallison Hill Road 
Montpelier, VT  05602  Bryan Olkowski 
Phone (802) 229-0553 Superintendent     
Fax (802) 229-2761 

TO:		 	WCUUSD	School	Board	
FROM:		Bryan	Olkowski,	WCUUSD	Superintendent	

		Lori	T.	Bibeau,	WCUUSD	Business	Administrator	
RE:			 		ESSER	Grants	and	Financial	Update	
DATE:			June	17,	2021	

ESSER	UPDATE	
Washington Central Unified Union School District (WCUUSD) received approval for ESSER I 
& ESSER II grants which will be spent by June 30, 2021. Here is a summary of the ESSER 
grant information as of today: 

1. ESSER I Grant $243,331
2. ESSER II Grant $1,108,477 up from the original amount of $923,131
3. ESSER III allocation is $2,480,120.

a. The deadline to spend this award is September 30, 2024.
b. We have completed the initial work to secure the grant by submitting the

Recovery/Moving Forward Plan and the initial application.
c. We are awaiting guidance on the allowable uses for ESSER III grant funds.

This report describes the use of the ESSER funds and how they impact the projected fund 
balance.   

ESSER	I	$243,331	

Washington Central UUSD received approval to spend $243,331 as follows: 
 Remote Instruction $99,991
 Health Services-Additional Nurse time and COVID-19 Coordinator $142,675
 Independent Schools share $665

ESSER	II	$1,108,477	
Washington Central UUSD received approval to spend $1,108,477 as follows: 

 Remote Instruction $512,362
 LEA staffing needed to manage the COVID-19 response $421,256	was	$235,910
 Costs associated with increased staff necessitated by the COVID-19 response and

recovery $174,859.

Berlin East Montpelier Calais 

Middlesex Worcester 

U- 32 

174



The Town Meeting Warning-Article 7 was approved by voters.  This article authorizes 
the School Board to control and direct the use of Fund Balance for operations.  By 
utilizing ESSER I & ESSER II funds for budgeted items, this creates an increase in the 
Operating Fund Balance.  This will provide less restrictions and deadlines than the 
ESSER II grant.  It will also provide an opportunity for the School District to utilize funds 
for strategic planning, recommendations from the curriculum management review etc. 
as we work to develop and implement district improvement initiatives. 

Operating	Fund	Balance	Update	
 The operating fund balance is projected to increase since the April report.  The

primary reasons are:  the use of ESSER Grants to pay staffing costs, unspent 
budgeted funds due to the pandemic and the decline in enrollment of Special 
Education students. 

o The Fund Balance is projected to be $3,309,963.
o After the reduction of $425,203 in current reservations, the available

operating fund balance is $2,884,760.  This is $2,176,150 over the 2% target.

 Using the latest information available, here is a list of the changes since April that
are included in the June projections:

o At the May 19th meeting, the School Board authorized additional expense for
paraeducators $123,371 less offsetting revenues of $31,192 for a net amount
of $92,179.

o At the June 16th meeting, the School Board authorized additional expense for
a paraeducator $31,368 less offsetting revenues of $17,566 for a net amount
of $13,802. The board action for reserving fund balance is noted at the end of
this report.

o The final purchasing and staffing costs for the year resulted in additional
savings of $280,127.

o Special Education program cost savings of $60,016 due to the decline in
enrollment.  There are also less extraordinary and state placed student
expenses.  Projected revenues were updated for end of year projections and
this results in $142,536 less Special Education Reimbursement than the April
report.

o Miscellaneous Revenues-Primarily E-rate, field trips etc. is a reduction of
$11,004.

o All other fund balance reservations were updated using the latest
information including other grants.

 The final report for June 30, 2021 will be completed after the books are closed for
the fiscal year.

175



Capital	Funds	
When Washington Central Unified Union School District merged on July 1, 2019, the capital 
funds were restricted to the Separate entities.  These balances have been tracked in 
separate accounts until they are expended in full.  Here are the highlights for FY 20-21: 
Beginning	balances	of	July	1,	2020:	

 Berlin $451,588
 Calais $130,849
 East Montpelier $907,669
 Middlesex $72,995
 Worcester $234,448
 U32 $632,091
 Central Office $117,370
 WCUUSD $26,383

Total	Beginning	Balances	$2,573,393	

Revenues:	
 General Fund Transfer $706,522
 Additional Fund Transfer $1,500,000
 Interest Income and Miscellaneous Income $45,826

Total	Revenues	$2,252,348	

Expenses:	
NOTE:		The	Board	Approved	District	Funds	to	cover	the	project	costs	beyond	the	
beginning	balances:	

 Berlin $590,753
 Calais $135,717
 East Montpelier $1,634
 Middlesex $173,421
 Worcester $313,208
 U32 $660,985
 Central Office $21,829
 WCUUSD $450,504

Total	Expenses	$2,348,051	

Projected	ending	balances	of	June	30,	2021:	
 Berlin $0
 Calais $0
 East Montpelier $906,035
 Middlesex $0
 Worcester $0
 U32 $0
 Central Office $95,541
 WCUUSD $1,476,114

Total	Projected	Ending	Balances	$2,477,690	

176



	
 

Community	Connections	
Current projections show the Community Connections program will have an estimated 
Fund Balance of $66,301 at the end of this year.  This is due to the new grant support, along 
with the support of the Cares Relief Grant this year. At this time, we are projecting the 
program will break even using the Fund Balance for FY 21-22. 
	

Food	Service	Programs	
Due to the pandemic from March 2020 and for most of this fiscal year, the Food Service 
Programs have covered the unanticipated expenses by funding from grants.  The grants 
include: LEA-Cares Relief Act, CRF-Summer Food Service and CRF-Food Service Equipment.  
The programs have shifted to universal free meals which requires specific meal planning to 
comply with the necessary meal components to receive Federal Reimbursement. 
 
Although universal free meals have been available, many families are not participating this 
year. Here is a summary of the students eating by building using the information through 
May 31, 2021: 
   Breakfast	 	 Lunch	
Berlin   34%   72% 
Calais   30%   48% 
East Montpelier 34%   50% 
Rumney  36%   55% 
Doty   32%   57% 
U32    7%   24% 
 
The attached reports provide a District comparison and historical trends for each program. 
 
 
Washington Central Unified Union School District recently received notification from the 
Vermont Agency of Education Child Nutrition Program that the net cash resources for the 
Food Service Programs exceeded the limits established by Vermont law.  The maximum 
amount by law for Fiscal Year 19-20 was $156,447 and Washington Central UUSD ended 
the year with $214,208.  As you may recall the Cares Relief Food Service allocations 
resulted in Washington Central reopening the financial records for Fiscal Year 19-20.  In 
reviewing the situation, the voter approved transfer of $149,115 from the operating budget 
resulted in the excess amount for FY 19-20.   
 
To respond to the Agency’s finding, we received approval to reduce or not transfer this 
year’s budget amount of $149,115.  At this time, it is projected that Washington Central will 
have $89,354 in the Food Service Fund Balance which is below the state formula.  This is 
very preliminary information and could change by approximately $20k. Prior to closing the 
books, the Fund Balance will be reviewed to confirm the Fund Balance is below the 
allowable limit. 
 
 

177



Recommendations	for	ESSER	III	&	Fund	Balance	for	consideration:	

At this time, we have not received final instructions for eligible expenses for the ESSER III 
grant. ESSER III is a multi-year grant ending on September 2024. There have been several 
items identified for this funding source if they are found eligible and the list continues to 
grow. However, the Agency of Education has informed schools this information is not 
expected until late July or August.   

I sent the following list to the agency for consideration and was told this list fits well within 
the ESSER allowable cost categories. 

Here	is	a	summary	of	the	list	of	items	to	date:	
CDC	Guidelines:  Nursing Time(Calais and Doty), COVID Coordinator, cleaning supplies 
and additional staffing for additional cleaning, Daycare and after school activities, school 
bus sanitation, furniture/supplies, administrative of leave and additional staff processing, 
fiscal time for grant processing. 
Recovery/Moving	Forward	Plan:  Tutors, Summer programs, after school coordinator 
and activities, compensatory services, remote learning, guidance counselor time, recovery 
coordinator, recovery work teams. 
Curriculum	Management	Review:	Curriculum professional development, curriculum 
writing, Math and Literacy Specialists, Instructional Coaches, Improved instruction and 
student outcomes. 
Special	Education	Program	Review:	Consultant to complete program review, Act 173 
transition and identify staffing needs-TBD. 

Requested	Board	Actions:	

Authorize reserving Fund Balance for the Doty .86 Paraeducator position for a cost of 
$$31,368 less projected reimbursements of $17,566 for a net amount of $13,802. 

Authorize a transfer to the Capital Fund in the amount of $1,000,000. 

178



Washington Central Unified Union School District NOTE:  Fund Balance available to the School Board is the "After Audit

FUND BALANCE SUMMARY Beginning Balance". The Projected Ending Fund Balance is an estimate 

Fiscal Year 2020-2021 using the current information.  This amount becomes final after the

As of June 16 2021 school year ends and the audit is completed.

KEY:  Increase (Decrease) to Fund Balance

GENERAL FUND (1)

Beginning Fund Balance-Reserved for Operations:
Month of Update

Reserved for Operations July  2020 $2,510,525

Total Beginning Fund Balance-Reserved for Operations(A) $2,510,525

Revenues Changes: BUDGET 2021 CHANGE PROJECTED 2021

Interest Income Sept 2020 -$53,780 * See Expenses Below

Miscellaneous Income-Rumney Outdoor Learning Sept & Nov 2020 $11,500 * See Expenses Below

Tuition Income(4 less Full-time students than budgeted) Oct 2020 -$82,608

Small Schools Grant Oct 2020 $28,866

Special Education Reimbursements Nov 2020 -$304,888 * See Expenses Below

Miscellaneous Income-Dental Transfer-Per Board Action December 16 Dec 2020 $125,000

Special Education Reimbursements Dec 2020 -$34,112 * See Expenses Below

Education Spending-Repurposed using CRF Feb 2021 -$836,152 * See Expenses Below

CARES RELIEF FUND-COVID Reimbursement-AOE Feb 2021 $2,147,353 * See Expenses Below

CARES RELIEF FUND-COVID Reimbursement-Efficiency Vermont Feb 2021 $815,699 * See Expenses Below

Special Education Reimbursements-Prior Year Final April 2021 $61,164

Special Education Reimbursements-Early Retirement April 2021 $41,653

Special Education Reimbursements April 2021 -$199,231 * See Expenses Below

Miscellaneous, Field Trip, Erate & Interest Income April 2021 -$73,703

Miscellaneous, Field Trip, Erate, Transportation Aid & Interest Income June 2021 -$11,004

Special Education Reimbursements June 2021 -$142,536 * See Expenses Below

TOTAL REVENUES(B) $35,430,502 $1,493,221 $36,923,723

Expense Changes: BUDGET 2021 CHANGE PROJECTED 2021

Interest Expense Sept 2020 $53,780 *See Revenues Above
Program Costs-Rumney Outdoor Learning Sept & Nov 2020 -$11,500 *See Revenues Above
School-wide Payroll Update-Unfilled Positions Oct 2020 $221,629

School-wide Payroll Update-Budgeted Position Charged to Grant Oct 2020 $37,340
School-wide Payroll Update-Health Insurance Savings Oct 2020 $74,365
School-wide Payroll Update-Staffing Turnover Savings Oct 2020 $77,227

Special Education Programs Nov 2020 $539,135 *See Revenues Above
Special Education Programs Nov 2020 $29,958 *See Revenues Above
School-wide Payroll Update-Updated for CRF eligible expenses Feb 2021 $254,593

Education Spending-Repurposed using CRF Feb 2021 $836,152 *See Revenues Above
CARES COVID Instructional, Support and Related Expenses-AOE Feb 2021 -$2,147,353 *See Revenues Above
CARES COVID Air quality, Isolation Rooms-Efficiency Vermont Feb 2021 -$815,699 *See Revenues Above
Transfer to Capital Fund- Per Board Action February 17 2021 April 2021 ‐$1,500,000

Early Retirement-Local Share-ESSER I partial share April 2021 -$197,517 Partial SPED reimbursement
Budget Savings School-wide Payroll-Incl ESSER I & II , Substitutes April 2021 $737,404

Budget Savings-Field trips, Travel, Professional Development April 2021 $154,070

Budget Savings-Athletics April 2021 $122,130

Budget Savings-Co-curricular April 2021 $46,292

Special Education Programs-Decline in Students April 2021 $304,953 *See Revenues Above
District-wide close down June 2021 $280,127

Special Education Programs-Decline in Students June 2021 $60,016 *See Revenues Above
Food Service Transfer-Per CNF June 2021 $149,115

TOTAL EXPENSES(C) $35,430,502 -$693,783 $36,124,285

CURRENT YEAR OPERATIONS-REVENUE LESS EXPENSES (B-C)=D $799,438
BEGINNING BALANCE + CURRENT YEAR OPERATIONS(A+D)=E $3,309,963

Other board considerations for Fund Balance(F): 
Reserve for Budget Items-FY 21-22-Early Retirement ‐$145,019

Reserve for Budget Items-FY 22-23-Early Retirement ‐$145,019

Equity Services-WCFE-Equity Scholar in Residence-PER BOD action 17‐Mar‐21 $79,184 ‐$29,184 Grant Funding $50k

Reserved for FY 21-22 paraeducators(2.28 FTE's) Exp $123,371 LessRev $31,192 19‐May‐21 ‐$92,179

Reserved for FY 21-22 paraeducators(.86 FTE) Exp $31,368 LessRev $17,566 23‐Jun‐21 Pending ‐$13,802

Reserve for COVID-19 Coordinator and FT Nurses(2.0FTE)- Less Grants $0 ESSER III$190‐$200k

Reserve Strategic Plan & Curriculum Management Review-Amt TBD $0

Subtotal Board Considerations ‐$425,203

PROJECTED ENDING BALANCE-Reserved  For Operations(E+F)=G $2,884,760

Note:  Target Fund Balance at 2% of current year budget $708,610

Amount Available Beyond the 2% Target $2,176,150

Other Reserved Fund Balances:
Reserved for Technology Equipment $357,928

Reserved for Fiscal Software & Related Costs-Incl. Interest Income $309,000

Subtotal Reserved Items (G) $666,928

179



Washington Central Unified Union School District
FUND BALANCE SUMMARY

Fiscal Year 2020-2021
PERMANENT 

(Fund 5) TRUST(Fund 8) AGENCY(Fund 9)

SCHOLARSHIP/ Student Activities

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND(2)-GRANTS OTHER FUNDS MISCELLANEOUS MISCELLANEOUS  

Beginning Fund Balance $0 Beginning Fund Bal. /Deposits Payable $5,577 $83,009 $128,026
Projected Income $3,095,802
Projected  Expense -$3,095,802 Projected Surplus(Use) 196$  (733)$  22,763$            

Projected Available Funds $0 Projected Available Funds $5,773 $82,276 $150,789

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND(3)

Beginning Fund Balance:
Combined Totals BERLIN CALAIS

EAST 
MONTPELIER

MIDDLESEX WORCESTER U32 Central Office WCUUSD

Beginning Fund Balance(A) $2,573,393 $451,588 $130,849 $907,669 $72,995 $234,448 $632,091 $117,370 $26,383

Revenues:

Interfund Transfers $706,522 $139,165 $4,868 $0 $100,032 $78,760 $28,894 $0 $354,803

Additional Interfund Transfer Per Board Action February 17 2021 $1,500,000 $1,500,000

Interest Income & Miscellaneous Income $45,826 $0 $0 $0 $394 $0 $0 $0 $45,432

TOTAL REVENUES(B) $2,252,348 $139,165 $4,868 $0 $100,426 $78,760 $28,894 $0 $1,900,235

TOTAL FUND BALANCE & REVENUES(A+B)=C $4,825,741 $590,753 $135,717 $907,669 $173,421 $313,208 $660,985 $117,370 $1,926,618

Expenses: Combined Totals BERLIN CALAIS
EAST 

MONTPELIER
MIDDLESEX WORCESTER U32 Central Office WCUUSD

ACTUAL EXPENSES PAID TO DATE $1,976,841 $590,753 $135,717 $1,634 $173,421 $313,208 $660,985 $21,829 $79,294
ENCUMBERED PURCHASE ORDERS TO DATE $371,210 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $371,210

TOTAL EXPENSES(C) $2,348,051 $590,753 $135,717 $1,634 $173,421 $313,208 $660,985 $21,829 $450,504

CURRENT CAPITAL PROJECT BALANCE AVAILABLE $2,477,690 $0 $0 $906,035 $0 $0 $0 $95,541 $1,476,114

ENTERPRISE FUNDS(Fund 6)

Fiscal Year 2020-2021
Total Fund 6 Food Services

Community 
Connections

Dental Program
Health 

Reimbursement/
MSA/DC

Beginning Fund Balance $1,072,090 $214,208 $27,809 $231,393 $598,680

Budget Support -$85,000 $0 $40,000 -$125,000 $0
Projected Surplus(Use) (78,218)$  (127,854)$          (1,508)$              -$413 $51,557

CURRENT PROJECTED FUND BALANCE $908,872 $86,354 $66,301 $105,980 $650,237

Cannot Exceed $156,447

180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



Washington	Central	Unified	Union	School	District 

WCUUSD	exists	to	nurture	and	inspire	in	all	students	the	passion,	creativity	and	power	to	contribute	to	
their	local	and	global	communities.	

1130 Gallison Hill Road 
Montpelier, VT  05602  Bryan Olkowski 
Phone (802) 229-0553 Superintendent     
Fax (802) 229-2761 

TO:		 	WCUUSD	School	Board	
FROM:		Bryan	Olkowski,	Superintendent	

		Lori	T.	Bibeau,	WCUUSD	Business	Administrator	
RE:			 		Comparative	Information‐Education	Spending	Per	Equalized	Pupil	
DATE:			June	17,	2021	

Comparative	Information	per	AOE	Education	Spending	Per	Equalized	Pupil	

This year, the Finance Committee and School Board requested comparative information 
with other school districts.  In December 2020, the FY 20 information was shared using the 
information readily available from the Agency of Education.  Since that time, we have 
received FY 21 information.  The attached worksheet shows the same neighboring Districts 
compared to Washington Central Unified Union School District.  
Here is a summary: 

 Washington Central UUSD has the highest education spending per equalized pupil
when compared to the neighboring Districts. 

 There are 114 -119 districts used in the state-wide cohort sample.
 Washington Central UUSD is ranked 11 of 114 Districts using FY 21 information and

13 of 119 Districts using FY20 information.  Key:  1 is the highest cost.
 The State-wide average is $16,836 FY 21, $16,237 FY 20
 Washington Central UUSD cost of $19,531 FY 21 and $18,657 FY20 is above the

State average by $2,695 FY 21 and $2,420 FY20.
 There is limited information available so there has been no further analysis to

determine the areas costing more for Washington Central costs than other Districts.

Please refer to the attached worksheet for more specific information. 

Berlin East Montpelier Calais 

Middlesex Worcester 

U- 32 

188



Washington Central UUSD Prepared By :  Lori T. Bibeau, WCUUSD Business Administrator

Comparable Information per AOE Documents
17‐Jun‐21

Budget FY 21 Budget FY 20

FY 21 to 

FY 20

FY 21 to 

FY 20

Districts

Education Spending Per 

Eq Pupil

WCUUSD 

Amount Above 

per EQ Pupil

Education 

Spending Per Eq 

Pupil % Change

Equalized 

Pupils

Equalized 

Pupils % Change

Washington Central UUSD $19,531 $18,657 4.68% 1441 1452 ‐0.76%

Hazen  UHSD $19,284 $247 $18,301 5.37% 312 330 ‐5.35%

Twinfield USD $18,591 $940 $18,261 1.81% 357 349 2.22%

Harwood USD $18,400 $1,131 $17,957 2.47% 1759 1808 ‐2.73%

Orange SW/Randolph $17,940 $1,591 $17,154 4.58% 893 873 2.29%

Lamoille North Mod USD A&B $17,602 $1,930 $16,623 5.89% 1469 1466 0.18%

Montpelier Roxbury USD $16,924 $2,607 $16,350 3.51% 1255 1241 1.13%

Lamoille South USD $16,310 $3,221 $15,491 5.29% 1636 1645 ‐0.52%

Echo Valley/Central VT $15,874 $3,657 $15,347 3.43% 289 289 0.00%

Barre $15,040 $4,491 $13,560 10.91% 2396 2411 ‐0.61%

State Wide Average $16,836 $16,237 3.69%

WCUUSD‐Rank 11 13

Cohort Number 114 119

189



Washington	Central	Unified	Union	School	District 

WCUUSD	exists	to	nurture	and	inspire	in	all	students	the	passion,	creativity	and	power	to	contribute	to	
their	local	and	global	communities.	

1130 Gallison Hill Road 
Montpelier, VT  05602  Bryan Olkowski 
Phone (802) 229-0553 Superintendent     
Fax (802) 229-2761 

TO:		 	WCUUSD	School	Board	
FROM:		Bryan	Olkowski,	Superintendent	

		Lori	T.	Bibeau,	WCUUSD	Business	Administrator	
RE:			 		Comparative	Information‐Special	Education	
DATE:			June	17,	2021	

Comparative	Financial	Information	for	Special	Education	

This year, the Finance Committee and School Board requested comparative Special 
Education information with other school districts. There is no current information readily 
available from the Agency of Education.  In December 2020, the School Board received 
Washington Central UUSD historical and budget information.  Since that time, there was an 
increase in the Special Education Budget FY 21-22 and there have been recent board 
actions to increase staff beyond budget for next year. 

There are two worksheets which show the latest Washington Central UUSD information as 
of the report printing.  Please note:  As these are still projections for Fiscal Year20-21, this 
information will need to be updated when the Fiscal Year is closed. 

The	first	worksheet	shows	the	Special	Education	Staffing	and	IEP	student	trends	by	
building.			

 This report includes:  Special Education Professional Staff, Speech Language
Pathologists, Paraeducators, Personal Care Attendants and Behavior 
Interventionists (both employees and contracted services).  

 Examples of the staffing NOT included in this report are: Pre-k special education
staffing, Pre-k Speech Language Pathologists, Support services like: Occupational 
Therapy, Psychological Services and Administration.   

 Using the information projected for FY 21-22 staffing included in this report who
provide direct services average one staff member for every 2.6 students.  

 There is a weighted caseload factor that calculates the weighted caseload per
professional staff at 26 students per Special Educator, with the unweighted caseload 
at 10 students per Special Educator. 

 Please note:  As there is no state-wide information, it is unknown how this compares
to other districts. 

Berlin East Montpelier Calais 

Middlesex Worcester 

U- 32 

190



The	second	worksheet	shows	the	Special	Education	Spending	Trends	from	fiscal	year	
19‐20	through	budget	fiscal	year	21‐22.			

 Washington Central UUSD Special Education spending trends show a 28% increase
in special education spending per IEP student over a two year period.

 This increase in spending per IEP student is attributed to both an increase in
spending along with, an 11% decline in IEP students.

Act	173	
 Several years ago, the legislature enacted Act 173 which will change the formula for

Special Education Reimbursements. As this will take effect with the next budget 
cycle, the Agency of Education is running calculations for the impacts for each 
District.   

 The key point to Act 173 is that reimbursements will use student count information
instead of being a reimbursement for actual spending.  As enrollment increases or 
decreases so will the Special Education funding. 

 As Washington Central continues to see a decline in enrollment, this would result in
less reimbursement.   

 Also, if positions are added or reduced, they will no longer see a 56%
reimbursement.  So for every dollar added to Special Education, it would cost the 
District 100% instead of the current 44%. 

 The District should have a program review to determine if services, staffing and
spending are in line with the student needs and the declining number of IEP 
students. 

191



WCUUSD Special Education Trends

As of June 17, 2021 Target 30‐35

Unweighted 

Caseload
Contracted

SPED Staff

IEPStudent 

to Staff

Berlin BI’s

FY22 Projected 35 107 36 12 3 1 3 1.3 3 3 14.3 2.4

FY22 Budget 35 107 36 12 3 1 4 1 3 3 15.0 2.3

FY21 Projected 33 104 35 11 3 1 4 0 2 3 13.0 2.5

FY21 Budget 35 88 29 12 3 1 5.8 0 1 5 15.8 2.2

FY20 Actual 36 87 29 12 3 1 5.55 0 2 6 17.6 2.1

Unweighted 

Caseload
Contracted

SPED Staff

IEPStudent 

to Staff

BI’s

FY22 Projected 10 28 28 10 1 0.4 2.9 0 0 1 5.3 1.9

FY22 Budget 10 28 28 10 1 0.4 1.9 0 0 1 4.3 2.3

FY21 Projected 11 36 36 11 1 0.4 1.9 0 0 1 4.3 2.6

FY21 Budget 11 31 21 7 1.5 0.3 2.9 0 1 3 8.7 1.3

FY20 Actual 15 44 29 10 1.5 0.3 2.5 0 1 3 8.3 1.8

Unweighted 

Caseload
Contracted

SPED Staff

IEPStudent 

to Staff

BI’s

FY22 Projected 34 93 31 11 3 1 3.37 1 7 0 15.4 2.2

FY22 Budget 34 93 31 11 3 1 4 1 7 0 16.0 2.1

FY21 Projected 32 93 31 11 3 0.6 4 0 4 0 11.6 2.8

FY21 Budget 32 83 28 11 3 0.6 3.1 0 4 0 10.7 3.0

FY20 Actual 33 81 27 11 3 0.8 4.7 0 4 0 12.5 2.6

EMES

# of 

students 

on IEPs

Total 

weight

Total 

average 

weight per 

caseload

FTE of 

special 

educato

rs

Calais

# of 

students 

on IEPs

Total 

weight

Total 

average 

weight per 

caseload

Total 

weight

Total 

average 

weight per 

caseload

# of 

students 

on IEPs

FTE of 

special 

educato

rs

SLP K‐12

FTE of 

special 

educato

rs

SLP K‐12 PCA BI

Paras PCA BI

Paras

PCA BISLP K‐12 Paras

192



Unweighted 

Caseload
Contracted

SPED Staff

IEPStudent 

to Staff

BI’s

FY22 Projected 22 70 35 11 2 0.8 2 0 2 1 7.8 2.8

FY22 Budget 22 70 35 11 2 0.8 2 0 2 1 7.8 2.8

FY21 Projected 25 80 27 8 3 0.8 4 0 1 1 9.8 2.6

FY21 Budget 32 88 29 11 3 0.8 3.9 0 1 1 9.7 3.3

FY20 Actual 35 95 32 12 3 0.8 3.9 0 1 2 10.7 3.3

Unweighted 

Caseload
Contracted

SPED Staff

IEPStudent 

to Staff

BI’s

FY22 Projected 5 20 20 5 1 0.3 2.62 0 1 0 4.9 1.0

FY22 Budget 5 20 20 5 1 0.2 1.76 0 1 0 4.0 1.3

FY21 Projected 7 26 26 7 1 0.2 2.76 0 1 0 5.0 1.4

FY21 Budget 8 28 28 8 1 0.2 2.5 0 0 1 4.7 1.7

FY20 Actual 12 38 27 9 1.4 0.2 2.7 0 0 2 6.3 1.9

Unweighted 

Caseload
Contracted

SPED Staff

IEPStudent 

to Staff

BI’s

FY22 Projected 123 303 23 9 13 1 12 1 3 9 39.0 3.2

FY22 Budget 123 303 23 9 13 1 12 1 3 9 39.0 3.2

FY21 Projected 121 287 22 9 13 1 9 1 2 9 35.0 3.5

FY21 Budget 126 319 25 10 13 1 9.5 1 4 13 41.5 3.0

FY20 Actual 125 278 25 11 11 1 8.5 2 2 14 38.5 3.2

Middlesex

# of 

students 

on IEPs

Total 

weight

Total 

average 

weight per 

caseload

FTE of 

special 

educato

rs

PCA

SLP K‐12 Paras

PCA BISLP K‐12 Paras

BISLP K‐12 Paras

PCA BI

U32

# of 

students 

on IEPs

Total 

weight

Total 

average 

weight per 

caseload

FTE of 

special 

educato

rs

Worcester

# of 

students 

on IEPs

Total 

weight

Total 

average 

weight per 

caseload

FTE of 

special 

educato

rs

193



Unweighted 

Caseload
Contracted

SPED Staff

IEPStudent 

to Staff

BI’s

FY22 Projected 229 621 27 10 23 4.5 25.89 3.3 16 14 86.7 2.6

FY22 Budget 229 621 27 10 23 4.4 25.66 3 16 14 86.1 2.7

FY21 Projected 229 626 26 10 24 4 25.66 1 10 14 78.7 2.9

FY21 Budget 244 637 26 10 24.5 3.9 27.7 1 11 23 91.1 2.7

FY20 Actual 256 623 27 11 22.9 4.1 27.85 2 10 27 93.9 2.7

PCA BISLP K‐12 ParasTotal for WCUUSD K‐12

# of 

students 

on IEPs 

Total 

weight

Total 

average 

weight per 

caseload

FTE of 

special 

educato

rs

194



Prepared by :  Lori T. Bibeau, WCUUSD Business Administrator

WCUUSD Special Education Program

Spending Trends Report

Budget 21‐22‐Final Budget 22‐Budget 21

17‐Jun‐21

Actual FY 19‐20 Budget FY 20‐21 Projected FY 20‐21 Budget FY 21‐22 Expense change Revenue Change Net Impact on Taxes

Total State Placed Student Costs $422,437 $534,868 $325,459 $373,790 ‐$161,078 ‐$161,078 $0

Total Extraordinary Student Costs over $60k $1,395,064 $1,602,182 $1,207,708 $1,559,252 ‐$42,930 ‐$40,784 ‐$2,147

Total SPED Program Costs Incl 504 $4,453,376 $5,097,402 $4,669,660 $5,252,312 $154,911 $67,633 $87,278

Total Administration Costs $381,752 $363,566 $410,949 $411,831 $48,265 $27,028 $21,237

Total Special Education Costs $6,652,628 $7,598,017 $6,613,776 $7,597,185 ‐$832 ‐$107,200 $106,368

Students on IEP's 256 244 229 229

Percentage Change of Students on IEP's ‐5% ‐6% 0%

Cumulative % Change in Students on IEP's ‐11%

Average Cost Per Pupil $25,987 $31,139 $28,881 $33,175

Incremental Increase per pupil $5,153 ‐$2,258 $4,294

% Increase Per Pupil  20% ‐7% 15%

% Increase Per Pupil FY 20 to FY 22(2 Year) 28%

Increase per pupil Budget 22 to Budget 21 $2,036

Percentage Increase Per Pupil  Budget 22 to Budget 21 6.54%

Special Education Student % to All Students 16.3% 16.4% 15.4% 15.8%

Special Education Costs % to Total Budget 20.3% 21.4% 20.1% 21.7%

Total State Placed Student Costs 13 11 11 8

Total Extraordinary Student Costs over $60k 15 16 13 15

Subtotal 28 27 24 23

Total SPED Program Costs Incl 504 228 217 205 206

Total Students on IEP's 256 244 229 229

195



 
 
Recommended 
                                    
WASHINGTON CENTRAL UNIFIED POLICY:          F44  
UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT  
 WARNED:        5.14.21  
Board of Directors’ Policy 
 ADOPTED:      
PASSWORD MANAGEMENT  
 EFFECTIVE:    
 
 
 
Overview 
Strong and consistent management of user IDs and passwords enables the WCUUSD to authenticate 
individual users, trace actions to users, and fully utilize the secure features of the network and system 
infrastructure of the organization and to protect sensitive information to the fullest extent practical. 
All employees and personnel that manage or have access to systems and networks must adhere to the 
password policies defined below in order to protect the security of sensitive information and data. 
 
Purpose 
This policy applies to any and all personnel who have any form of user or administrator account 
requiring a password on any network, system, or system component. 
 
Scope 
The scope of this policy includes all personnel who have or are responsible for an account (or any form 
of access that supports or requires a password) on any system that resides at any WCUUSD facility, 
has access to the WCUUSD network, or stores any non-public WCUUSD information. 
 
User ID & Password 

 
User-IDs and Passwords: WCUUSD requires that each service user accessing multi-user 
information systems have a unique user-ID and a private password. The unique user-ID and in some 
cases, the initial password will be issued by WCUUSD Information Technology Department. All 
issued passwords must be changed at first login and is enforced through group policy. These user-
IDs must then be employed to restrict system privileges based on job duties, project responsibilities, 
and other business activities. Each service user is personally responsible for the usage of his or her 
user-ID and password. All activity logged under a user account is the responsibility of the user who 
owns the account. 
 
Role Accounts/Anonymous User-IDs: With the exception of electronic bulletin boards, Internet 
web sites, and other systems where all regular users are intended to be anonymous, users are 
prohibited from logging into any WCUUSD system or network anonymously. Anonymous access 
might, for example, involve use of "guest" user-IDs. When users employ system commands that 
allow them to change active user-IDs to gain certain privileges, they must have initially logged-in 
employing user-IDs that clearly indicated their identities. This might, for example, take place on 
UNIX systems with the SU command. Demonstration software and/or demonstration systems for 
customers are exempt in that a customer may access the system anonymously; however, all 

196



administrative tasks performed by WCUUSD employees, representatives, contractors, or otherwise 
must not be anonymous. 

 
Difficult-to-Guess Passwords: To ensure that password systems do the job they were intended to 
do; users must choose passwords that are difficult-to-guess. This means that passwords must NOT 
be related to one's job or personal life. For example, a car license plate number, a spouse's name, or 
fragments of an address must not be used. This also means passwords must not be a word found in 
the dictionary or some other part of speech. For example, proper names, places, technical terms, and 
slang must not be used. The password “WCUUSD” must never be used (regardless of upper or 
lower case) on network (public or private) connected systems, even for demonstration accounts or 
public access. The password length must be a minimum of eight alphanumeric characters with the 
maximum number of characters being system dependent.  Creating passwords that are at least 15 
characters or more can ensure a more secure environment.  If words are used in your password, 
ensure that you are using non-compound words. 

 
Random Characters Must Be Used: At least one special character and one numeric character 
should be used to increase the difficulty in guessing passwords. An example would be the numeric 
character ‘3’ in place of the letter ‘E’. Special and Numeric characters include numbers, punctuation 
marks, and delimiting characters such as the “@” symbol. 

 
Passwords Change Frequency: Passwords should only be changed when there is a reason to 
believe that a password has been compromised.  Changes should occur every year for privileged 
accounts. This must be enforced by software controls on multi-user systems and within the Active 
Directory domain. Additionally, passwords must not be re-used. All multi-user systems, which have 
the capability to prevent the re-use of passwords, will not allow a user to enter a password that has 
been recently used, within 5 uses. Additionally, software controls may be employed that prevent the 
repeated changing of passwords to facilitate the minimum number of changes within a short period 
of time. 

 
Password Storage: Passwords must not be stored in readable form in batch files, automatic log-in 
scripts, software macros, terminal function keys, in computers without access control systems, or in 
other locations where unauthorized persons might discover them. Similarly, passwords must not be 
written down in some readily decipherable form and left in a place where unauthorized persons 
might discover them. 

 
Sharing Passwords: If users need to share computer-resident data, they should use electronic mail, 
group-ware databases, public directories on local area network servers, and other similar 
mechanisms. Although user-IDs are shared for electronic mail and other purposes, passwords must 
never be shared with or revealed to others. Users should not disclose passwords to administrative 
staff or to managers, even when requested to do so – the password for a user account is not required 
for administrative purposes and any request for your password should be viewed as suspicious. The 
exception to this is the `Administrator’ or `root’ password, which is shared by users who require 
special access. Sharing a password (or any other access mechanism such as a dynamic password 
token) exposes the authorized user to responsibility for actions that the other party takes using the 
disclosed password. If a service user believes that someone else is using his or her user-ID and 
password, the service user must immediately notify the administrator for the information system in 
question. If a password is discovered written down in an easily accessible location (for example on a 
whiteboard, or written on a sticky note attached to the bottom of a keyboard) the account will be 
treated as if it had been disclosed and will be disabled. 

197



 
Multi-Factor Authentication 
The implementation of Multi-factor authentication is highly encouraged whenever applicable not 
only for work accounts but for personal accounts too. 
 
Privileged User-IDS and Passwords: Certain privileged accesses on production systems require 
the use of the administrative or Super-User (root) accounts. Knowledge and use of such user-IDS 
shall be restricted to a need-to-know basis. All users granted such access shall have their names 
added to the authorized administrative user list and shall be removed when access is no longer 
required. If a privileged user-ID/password has been determined to be compromised, then the scope 
of the compromise must be assessed and all passwords relating to the compromised system must be 
changed as appropriate. 

 

Password Policy Conformance Auditing: From time to time the Information Technology 
Department or the Security Team may audit the multi-user computer systems for password policy 
conformance. If a password is not long enough (16+ characters) or does not contain enough special 
characters or is based on a dictionary word and is easily guessed, the account related to the weak 
password will be required to choose a more secure password. Audits may also include checking the 
vicinity of one’s workspace for passwords that have been written down (sticky note on keyboard) 
but will not include a search of personal effects or within desk drawers. 

 
Password Account Blocking: After six consecutive login failures an account will be blocked from 
further access for a minimum of 30 minutes (not including Network Infrastructure). If a user has had 
an account disabled in such a manner, they must contact the Information Technology Helpdesk 
following the IT Support Request Process to have the account re-enabled if it is necessary for the 
account to be accessible within the lockout time frame. 

 
Violations of Password Policy: In the event that a password has been disclosed, either by accident 
or by the negligence of a user, the account in question must be disabled. In order for a service user 
to regain access to computing resources, an internal ticket request must be submitted by the user’s 
manager before the account may be re-enabled for their use. Repeated violations or disclosure of 
access control information to an outside party will result in disciplinary action up to and including 
termination of employment. If your account has been disabled or you suspect that it has been 
disclosed, please immediately contact the Help Desk (ithelp@u32.org) 

 
 

198



Required 

WASHINGTON CENTRAL UNIFIED POLICY:          B8 
UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT 

WARNED:        5.14.21 
Board of Directors’ Policy 

ADOPTED: 
ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION BETWEEN
EMPLOYEES AND STUDENTS EFFECTIVE: 

I. Statement of Policy 
The Washington Central Unified Union School District (WCUUSD) recognizes electronic 
communications, and the use of social media outlets create new options for extending and 
enhancing the educational program of the school district.  Electronic communications and the 
use of social media can help students and employees communicate regarding: questions during 
non-school hours regarding homework or other assignments; scheduling issues for school-
related co-curricular and interscholastic athletic activities; school work to be completed during 
a student’s extended absence; distance learning opportunities; and other professional 
communications that can enhance teaching and learning opportunities between employees and 
students.  However, the WCUUSD recognizes employees and students can be vulnerable in 
electronic communications.  

In accordance with Act 5 of 2018 this model policy is adopted to provide guidance and 
direction to WCUUSD employees to prevent improper electronic communications between 
employees and students.   

II. Definitions. For purposes of this policy, the following definitions apply:

A. Electronic communication. Electronic communication is any computer-mediated
communication in which individuals exchange messages with others, either individually or 
in groups. Examples of electronic communication include, but are not limited to, email, text 
messages, instant messaging, voicemail, and image sharing and communications made by 
means of an internet site, including social media and social networking websites. 

B. Social media. Social media is any form of online publication or presence that allows 
interactive communication, including, but not limited to, social networks, blogs, websites 
and internet forums. Examples of social media include, but are not limited to, Facebook, 
Twitter, Instagram, YouTube, and Google+. 

C. Employee. Employee includes any person employed directly by or retained through a 
contract of employment the district, an agent of the school, a school board member, and 
including supervisory union employees. 

D. Student. Student means any person who attends school in any of the grades 
Prekindergarten through 12 operated by the district. 

III. Policy on Electronic Communication Between Students and Employees.

199



All communication between employees and students shall be professional and appropriate. The 
use of electronic communication that is inappropriate in content is prohibited.  

 
A.  Inappropriate content of an electronic communication. Inappropriate content of an 

electronic communication between an Employee and a Student includes, but is not limited 
to: 
1. Communications of a sexual nature, sexual oriented humor or language, sexual 

advances, or content with a sexual overtone; 
2. Communications involving the use, encouraging the use, or promoting or advocating 

the use of alcohol or tobacco, the illegal use of prescription drugs or controlled 
dangerous substances, illegal gambling, or other illegal activities; 

3. Communications regarding the employees’ or student’s past or current romantic 
relationships; 

4. Communications which include the use of profanities, obscene language, lewd 
comments, or pornography; 

5. Communications that are harassing, intimidating, or demeaning; 
6. Communications requesting or trying to establish a personal relationship with a student 

beyond the employees’ professional responsibilities; 
7. Communications related to personal or confidential information regarding employee or 

student that isn’t academically focused; and 
8. Communications between an employee and a student between the hours of 10 p.m. and 

6 a.m. An Employee may, however, make public posts to a social network site, blog or 
similar application at any time. 

B.  Procedures. The superintendent shall develop procedures for both the receipt and handling 
of reports filed under this policy (see IV.A. and B. below). 

IV.  Enforcement Responsibilities  

A. Student communications violation of this policy. In the event a student sends an electronic 
communication, that is inappropriate as defined in this policy or that violates the procedures 
governing inappropriate forms of electronic communication to an employee, the employee 
shall submit a written report of the inappropriate communication (“Report”) to the principal 
or designee by the end of the next school day following actual receipt by the Employee of 
such communication. The principal or designee will take appropriate action to have the 
student discontinue such improper electronic communications.   
 
While the school district will seek to use such improper electronic communications by a 
student as a teaching and learning opportunity, student communications violation of this 
policy may subject a student to discipline. Any discipline imposed shall take into account the 
relevant surrounding facts and circumstances.  

B. Employee communications violation of this policy. In the event an employee sends an 
electronic communication that is inappropriate as defined in this policy or that violates the 
procedures governing inappropriate forms of electronic communication to a student, the 
student shall or the student’s parent or guardian may submit a written report of the 
inappropriate communication (“Report”) to the principal and/or the person designated by the 
principal to receive complaints under this policy promptly. The report shall specify what type 

200



of inappropriate communication was sent by the employee with a copy of the communication, 
if possible.  
 
Inappropriate electronic communications by an employee may result in appropriate 
disciplinary action. 

C. Applicability. The provisions of this policy shall be applicable at all times while the 
employee is employed by the district and at all times the student is enrolled in the school 
district, including holiday and summer breaks. An employee is not subject to these provisions 
to the extent the employee has a family relationship with a student (i.e. parent/child, nieces, 
nephews, grandchildren, etc.).   

 
D. Other district policies. Improper electronic communications that may also constitute 

violations of other policies of the district, i.e. unwelcome sexual conduct may also constitute 
a violation of the school’s separate policy on the Prevention of Harassment, Hazing and 
Bullying of Students.  Complaints regarding such behavior should be directed as set forth in 
the school’s Procedures on the Prevention of Harassment, Hazing and Bullying of Students.  

 
V.  Reporting to Other Agencies 

A. Reports to Department of Children and Families [DCF].  When behaviors violative of this 
policy include allegations of child abuse, any person responsible for reporting suspected child 
abuse under 33 V.S.A. §4911, et seq., must report the allegations to the Commissioner of 
DCF.  If the victim is over the age of 18 and a report of abuse is warranted, the report shall be 
made to Adult Protective Services in accordance with 33 V.S.A. §6901 et seq. 

 
B. Reports to Vermont Agency of Education [AOE]. Accordingly, if behaviors violative of 

this policy in a public school involve conduct by a licensed educator that might be grounds 
under Vermont law for licensing action, the principal shall report the alleged conduct to the 
superintendent and the superintendent shall report the alleged conduct to the AOE.  

 
C. Reporting Incidents to the Police. Nothing in this policy shall preclude persons from 

reporting to law enforcement any incidents and/or conduct that may be a criminal act. 
  

 
D. Continuing Obligation to Investigate.  Reports made to either DCF or law enforcement 

shall not be considered to absolve the school administrators of their obligations under this or 
any other policy, such as the Policy on the Prevention of Harassment, Hazing and Bullying, 
to pursue and complete an investigation upon receipt of notice of conduct which may 
constitute a policy violation. 

 
 

Legal Reference(s): 2018 Acts and Resolves No. 5 (located at 
https://legislature.vermont.gov/Documents/2018.1/Docs/ACTS/ACT005/ACT005%20As%20Enacted.pdf) 

 16 V.S.A. § 1698 
 16 V.S.A. § 570  
 

201

https://legislature.vermont.gov/Documents/2018.1/Docs/ACTS/ACT005/ACT005%20As%20Enacted.pdf


/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/F49 Acceptable Use.doc
Page 1 

Recommended 

WASHINGTON CENTRAL UNIFIED POLICY:      D40 
UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT 

WARNED: 
Board of Directors’ Policy 

ADOPTED: 
ACCEPTABLE USE POLICY 

EFFECTIVE: 

Overview 
WCUUSD’s intentions for publishing an Acceptable Use Policy are not to impose restrictions that are 
contrary to WCUUSD’s established culture of openness, trust and integrity. IT is committed to 
protecting WCUUSD's employees, partners and the company from illegal or damaging actions by 
individuals, either knowingly or unknowingly. 

The question of Internet safety includes issues regarding the use of the Internet, Internet-capable 
computing devices, and other electronic devices in a manner that promotes safe online activity for 
children, protects children from cybercrimes, including crimes by online predators and cyberbullying, 
and helps parents shield their children from materials that are inappropriate for minors. To promote the 
safe and appropriate online behavior of students and staff as they access material from the Internet, the 
district will use the following four-part approach. However, given the ever-changing nature of the 
Internet, the district cannot guarantee that a student will never be able to access objectionable material. 

Internet/Intranet/Extranet-related systems, including but not limited to computer equipment, software, 
operating systems, storage media, network accounts providing electronic mail, WWW browsing, and 
FTP, are the property of WCUUSD.  These systems are to be used for business purposes in serving the 
interests of the company, and of our clients and customers in the course of normal operations. Please 
review Human Resources policies for further details. 

Effective security is a team effort involving the participation and support of every WCUUSD 
employee and affiliate who deals with information and/or information systems. It is the responsibility 
of every computer user to know these guidelines, and to conduct their activities accordingly. 

It is the responsibility of every computer user to know these guidelines, and to conduct their 
activities accordingly. 

Purpose 
This policy applies to employees, contractors, consultants, temporary and other workers, including all 
personnel affiliated with third parties. This policy applies to all equipment that is owned and/or leased 
by WCUUSD. 

202



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/F49 Acceptable Use.doc
Page 2 

Scope 
This policy applies to the use of information, electronic and computing devices, and network resources 
to conduct WCUUSD business or interact with internal networks and business systems, whether owned 
or leased by WCUUSD, the employee, or a third party. All employees, contractors, consultants, 
temporary, and other workers at WCUUSD and its subsidiaries are responsible for exercising good 
judgment regarding appropriate use of information, electronic devices, and network resources in 
accordance with WCUUSD policies and standards, and local laws and regulation. This policy applies 
to employees, contractors, consultants, temporaries, and other workers at WCUUSD, including all 
personnel affiliated with third parties. This policy applies to all equipment that is owned or leased by 
WCUUSD.  

Right to Search, Examine and Monitor – No Expectation of Privacy 
All devices that connect to the WCUUSD network are discoverable.  To ensure compliance with 
WCUUSD internal policies as well as applicable laws and regulations, and to ensure service user 
safety, WCUUSD administration reserves the right to monitor, inspect, and/or search at any time all 
WCUUSD information systems. This examination may take place with or without the consent, 
presence, or knowledge of the involved service users. The information systems subject to such 
examination include, but are not limited to, electronic mail system files, personal computer hard drive 
files, voicemail files, printer spool files, fax machine output, desk drawers, and storage areas. All 
searches of this nature will be conducted after the approval of the Legal and Human Resources 
Departments. 

All district-owned and personally owned Internet-capable devices in all district facilities accessing 
the Internet through district network resources will be filtered and monitored (and could be 
discoverable) to prevent access to obscene, racist, hateful, violent, or other objectionable material as 
specified in the FCC Children’s Internet Protection Act or district policies. 

Since WCUUSD's computers and networks are provided for business and educational purposes only, 
service users should have no expectation of privacy associated with the information they store in or 
send through these information systems. WCUUSD administration additionally retains the right to 
remove from its information systems any material it views as offensive or potentially illegal. 
WCUUSD reserves the right to turn over potentially illegal material to law enforcement for civil and 
or criminal prosecution. 

Internet Access / Acceptable Use for Personal Activity 

Service users are generally provided with Internet access to perform their job duties, but this access 
may be terminated at any time at the discretion of a service user's supervisor. Service users must take 

203



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/F49 Acceptable Use.doc
Page 3 

special care to ensure that they do not represent WCUUSD in an official capacity on Internet 
discussion groups and in other public forums, unless they have previously received administration 
authorization to act in this capacity. All information received from the Internet should be considered 
to be suspect until confirmed by reliable sources; there is a great deal of inaccurate and deliberately 
misleading information available on the Internet. Separately, service users must not place WCUUSD 
material (software, internal memos, press releases, databases, etc.) on any publicly accessible 
computer system such as the Internet, unless both the information Owner and the Information 
Technology Department have first approved the posting. On a related note, sensitive information 
must not be sent across the Internet unless it is in encrypted form.

Supervision 
When students and staff access the Internet from any district facility, district staff will make a 
reasonable effort to supervise student access and use of the Internet. If material is accessed that 
violates district policies, procedures and/or the network use agreement, then district staff may instruct 
the person to cease using that material and/or implement sanctions contained in district policies, 
procedures and/or the network use agreement. 

Unbecoming Conduct 
Prohibited Activities: Users must not test or attempt to compromise computer or communication 
system security measures unless specifically approved in advance and in writing by the WCUUSD IT 
Team or is specifically a part of their job duties. Incidents involving unapproved system cracking 
(hacking), password cracking (guessing), file decryption, bootleg software copying, or similar 
unauthorized attempts to compromise security measures may be unlawful and will be considered 
serious violations of WCUUSD internal policy. Likewise, short-cuts bypassing systems security 
measures, as well as pranks and practical jokes involving the compromise of systems security 
measures are absolutely prohibited. 

Harassing or Offensive Materials: WCUUSD computer and communications systems are not 
intended to be used for and must not be used for the exercise of the service users' right to free speech. 
Sexual, ethnic, and racial harassment --including unwanted telephone calls, electronic mail, and 
internal mail -- is strictly prohibited and may be cause for disciplinary action. Service users are 
encouraged to promptly report as such communications to their supervisor  and the Human Resources 
Department. WCUUSD retains the right to remove from its information systems any material it views 
as offensive or potentially illegal. 

Appropriate Behavior: To avoid legal problems, whenever any affiliation with WCUUSD is 
included with an Internet message or posting, "flaming" or similar written attacks are strictly 
prohibited. Likewise, service users must not make threats against another user or organization over 
the Internet. All Internet messages intended to harass, annoy, or alarm another person are similarly 
prohibited. 

204



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/F49 Acceptable Use.doc                                                                                                 
Page 4 
 

Business Activities not Related to WCUUSD: It will be a violation of policy for any user to conduct 
business other than that of Washington Central Unified Union School District on WCUUSD 
Information Systems.  
 

205



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/F40 Change Management.doc
Page 1 

Recommend 

WASHINGTON CENTRAL UNIFIED POLICY:      F40 
UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT 

WARNED: 
Board of Directors’ Policy 

ADOPTED: 
CHANGE MANAGEMENT 

EFFECTIVE: 

Overview 
The objective of change management in this context is to ensure that standardized methods and 
procedures are used for efficient and prompt handling of all changes to control IT infrastructure, in 
order to minimize the number and impact of any related incidents upon service. 

Purpose 

To control all changes to equipment, software or procedures will be established and followed for 
change, integrating operational and application change control procedures, and logging all changes. 

Change Advisory Board (CAB) 
A CAB is a group of people who run formal CAB meetings to assess, prioritize, authorize, 
and schedule changes as part of the change control process.  

There are two components of a best practice CAB: 1) The right people and 2) An effective CAB 
meeting structure.  

The CAB should include at least one representative from all groups affected by the changes on the 
agenda (including non-IT groups and student(s) if applicable) and can include managers or non-
managers, such as a network engineer or teacher or administrator. It is likely to include groups from 
functional and technical disciplines such as the IT Helpdesk, application support, server support, 
etc. An affected manager of a change (or team leader) who was invited but cannot attend a meeting 
may designate an alternate to attend in their place.  Please ask the CAB owner (chairperson) for 
guidance as needed on this item (or any item in this policy document). 

The CAB owner acts as a chairperson and should be a CAB member. This person is typically 
a change manager or on the change management team. 

The responsibilities of the CAB members include the following: 
- Review changes prior to the meeting.  
- Assess and recommend the approval or rejection of proposed changes in a timely manner. If a 

CAB member doesn’t approve a change, make sure they explain why.  
- Attend scheduled CAB meeting(s) or send a qualified representative.  
- Act as a liaison between the CAB and its team regarding change management policies, 

procedures, questions, or enhancements. 

5.14.21

206



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/F40 Change Management.doc
Page 2 

The responsibilities of the CAB owner include the following: 
- Develop the vision and strategy for CAB meetings.  
- Lead CAB meetings and make sure the required representatives attend (representatives from all 

groups affected by changes).  
- Define and communicate the CAB members’ roles and responsibilities.  
- Document and communicate the CAB meeting agenda before CAB meetings and decisions 

after the meeting. 

Regular CAB meetings should take place at least monthly; however, a weekly or biweekly schedule 
is recommended.   

All teams affected by a change should be represented in the CAB meeting.  

The CAB Meeting Agenda should include the following: 
- All high-risk changes and changes marked as required by the 
CAB - A review of all failed and backed out changes 
- Change management process updates 
- Reviews for each change that include:  

§ A risk/impact assessment (on the district)
§ The effects on the infrastructure and customer service as defined in the Service Level

Agreement (SLA) as well as on capacity and performance, reliability 
and resilience, contingency plans, and security 

§ The impact on other services that run on the same infrastructure (or on software that is
in the cloud) 

§ A resource assessment, including the IT, district, and other resources required to
implement and validate the change 

§ The effect, risk, and/or impact of not implementing the change
§ Other changes being implemented on the schedule of change
§ Technical capability and technical approval required

A change that goes into production can impact many teams, including central office, parents, 
administrators, students, IT, and other groups. If you don’t consider all technical impacts of a 
change, there is a higher risk of a system outage or malfunction. This makes an effective CAB 
essential because it provides awareness of the changes for impacted teams and makes sure all 
technical aspects of a change are considered. 

Types of Significant Change 
There are three types of significant change that should be considered: 

Standard Change – Standard Change is a consistent or routine change that takes place on a regular 
interval (weekly, monthly, quarterly, yearly) that should be formally reviewed and approved before 
being implemented. These changes have fairly common steps and guidelines and are generally low 
risk to the environment and seldomly require modification. 

207



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/F40 Change Management.doc
Page 3 

Once approved, this change does not need to go back to a change advisory board (CAB) 
or administration team for regular approval.  
However, the schedule for change must be published and communicated on a regular basis.  
Additionally, if a standard change causes an issue or outage, it must be brought back to the CAB for 
review and discussion. 
Examples of Standard Change: 

- Lifecycle replacement of hardware 
- Routine Software Patching and Updates 
- Firewall Changes not requiring a service outage 
- DNS entries 

Normal Change – Normal Change is a change that may be common, but may also be unique in its 
construct.  A normal change should be reviewed (and approved/scheduled or denied) by the CAB or 
administration as it may contain risk to the environment such as system downtime, data loss, 
security risk, enumeration or dissemination of PII, PHI, or other types of information.   

Examples of Normal Change: 
- Storage or Virtualization Platform replacement 
- Application upgrade that impacts functionality or the data model of a 

system 
- Telephone system enhancement or upgrade work that may cause an outage 

Emergency Change – Emergency Change is a Normal Change that must be introduced and 
implemented as soon as possible, even before the CAB or administration team needs to approve or 
deny the change.  The CAB owner will quickly determine if emergency change is warranted for a 
particular circumstance.  These changes typically represent a crisis or opportunity that must be 
addressed without undue risk to the district.  While the change may need to be implemented before a 
CAB meeting, the change MUST still go through the CAB or administration team AFTER 
implementation so they can review the efficacy of the change and the emergency nature of it and 
provide their approval or dissent to the change.  YOU MAY NOT SKIP THIS PART OF THE 
PROCESS. 

Examples of Emergency Change: 
- Implementing a security patch to a zero-day exploit 
- Isolating the network from a large-scale Distributed Denial of Service 

(DDOS) Attack 

Change Management Requirements 
There shall be a formal approval for proposed changes that could potentially impact the operational 
environment. Prior to any operational change there shall be a risk assessment that: 

● Identifies significant changes.
● Records significant changes.
● Assesses the potential impact of such changes.

208



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/F40 Change Management.doc
Page 4 

● Procedures and responsibilities for aborting and recovering from unsuccessful changes
● All changes shall be reviewed in advance and requires the written approval of the or

designee.
● All changes shall be communicated to all relevant individuals.

Change Policies Computers/Workstations 
There shall be a formal approval for proposed Local Administrator Access: WCUUSD service 
users will not have the right to change the local administrator passwords on WCUUSD provided 
desktop computers. Service Users may request access to the local administrators group from the 
Information Technology Department, however, this will void the computer and the service user 
from being supported by the Information Technology Department. Systems that have been 
modified and require the assistance of the Information Technology Department will be re-loaded 
with the original software configuration that the Information Technology Department supplies to 
service users when issued a new system. 

Configuration Changes: The standard network and systems configuration on WCUUSD 
laptops is configured so that in most cases the computer can be transferred from network to 
network without substantial configuration changes.  

Changes to Hardware: Computer equipment supplied by WCUUSD must not be altered or 
added to in any way (e.g., upgraded processor, expanded memory, or extra   circuit boards) 
without prior knowledge and authorization from the Information Technology Department. 

Changes NOT Related: Any changes that are not related to the changes listed above must 
adhere to and comply with the District Change Management Policy. 

209



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/F43 Backups.doc  Page 1 

Recommended 

WASHINGTON CENTRAL UNIFIED POLICY:      F43 
UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT 

WARNED: 
Board of Directors’ Policy 

ADOPTED: 
BACKUPS 

EFFECTIVE: 

Individual User Responsibility: WCUUSD users must ensure that information that represents any 
part of a plan, system design, or that relates to the management of accounts are adequately protected 
from loss. District file servers and information stored in Google GSuite in the cloud are frequently 
backed up and archived; this is the suggested method for ensuring that information loss is 
prevented. If a user is unable to ensure adequate loss protection, they should contact the WCUUSD 
Information Technology Helpdesk (ithelp@u32.org) for assistance in resolution of this problem. 

Not Responsible for Backups of District or Personal Data stored locally on devices: WCUUSD 
information systems are for official district use. Personal, non-school or work-related data should 
not be stored on district systems. WCUUSD will not backup user’s district, school or personal data 
files or programs that are not stored on WCUUSD servers (or in the Google G-Suite environment) 
or have no relevance to WCUUSD business. Employees, Staff members, students, etc. who store 
personal, non-school or work-related data on their school devices do so at their own risk and 
expense.  Examples include but are not limited to encoded music files, digital images personal 
pictures and games. The Information Technology Department may remove such items from 
WCUUSD systems at their discretion without prior warning to individuals. 

General Storage Rules 
• Maintain records in an appropriate storage form (i.e., Storage area network, network

attached storage, paper, magnetic tape, microfilm, flash drive, optical disk) for the
recommended length of time indicated by this policy.

• All records being prepared for storage should be described and include the following
information on a label in order to facilitate their reference, review, and destruction:

o The inclusive dates
o Originating department name
o Type of media
o Date of destruction
o Contact name and telephone number.

• Ensure the appropriate forms of records are complete and copies of such records can be
reproduced in a complete and readable form upon request.

• Store all records in a manner that permits the efficient retrieval of stored records and the
efficient return of records borrowed from storage.

5.14.21

210



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/F43 Backups.doc  Page 2 

• Restrict access to stored records to those individuals who have an appropriate need and
permission to retrieve the records.

• Ensure all records are stored in a climate-controlled location with protection from hazards
(i.e., theft, water, fire).

• Confirm that records copied onto an alternative storage medium (storage area network,
network attached storage, microfiche, diskette, tape) are complete and readable before the
original paper record is destroyed. All records stored in an alternate format must be
available for reading and/or duplicating within a reasonable timeframe. Once records have
been transferred, the original version can be destroyed according to this policy.

• Protect computerized data with password, code or card system.
• The Uniform Preservation of Business Records Act requires retention of general business

records for three years from the creation of such records if no retention period is specified
by regulation.

• Credit card transaction data should be stored only as long as required for financial tracking
and auditing purposes. The specific credit card holder information such as the account
number, expiration date, or other magnetic stripe information should never be stored in
electronic format unless specific approval is received from the IT Department and the
WCUUSD Policy Committee.

211



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/D3 District Take Home Device.doc
Page 1 

Required 

WASHINGTON CENTRAL UNIFIED POLICY:      D3  
UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT 

WARNED: 
Board of Directors’ Policy 

ADOPTED: 
DISTRICT TAKE HOME DEVICE & 
PERSONAL DEVICE POLICY EFFECTIVE: 

Overview 
The mission of the District Take Home Device & Personal Device Policy in WCUUSD is to create a 
collaborative learning environment for all learners.  This environment will support students and 
teachers in the use of technology to enhance student learning and engagement in the classroom. It will 
create equity and level the playing field for all learners by providing every student with a device to use 
both in school and at home.   

In 2019 the District expanded the use of Chromebooks and the ability for students to take home the 
devices to support their schoolwork. Students at all WCUUSD schools will have the opportunity to 
check out a district-owned Chromebook (Grades 3-12) or Tablets (Grades PreK-2) for the school year.  
This device will allow filtered access via the district network to educational resources and materials 
needed for students to be successful. It will also allow all student access to G Suite for Education, 
online textbooks, educational web-based tools, and many other useful websites. 

Education and Access 
G Suite for Education is a closed system whereby only students and staff have access. It includes 
applications that enable students to: 

• Create projects
• Collaborate with their classmates
• Send emails to students and teachers
• Submit assignments

As a G Suite for Education District, we are able to monitor student Chromebook activity through web-
based management tools. 

Before each Chromebook device connects to the Internet, it must pass through district network 
firewalls and filters. This happens whether the device is browsing at school or home using another 
WiFi router that is providing the Internet connection. We are currently using Content Keeper for 
Chromebook and other background tools. 

Daily Care and Maintenance 
Students are responsible for the general care of the Chromebook they have been issued by the school. 
Chromebooks that are broken, or fail to work properly, must be submitted to administrators in 
the schools who will provide it to the IT department. Do not take District owned Chromebooks 
to an 

5.14.21

212



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/D3 District Take Home Device.doc
Page 2 

outside computer service for any type of repairs or maintenance. Do not attempt to repair the device 
yourself.  We understand accidents happen.  Report them immediately so that the district can fix the 
device. 

• Students are responsible for bringing fully charged Chromebooks for use each school day.
• Chromebooks must have a District asset tag on them at all times and this tag must not be

removed or altered in any way. If removed there may be disciplinary action.
• No food or drink is allowed next to your Chromebook while it is in use.
• Cords, cables, and removable storage devices must be inserted carefully into the Chromebook.

Plug-in connectors are fragile and must be handled with care.
• Never transport your Chromebook with the power cord plugged in. Never store your

Chromebook in your carry case or backpack while plugged in.
• Clean the screen with a soft, dry microfiber cloth or anti-static cloth. No liquids.
• Student should never leave a Chromebook unattended, such as in a vehicle or any unsupervised

area.
• Transport Chromebooks with care, Chromebook lids should always be closed and tightly

secured when moving.
• Never move a Chromebook by lifting from the screen. Always support a Chromebook from its

base with the lid closed and open or close it using two hands.

Chromebook screens can be easily damaged! The screens are particularly sensitive to damage 
from excessive pressure on the screen. 

• Do not store the Chromebook with the screen in the open position or tablet mode.
• Do not place anything on the Chromebook that could put pressure on the top or screen.
• Do not poke the screen with anything that may mark or scratch the screen surface.
• Do not place anything on the keyboard before closing the lid (e.g., pens or pencils)
• Do not place the device near magnets or anything with high electric current.
• Do not place anything in the sleeve or backpack that may press against the cover.

Digital Citizenship and Internet Safety 
WCCUSD asks that all computing equipment is used for educational purposes or to support those 
employees who provide educational services.  We expect device holders to use electronic resources 
safely and responsibly.  We ask that students engage a trusted adult if you are unsure about something 
related to the use of your computer or electronic resources. We ask that you do not share your account 
information or the account information of others.  Never post or share pictures of yourself or others 
unless you have school permission. Please tell a trusted adult if you come across something that is 
dangerous or disturbing. All school rules for how you behave and how you treat others apply for in-
person and for electronic communications.  

Security, Filtering, and Monitoring 
The school district is required by law to provide certain levels of filtering and monitoring of the use of 
all district owned technology and electronic resources. All students are expected to support these 
efforts to provide a safe and legal electronic learning environment. It is expected that parents/guardians 
will monitor the student’s use of the Internet at home so that the district-owned device is not used to 
access illegal or inappropriate websites or download any material from those sites. Please be aware of 
these cautions.  

• Do not use district equipment or electronic resources for commercial or personal gain.
• Do not use district resources and email addresses for political purposes, like trying to influence

elections.

213



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/D3 District Take Home Device.doc
Page 3 

• Do not use district resources for anything illegal or indecent such as bullying, posting
inappropriate images or text, or passing along information that is harmful or inappropriate.

• Do not participate in any activity to alter, bypass or attempt to bypass the school district
network, security settings, filters, safety settings, or user roles.

• Do not install or download personal software or applications (apps), games, or operating
systems.

Lost or Damaged Equipment 
Students and parents are responsible for district-owned technology that is issued to them, just as they 
are for other district-owned items such as textbooks, athletic equipment, or library books. The district 
will repair or replace the device, but students and parents may be responsible for the cost of those 
repairs or replaced devices. Please remind your student to report a missing Chromebook to the library 
staff or classroom teacher (in-person or via email) as soon as it’s misplaced. We can help them locate. 
After 24 hours we will disable the device.  

The WCUUSD Transportation Staff have been asked to return any found devices to the U-32 
Technology Office. 

Submit Chromebooks that need repair, with the sleeve and power cord to the Building Technology 
Specialist, teacher-librarian, or classroom teacher depending on your school. If we are able to fix the 
device, we will do so and return it. If we are unable to fix the problem, we will issue a new device.  
Physical damage or lost equipment may cost a student or employee a replacement fee.   

Use of Personal Electronic Devices 
In accordance with all district policies and procedures, students and staff may use personal electronic 
devices such as, but not limited to, laptops, mobile devices, cell phones, and e-readers to promote 
student learning and to further the educational and research mission of the district. The use of 
personally owned devices at school by staff and students is voluntary and a privilege, and subject to all 
school district policies and procedures. School staff will retain the final authority in deciding when and 
how students may use personal electronic devices on school grounds and during any school-related 
activity. 

The district assumes no liability or responsibility for any act of a staff, student or guest user that is 
inconsistent with school district policies and procedures. Any individual who brings personally owned 
devices onto school property is solely responsible for that equipment. 

If the District has reasonable cause to believe a staff member or student has violated school district 
policies or procedures authorized personnel may confiscate and hold a staff member, student’s or guest 
user’s mobile or personal device in accordance with school district policies and procedures for privacy 
and security. 

Law Enforcement Requests Regarding District Devices 

From time to time, the district may receive an equipment access or seizure request from law 
enforcement.  In order to respond to these requests in a structured way, no employee, vendor, or 
consultant should act independently on these requests.  Absolutely no district devices or accounts are 
to be given to law enforcement without permission of the Superintendent or Superintendent’s 

214



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/D3 District Take Home Device.doc
Page 4 

designee.  All requests for equipment, software, or account access, including subpoenas should 
be directed to the Office of the Superintendent. 

215



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/F47 Electronic Mail.doc
Page 1 

Recommended 

WASHINGTON CENTRAL UNIFIED POLICY:      F47 
UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT 

WARNED: 
Board of Directors’ Policy 

ADOPTED: 
ELECTRONIC MAIL 

EFFECTIVE: 

Overview  
Electronic email is pervasively used in almost all industry verticals and is often the primary 
communication and awareness method within the district. At the same time, misuse of email can post 
many legal, privacy and security risks, thus it’s important for users to understand the appropriate use of 
electronic communications.  

Purpose 
The purpose of this email policy is to ensure the proper use of WCUUSD email system and make users 
aware of what WCUUSD deems as acceptable and unacceptable use of its email system. This policy 
outlines the minimum requirements for use of email within WCUUSD Network.  

Scope 
This policy covers appropriate use of any email sent from a WCUUSD email address and applies to all 
employees, vendors, and agents operating on behalf of WCUUSD. 

Definitions 
FERPA - The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) (20 U.S.C. § 1232g; 34 CFR Part 
99) is a Federal law that protects the privacy of student education records. The law applies to all
schools that receive funds under an applicable program of the U.S. Department of Education. 

FERPA gives parents certain rights with respect to their children's education records. These rights 
transfer to the student when he or she reaches the age of 18 or attends a school beyond the high school 
level. Students to whom the rights have transferred are "eligible students." 

• Parents or eligible students have the right to inspect and review the student's education records
maintained by the school. Schools are not required to provide copies of records unless, for
reasons such as great distance, it is impossible for parents or eligible students to review the
records. Schools may charge a fee for copies.

• Parents or eligible students have the right to request that a school correct records which they
believe to be inaccurate or misleading. If the school decides not to amend the record, the parent
or eligible student then has the right to a formal hearing. After the hearing, if the school still
decides not to amend the record, the parent or eligible student has the right to place a statement
with the record setting forth his or her view about the contested information.

• Generally, schools must have written permission from the parent or eligible student in order to
release any information from a student's education record. However, FERPA allows schools to

5.14.21

216



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/F47 Electronic Mail.doc
Page 2 

disclose those records, without consent, to the following parties or under the following 
conditions (34 CFR § 99.31): 

o School officials with legitimate educational interest;
o Other schools to which a student is transferring;
o Specified officials for audit or evaluation purposes;
o Appropriate parties in connection with financial aid to a student;
o Organizations conducting certain studies for or on behalf of the school;
o Accrediting organizations;
o To comply with a judicial order or lawfully issued subpoena;
o Appropriate officials in cases of health and safety emergencies; and
o State and local authorities, within a juvenile justice system, pursuant to specific State

law.

Schools may disclose, without consent, "directory" information such as a student's name, address, 
telephone number, date and place of birth, honors and awards, and dates of attendance. However, 
schools must tell parents and eligible students about directory information and allow parents and 
eligible students a reasonable amount of time to request that the school not disclose directory 
information about them. Schools must notify parents and eligible students annually of their rights 
under FERPA. The actual means of notification (special letter, inclusion in a PTA bulletin, student 
handbook, or newspaper article) is left to the discretion of each school. 

HIPAA - The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) is a federal law 
that required the creation of national standards to protect sensitive patient health information from 
being disclosed without the patient’s consent or knowledge. The US Department of Health and Human 
Services (HHS) issued the HIPAA Privacy Rule to implement the requirements of HIPAA. The 
HIPAA Security Rule protects a subset of information covered by the Privacy Rule. 

PCI - The Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS) is a set of security standards 
designed to ensure that ALL companies that accept, process, store or transmit credit card information 
maintain a secure environment. 

The Payment Card Industry Security Standards Council (PCI SSC) was launched on September 7, 
2006 to manage the ongoing evolution of the Payment Card Industry (PCI) security standards with a 
focus on improving payment account security throughout the transaction process. The PCI DSS is 
administered and managed by the PCI SSC (www.pcisecuritystandards.org), an independent body that 
was created by the major payment card brands (Visa, MasterCard, American Express, Discover and 
JCB.). 

The PCI DSS applies to ANY organization, regardless of size or number of transactions, that 
accepts, transmits or stores any cardholder data. 

FOIA - The Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), is a federal freedom of information law that 
requires the full or partial disclosure of previously unreleased information and documents controlled 
by the public organizations. The act defines agency records subject to disclosure, outlines mandatory 
disclosure procedures, and defines nine exemptions to the statute. The act was intended to make U.S. 
government agencies' functions more transparent so that the American public could more easily 

217



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/F47 Electronic Mail.doc
Page 3 

identify problems in government functioning and put pressure on Congress, agency officials, 
local officials and the president to address them.    

Policy 
• All use of email must be consistent with WCUUSD policies and procedures of ethical conduct,

safety, compliance with applicable laws and proper district practices.
• WCUUSD email account should be used primarily for WCUUSD district-related purposes;

personal communication is permitted on a limited basis, but non-WCUUSD related business
uses are prohibited.

• All WCUUSD data contained within an email message or an attachment must be secured
according to the Data Protection Standard, state and federal laws and should adhere to all
FERPA, HIPAA, FOIA and PCI requirements.

• Email should be retained only if it qualifies as a WCUUSD district record. Email is a
WCUUSD district record if there exists a legitimate and ongoing district reason to preserve the
information contained in the email.

• Email that is identified as a WCUUSD district record shall be retained according to WCUUSD
Record Retention Schedule.

• The WCUUSD email system shall not to be used for the creation or distribution of any
disruptive or offensive messages, including offensive comments about race, gender, hair color,
disabilities, age, sexual orientation, pornography, religious beliefs and practice, political
beliefs, or national origin. Employees who receive any emails with this content from any
WCUUSD employee should report the matter to their supervisor immediately.

• Users are prohibited from automatically forwarding WCUUSD email to a third-party email
system.  Individual messages which are forwarded by the user must not contain WCUUSD
confidential or above information.

• Users are prohibited from using third-party email systems and storage servers such as Google,
Yahoo, and MSN Hotmail etc. to conduct WCUUSD business, to create or memorialize any
binding transactions, or to store or retain email on behalf of WCUUSD.  Such communications
and transactions should be conducted through proper channels using WCUUSD-approved
documentation.

• Using a reasonable amount of WCUUSD resources for personal emails is acceptable, but non-
work-related email shall be saved in a separate folder from work related email.  Sending chain
letters or joke emails from a WCUUSD email account is prohibited.

• WCUUSD employees shall have no expectation of privacy in anything they store, send or
receive on the district’s email system.

• WCUUSD may monitor messages without prior notice. WCUUSD is not obliged to monitor
email messages.

The Internet has been plagued with hoaxes alleging various security problems. Many of these hoaxes 
take the form of phishing attacks or chain letters, which request that the receiving party send the 
message to other people. Service users in receipt of information about system vulnerabilities should 
forward it to the WCUUSD Information Technology Helpdesk (ithelp@u32.org), who will then 
determine what if any action is appropriate. Service users must not personally redistribute system 
vulnerability information. 

218



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/F47 Electronic Mail.doc
Page 4 

Distribution of Unsolicited WCUUSD Marketing: Service users must not use facsimile (fax) 
machines, electronic mail, instant messenger, auto-dialer robot voice systems, or any other electronic 
communications systems for the distribution of unsolicited advertising material. 

219



/Users/jgarrity/Documents/Customers/WCUUSD/WCUUSD Policies/F48 Incident Response Policy and Plan.doc
Page 1 

Recommended 

WASHINGTON CENTRAL UNIFIED POLICY:      F48 
UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT 

WARNED: 
Board of Directors’ Policy 

ADOPTED: 
INCIDENT RESPONSE POLICY AND PLAN 

EFFECTIVE: 

Overview 
In accordance with security best practices, all security incidents will be formally documented and 
responded to. This policy provides some general guidelines and procedures for dealing with computer 
security incidents. 

Purpose 
The WCUUSD is committed to maintaining the security of electronic information. Formal practices 
of tracking and mitigating security incidents will aid in assessing potential risks and vulnerabilities to 
data. As such, WCUUSD will continually assess risks and improve security measures. 

Incident Examples 
Some examples of possible incident categories include: 

• Compromise of system or data integrity
• Denial of system resources.
• Illegal access to a system (either a penetration or an intrusion).
• Malicious use of system resources
• Inadvertent damage to a system.
• Malware or virus detection.

Some possible scenarios for security incidents are: 
• Loss of a laptop or device containing, HIPAA, PII and/or other WCUUSD – data.
• Suspicious activities or anomalies that are identified through intrusion detection, firewall or

other network device logs. You have discovered a major virus has infected multiple systems.
• Damage, intentional or accidental, to equipment or system affecting its ability to perform its

job.
• Unauthorized wireless access points.

Incident Reporting 
All suspected policy violations, system intrusions, virus infestations, and other conditions which 
might jeopardize WCUUSD information or WCUUSD information systems must be immediately 
reported to the WCUUSD Information Technology Helpdesk (ithelp@u32.org), who will coordinate 
with the WCUUSD Director of Technology and/or Superintendent. 

5.14.21

220



6/16/2021 WCUUSD Mail - Middlesex board opening

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0?ik=76ed928e36&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f%3A1701919804407620364%7Cmsg-f%3A1701919804407… 1/1

Melissa Tuller <mtuller@u32.org>

Middlesex board opening
1 message

Ainsley Burroughs <aburrbte@buusd.org> Mon, Jun 7, 2021 at 10:46 AM
To: fdiazsmith@u32.org
Cc: mtuller@u32.org

Dear Board Members,

I am writing to inform you of my interest to join the Washington Central Unified Union School District school board. I
recently moved to Middlesex with my partner, Silas, and son, Knox. We are very excited that Knox will be embarking on
his education career this fall as a Kindergartener at Rumney.  While my roots in Middlesex are just starting to grow, I was
born and raised in Montpelier and am very familiar with this community and school district.

I would love to be more involved in the school system and feel that becoming a School Board member would provide me
this opportunity. As a teacher myself at Barre Town Elementary School, I am very passionate about making our school
systems the best they can be for every student. I believe that access to a good public education is the best gift that we
can give to our youth.

I am skilled at communication and understand that value in asking questions and listening to the perspective of others. I
am organized, a good note taker and a good facilitator. Additionally, I have experience as a teacher on the negotiation
committee and am very familiar with this process. 

I look forward to hearing from you,
Ainsley Burroughs

221



To: Washington Central Unified Union School Board 

From: Chris Cadorette, Calais resident 

Re: letter of interest to interim fill board seat 

Date: June 1, 2021 

Hello, 

I am writing this letter to express my interest in filling the Calais board seat for the recently retired Dot 
Naylor.  

I previously filled an interim seat on the CES board prior to the merger, and then was elected to fill that 
seat at the subsequent town meeting. Once the merger occurred, I lost my bid to fill one of the Calais 
seats on the new board to Dot.  

I have been involved with CES since my family moved back to Calais in 2014; I have been the president 
of the Calais PTO, have volunteered as a coach, and most recently was the WCUSD Athletics and 
Activities Director for Berlin, Calais, Doty and Rumney (position I will hold until the end of the school 
year for 2021). I am also the Head JV football coach at U-32 and have been on the coaching staff there 
since 2015.  

If selected, my intent would be to fill the interim seat until it is up for election, then to run for a full 
board seat at the election.  

Thank you for considering. I look forward to speaking with you about my interest and qualifications. 

Chris Cadorette, MPA 

222



Dear Flor, 

I am writing to express my interest in appointment to the open Calais representative position 
resulting from Dorothy Naylor’s resignation/retirement. 

My prior board experiences include Good Beginnings of Central Vermont and the Vermont 
Speech and Hearing Association. 

Other volunteer commitments have included participation on numerous hiring committees at 
Calais Elementary School, a curriculum review led by Jen Miller-Arsenault, coordination of the 
volunteer-led Four Winds nature education program at Calais Elementary School from 2017-
2019 and currently, coordinating the Everyone Eats food distribution in East Calais Village. 

I hold a Level 1 Educator Licensure with an Educational Speech Language Pathologist (SLP) 
Endorsement, as well as an SLP license from the Vermont Office of Professional Regulation. 

I have prior experience as an employee of the District, having served Calais Elementary School 
as Speech Language Pathology assistant during the 2009-2010 school year. 

Currently, I work as a medical Speech Language Pathologist serving adults in their homes as an 
employee of Central Vermont Home Health & Hospice. 

My two sons, Amariah (22) and Shiloh (14) attended Calais Elementary School. Shiloh is a 
rising 9th grader at U32. 

I hold a strong interest in supporting the success of public education, as a parent of a school 
age child, local community member, citizen and former public school educator. 

Further, I am committed to volunteerism and offer any board which I pursue, my focused, 
energetic and thoughtful engagement. 

I recently met with Dorothy and Scott, giving me good perspective on the climate of the board 
and the time commitment required. 

I am available to participate as soon as possible and plan to attend the June 2nd meeting. 

Sincerely, 

Maggie Weiss 

Hm # 802-456-8141 (no cell in East Calais) 
Cell # 802-505-0184 

224



To the members of the WCUUD School Board, 

I am writing to express my interest in joining your team as a board member from Worcester. As a Doty 

and U-32 graduate, with two children currently at Doty, I am deeply invested in the wellbeing and 

excellence of this school district and of its students, staff, and teachers. Additionally, as a current family 

physician and former high school teacher with a masters in secondary science education, I hold a great 

respect for the importance of schools in terms of the education they provide, the creativity they 

nurture, the community they foster, and the role they play in the mental health and wellbeing of our 

children and adolescents. I strongly support the district’s mission statement, “WCUUSD exists to nurture 

and inspire in all students the passion, creativity and power to contribute to their local and global 

communities.” 

I have enclosed my resume for reference. Although I have never served on a school board, I believe that 

with my experience as a student and now parent in this district, as well as my professional experience in 

both teaching and medicine, I could bring an important perspective to this role. Thank you for 

considering me as a potential board member. Please feel free to contact me at (802) 522-7802 or 

Mckalyn.garrity@gmail.com. I look forward to hearing from you.  

Sincerely, 

Mckalyn Garrity Leclerc 

225

mailto:Mckalyn.garrity@gmail.com


Ursula Stanley 
34 S. Bear Swamp Rd. 
Middlesex, VT 05602 
6/6/2021 

Ms. Flor Diaz Smith 
Board Chair 
WCUUSD School Board 

Dear Ms. Flor Diaz Smith: 

Please accept this as my letter of interest in the newly open school board seat for Middlesex.  I am 
interested in serving on the board to ensure all of our students in the district have access to quality 
education. 

I have a BS degree from Clarkson University. I am current a stay-at-home mom to two children, both 
students in the district.  I have several years of experience working as an engineer and have strong 
critical thinking skills, which will help me review information and ask clarifying questions. 

Sincerely, 

Ursula Stanley 

cc: Melissa Tuller 

226



WCUUSD Schoolboard 

1130 Gallison Hill Rd 

Montpelier, VT 05602 

Patrick Whelley, PhD 

186 Wood Rd, 

Middlesex VT 

05682 

June 18, 2021 

Dear Chairperson Flor Diaz-Smith, 

I’m writing to express my interested in serving on the WCUUSD Schoolboard. I understand 

there is a new vacancy from Middlesex. It is important for our town to have a full complement of 

board members and I would be honored to serve Middlesex by serving on the board.  

My family and I live on Wood Rd in Middlesex and I work (remotely) for the University of 

Maryland as a research scientist and NASA contractor. I hold a PhD in geology and have taught 

both classroom and field-based science courses. Throughout my career, I have volunteered at 

public science outreach events exposing families to geology, Earth hazards and planetary 

science. Through these interactions I have seen the advantages that kids get when their schools 

are supportive of their curiosity and creativity.  

My formal education occurred at public schools, and I grew up with parents working in public 

schools. I know first-hand the importance of community involvement and engagement in the 

local schools and understand the amazing resource schools can be. I want to be a part of a 

schoolboard that helps their schools reach their full potential through equity, inclusivity, and 

community. 

My wife and I are passionate about education and want to do our part to ensure our kids and the 

children in our town are encouraged to follow their curiosity and creativity. Serving our 

community on the schoolboard is an excellent opportunity to have some real input in shaping the 

schools our kids will rely on.  

Please accept this letter of interest in serving on the WCUUSD Schoolboard 

Sincerely, 

Patrick Whelley, PhD 

227



Washington Central Unified Union School District 

WCUUSD exists to nurture and inspire in all students the passion, creativity and power to contribute to 
their local and global communities. 

1130 Gallison Hill Road 
Montpelier, VT  05602  Bryan Olkowski 
Phone (802) 229-0553 Superintendent     
Fax (802) 229-2761 

Washington Central Unified Union School District 
Board Meeting Minutes Unapproved  

5.19.21 5:00 PM -9:00 PM  

Board Members: Flor Diaz Smith, Lindy Johnson, Scott Thompson, Diane Nichols-Fleming, Kari 
Bradley, Jonas Eno-Van Fleet, Dorothy Naylor, Christopher McVeigh, Jill Olson, Jonathan Goddard 
Administrators: Superintendent Bryan Olkowski,  Human Resources Coordinator Carla Messier, 
Principal Steven Dellinger-Pate, Interim Director of Technology James Garrity, Principal Aaron 
Boynton, Principal Alicia Lyford, Principal Cat Fair, Principal Gillian Fuqua, Principal Casey Provost, 
Director of Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment  Jennifer Miller-Arsenault, Associate Principal 
Jody Emerson, Special Education Coordinator  Julia Pritchard, Director of Special  Services Kelly 
Bushey, Director of Student Services Lisa LaPlante, Business Administrator Lori Bibeau 
Others/Public: Amy Young, ORCA Media, Allison Levin, Ben Weiss, Christina George, David 
Powelson, Elizabeth Wirth, Ellen Dorsey, Madeleine Dougherty, Townes DeGroot, Tyler Smith, David 
Delcore, Lisa Hanna, Sonya Rhodes, Chris Winters, Dinah Yessne, Adrian Wade-Keeney, Allison 
Fayle, Anne Decker, Caitlin Morgan, Caroline Grace, Carrie Fitz, Cathy Guiffre, Christiana Martin, 
Christine Babcock, Claire Gallagher, Daniel Diddlemeyer, Danielle Laquerre, David Powelson, 
Deanna Murray, Drew Junkins, Ellen Dorsey, Emily Heckler, Erica, Erin Mooney, Honi Bean Barrett, 
Jane Boucher, Janine Griggs, Jennifer Fitch, Jessica Heinz, Jill Abair, Jill Drury, Julie O’Keefe, Kara 
Rosenberg, Karen Lieberman, Kate Liptak, Kate McCann, Kayla Pierce, Kristin Brian, Alan Hefferon, 
Arlyn Bruccoli, Beatrice David, Brian Fischer, Brian O’Connor, Samantha Mishkin, Steven Ushakov, 
Sue Pryce, Ted Nathanson, Mary Bove, Mary Ellen Hill, Michael Sherwin, Michelle Ksepka, Mark 
Brown, Mark Kline,  Nicole Schaeffer, RA, Roger Grow, Lara Slezar, Laura Giammusso, Lynn 
Spencer, Mary Beth Langevin, Kristine Chartrand, Jenn Ingersoll 

1. Call to Order:   Flor Diaz Smith called the meeting to order at 5:04 p.m.

2. Executive Session- Superintendent Evaluation/Negotiations:
At 5:05 p.m., Jonas Eno-Van Fleet moved to go into Executive Session for the purpose of
discussing Negotiations and Superintendent Evaluation.  The board invited Carla Messier,
Lori Bibeau and Superintendent Olkowski into the Negotiations portion of Executive
Session.  Seconded by Stephen Looke.  Superintendent Olkowski indicated that if the board
intended to discuss his employment then he is entitled to be included in the session, and to
have legal representation.
Flor Diaz Smith explained that  discussion surrounding the evaluation instrument and
process falls squarely under 1 VSA Section 313 (a)(3), which makes an exception to the open
meeting requirement for the purpose of discussing “…the appointment or employment or
evaluation of a public officer…”.  This motion carried and the board went into Executive
Session at 5:06 p.m.

At 6:09 p.m. the board returned from Executive Session. 

Berlin East Montpelier Calais 

Middlesex Worcester 

U- 32 

228



 
 

3. Welcome: Flor Diaz Smith welcomed those present.  There were approximately 90 people in 
attendance. 

3.1. Reception of Guests 
3.2. Public Comments: Flor Diaz Smith noted that we are allowing 15 minutes of public 

comments to begin the meeting; this is a change in the agenda format from most recent 
meetings. Chris Winters stated that he had shared an email earlier.  He stated, we are now 
learning how the newly consolidated district is working; he noted that growing pains are to be 
expected.  He stated that, during the discussion around Act 46, a large concern was the lack of 
local decision making, feedback and communication.  He asked the board to reconsider cutting 
hours from the Berlin arts program; it would be a mistake and would send the wrong message 
to the community about how the board intends to do business going forward.  He hopes to 
have a district wide conversation about equity and about the arts and enrichment programs.  He 
noted that what might feel like a small scheduling decision right now will have a much larger 
impact.  The board needs full transparency and buy-in from the community.  Lisa Hanna read a 
statement to the board.  She spoke about the need to enlist more stakeholder voice. She stated 
her hope that the board would take into consideration the recent communication from the 
teachers and staff, and honor the voices of the stakeholders.  She asked the board to view this 
as a critical moment. Allison Levin asked that the board reject the recommendations and she 
stated one reason:  the board is making a big decision but is not providing any other choices or 
“Plan B.”  She urged the board to reject the recommendation of the memo, and to restore the 
positions so that we can have a full discussion about how to achieve equity in all of the schools 
in the district. Kate McCann, Co-president of educator’s union stated that she vigorously 
opposed the recommendation to cut positions in the arts.  She characterized Superintendent 
Olkowski as showing poor communication skills and lack of transparency.  She stated that he 
has worked to undermine the collaborative process at WCUUSD.  As a result we have lost 
several top notch administrators, teachers, and staff.   Drew Junkins, Co-department head in 
the Math Department at U-32 spoke about the lack of communication and about the lack of 
safety and trust that staff feel at this time.  Claire Gallagher spoke about the addition of more 
hours of literacy and math in the daily schedule - what do we need more of?  We need more 
collaboration with allied arts and more opportunities for collaboration.  What she has loved 
about the district has been the value of well-rounded education. 

     Kara Rosenberg thanked the board for moving public session to the beginning of the 
agenda.  She spoke to the framing of the issue that teachers are against consolidation.  She 
stated this is not the case.  Teachers ask for leadership that uses transparency.  She spoke about 
the transparent process of interest based bargaining that takes place each year during 
negotiations.  She stated that trust is paramount, and the only way to develop trust is to be 
transparent, again and again.  To show that we are acting with common decency and concern. 
At 6:26, public comments ended. 

3.3. Agenda Revisions: none were presented 
 

4. Reports 
4.1. Student Reports:  Townes DeGroot shared that SBAC testing has been taking place for the 

past few weeks.  Advanced Placement tests are also taking place right now.  He shared about 
some of the end of year plans such as graduation and prom.  He also shared some recent events 
in middle school.  He noted that the U-32 Chronicle has been documenting this year; he 
invited those present to read the student journalism. 

4.2. Superintendent 
4.2.1. COVID-19 Update: Elizabeth Wirth provided an update. She shared that at the 

moment we are preparing for a vaccine clinic at U-32 next week.  About 80 students 
have signed up to date.  She stated that she is very encouraged by the participation in 
vaccination efforts and is hopeful that next year the high school will be in a much 
different place as far as COVID-19 safety.  There have been no cases since April 
vacation; she celebrated this! 

 
 

229



 
 
 
 
Chris McVeigh stated that we will miss Elizabeth Wirth next year.  He asked whether 
parental consent is required for students under age 18.  Yes - students either bring a 
signed consent form in person or parents may attend with their children.  Superintendent  
Olkowski thanked Elizabeth Wirth for her hard work this year around COVID-19.  He 
thanked administration and teachers for their hard work as well 

4.2.1.1. Vaccination Clinics 
4.2.2. Art/Music Leadership Team Follow Up: Superintendent Olkowski stated that, 

when considering reductions in staff, he has been reflecting:  When is it appropriate to 
notify the school board?  When is it appropriate to notify staff?  When is it appropriate 
to notify the union?  When is it appropriate to notify families and parents?  He stated 
that he had followed the bargaining agreement.  He spoke about the greater context of 
the budget season, about the effect of COVID-19, about his desire to not have staff lose 
jobs, especially during the  pandemic, as well as the concern about the budget not 
passing (in light of discussions around tax rate and per pupil spending).  COVID-19 
shuttered our schools and we have been working in a state of emergency.  WCUUSD is 
one of five districts in Vermont that provided in-person learning to students K-8 
throughout the pandemic.  He noted that parents and the community are invited to 
school board meetings, and the budget has been provided and discussed during these 
meetings and during forums.  He reiterated his concern that if the budget did not pass, 
we would be required to cut positions. He stated that he has reflected over the past few 
weeks.  He spoke about his decision to follow the timeline in the collective bargaining 
agreement.  In hindsight, he shared that he realizes he did not provide enough time for 
effective and thoughtful communication.  He shared that the teacher’s association, 
school board members, and some administrators have told him that things have been 
done differently in the past.  He shared his hope that all stakeholders will work with 
him and the leadership team.  He stated that the leadership team has been working on 
this recommendation for several years. 
Aaron Boynton, Principal at Berlin, shared on behalf of the elementary principals that 
we hear you on transparency and we hear you on fostering well rounded students.  He 
stated that we do not want to make cuts or reduce the experiences for the students.  He 
shared that the teachers have been working together to navigate the newly consolidated 
district.  He stated that student time will not change for art at Berlin.  For instrumental 
music, the schedule for next year will retain the same offerings for students - groupings 
may be different.  He apologized for miscommunication and misunderstanding; he 
reiterated that we all want what is best for the kids and what is best for the teachers 
who support our kids.  Cat Fair, Calais Principal, stated that we are not cutting the arts 
at Calais School.  Casey Provost, Rumney Principal, indicated that while Rumney is 
looking at a half day reduction, students will not have decreased opportunities in 
music.  The schedule will be tighter but the programs will continue.  Gillian Fuqua, 
Doty Principal, shared that there are no changes to Doty’s music or art 
programming.  She would like to use this as an opportunity to partner with the music 
program and look at how to provide parity to students across the district, and develop a 
vibrant and strong K-8 music experience.  Alicia Lyford, East Montpelier Principal, 
indicated that there are no reductions in art or music next year.  She stated her hopes 
through this experience are that we can work in collaboration with the music 
teachers.  If changes to the music programming need to be made then the experts who 
teach these arts need to be involved in the conversation. Chris McVeigh shared his 
concerns around the explanations that positions will be cut but offerings to students 
will not be cut. He stated that it sounds like there was not collaboration with music and 
art staff before the cuts were presented, and he feels that the board was not made aware 
of the cuts.  He is hopeful that the positions will be restored and that we can go forward 
planning together a music and arts program across the district. Diane Nichols-Fleming 
stated that she was not aware of cuts to positions in the arts programs in the proposed 
budget.  She is asking where the cuts are reflected in the budget.  This is one of the  

230



 
 
transparency concerns that she has.    She asked, what does the learning forward and re-
entry after COVID-19 look like, and did we consider this enough when we were 
planning and approving the budget?  Can the ESSER funds help with this dilemma? 
Lindy Johnson stated that the board was told that there would not be program cuts.  She 
shared that when we have addressed program cuts in the past, the teachers that have 
been affected were given much more advance notice so they could pursue 
opportunities.  She stated that there needs to be a more thought out time frame with 
more input from teachers, staff, and community.  She wonders whether we are going to 
burn out our staff by asking more of them; she is concerned about how we are treating 
our employees when they are only notified by April first about changes that will affect 
them. 
Stephen Looke shared that this was not a surprise to him; he had heard this and the 
board had discussed this in December.  The number of FTEs had been discussed by the 
board, and the board had voted to support this in December. 
Scott Thompson shared his experience over a year ago when the board had voted to 
earmark money to expand the strings programs.  This turned out to be, while a well-
intentioned decision, a wrong decision, as we are now a consolidated district and these 
decisions can’t be made without collaboration and much discussion across the district 
and within the complicated system.  He expressed his support for the leadership team to 
keep the budget as it is, but looking forward, what can we learn this time and how can 
we get to a better place in the future?  It will take time, hard work, and sustained focus. 
Jonas Eno-Van Fleet stated the board did not talk about RIFs in the budget in 
December.  He disagreed with Stephen Looke’s characterization.  He recalled that 
board members had asked, if there are repercussions of the budget as presented, then 
they would like to know.  He feels that the board was deceived in order to pass the 
budget because it was known that this would be a controversial subject.  He stated that 
while he appreciates the memo from the elementary principals and appreciates their 
convincing testimonials tonight, he feels that the board was misled. 
Dorothy Naylor indicated that, in December and going forward, she understood what 
was going on with the proposed budget.  She stated that she appreciates how closely the 
elementary principals have come together; they “saw the handwriting on the wall” 
regarding scheduling and student enrollment.  She spoke about the challenge with 
scheduling and improving student outcomes in literacy and math.  She reiterated Alicia 
Lyford’s sentiment about this having been difficult, but learning from the experience 
and doing better going forward.  She does not think that the board should make a 
change to what the leadership team has recommended. 
Lori Bibeau shared that there was a budget line that showed staffing changes which 
showed a reduction.  She stated that it was not intentional that RIF was not noted; at the 
time, we believed that the reductions would be made by not renewing temporary 
contracts.  She shared that principals have been working on this since 2018.  She shared 
the timeline - it wasn’t until mid-March that it became known that RIFs would be 
needed.  She stated that these conversations around music and arts were happening 
before the current superintendent was on board. 
Gillian Fuqua explained that the reductions are in “non-student-contact” times.  Chris 
McVeigh asked for clarification around what “non-student-contact” time 
means.  Gillian Fuqua shared that there is not always parity across staff around “non-
student-contact” time aside from planning time and duty free lunch that is allowed in 
the contracts.  Cat Fair further explained this issue, and the fact that there has been a 
lack of parity across staff regarding “non-student-contact” time; this is where cuts have 
been made, to move toward parity.  Alicia Lyford explained, for example, considering 
time studies.  She explained that there is still disparity across the schools and within the 
schools around this issue. 
Chris McVeigh moved to restore the cuts that were made to the arts and music 
programs across the district.  Seconded by Jonas Eno-Van 
Fleet.  Discussion:  Chris McVeigh stated that we have prided ourselves in 
collaboration amongst all interest groups.  He does not see that type of collaboration 
having happened in this circumstance.  It does not build trust.  He would like to restore  

231



the positions and then address this going forward with more transparency and more 
collaboration.  Flor Diaz Smith called for a roll call vote.  She explained that if board 
members vote in favor of this motion then they are voting to not accept the 
recommendation of the leadership team. 
Scott:  no 
Diane:  yes 
Chris:  yes 
Stephen:  no 
Lindy:  yes 
Dorothy:  no 
Jonathan:  yes 
Jill:  no 
Kari:  no 
Jonas:  yes 
Flor:  no 
The NOs have it.  The motion failed. 

4.2.3. Equity Scholar in Residence (ESR) Memorandum of Understanding: Superintendent 
Olkowski had shared the MOU for the board’s consideration.  This is a district-wide 
MOU.  He is asking for the board’s authorization that he sign this document. Scott 
Thompson moved to approve the superintendent to sign the MOU as presented. 
Seconded by Chris McVeigh.  Discussion:  Chris McVeigh asked about some of the 
details of the MOU, for example, around the ESR being a third party contract.  He asked 
some other clarifying questions.  Some discussion followed about the need for this 
position to be a third party so that they can address equity issues without fear of 
apprisal.  Superintendent Olkowski stated that he will work with Washington Central 
Friends of Education about an insurance issue that Chris McVeigh brought up. A vote 
was called and this motion carried unanimously. 

4.2.4. Equitable Education Systems Grant Application:  Superintendent Olkowski had 
shared information about this grant application.  Kelly Bushey shared more details 
briefly. Superintendent Olkowski thanked Kelly Bushey for her leadership on this effort. 

4.2.5. U-32 Gender Neutral Bathrooms Update:  Principal Dellinger-Pate had shared a 
memo about student accessibility to all facilities.  At this time the adjustments are in 
signage and some structures that don’t require additional funding.  He anticipates coming 
to the board in the future to ask for financial support.  Superintendent Olkowski thanked 
Steven Dellinger-Pate for his work on this. 

4.2.6. Strategic Planning:  Superintendent Olkowski shared that we are awaiting results from 
the curriculum audit which will help to inform strategic planning.  He expects to dedicate 
time in the future with the leadership team to begin the work of strategic planning, which 
will include multiple stakeholders.  He had shared a memo with the board, dated May 14, 
2021:  The Strategic Planning Process.  Chris McVeigh asked whether there will be 
information, provided in writing, about how the process will be transparent and 
collaborative.   

4.3. Education Quality 
4.3.1.Discussion of WCUUSD Physical Education/Health Student Learning Outcomes: 

Kari Bradley suggested that the board table this discussion until we have the time to give 
it the proper attention, given the late hour.  He was considering scheduling a special 
meeting to consider this. .Diane Nichols-Fleming suggested that at the next Ed Quality 
meeting, we spend the first 15 minutes with long range planning.  She invited board 
members to attend any of the Education Quality meetings. 

4.4. Finance Committee 
4.4.1.Central Office Ventilation Bid:  Flor Diaz Smith shared that the Finance Committee has 

approved this bid to Thomas Mechanical, and Temperature Controls of Vermont in the 
amount of $ 97,836 plus a contingency amount for a total of $107,620. 

4.4.2. Authorize the Superintendent to sign contracts for WCUUSD:  Scott Thompson 
moved to authorize the Superintendent to sign all documents and contracts on 

232



 
 
behalf of Washington Central Unified Union School District. Seconded by Chris 
McVeigh, this motion carried unanimously. 

4.4.3. Blanket Authorization for Check orders:  Lori Bibeau shared that board members will 
be asked to provide authorization; this is annual practice. 

4.4.4. Annual Bids  
4.4.4.1. Revenue Anticipation Note & Investment Bid:  Scott Thompson moved to 

approve the Revenue Anticipation Note and Investment Bid for Community 
Bank, NA.  Seconded by Chris McVeigh.  This motion carried unanimously.   
Scott Thompson moved to authorize the board chair to sign the loan 
documents on behalf of the board, by electronic means.  Seconded by Diane 
Nichols-Fleming, this motion carried unanimously. 

4.4.4.2. Audit Services Bid:  Kari Bradley moved to authorize awarding the Audit 
Services bid to RHR Smith for a 3 year period (FY 22 to FY24) with the 
option to extend 2 additional years (FY25 to FY26).  Seconded by Chris 
McVeigh, this motion carried unanimously 

4.4.4.3. Property, Liability, and Workers Compensation Insurance Bid:  Chris 
McVeigh moved to appoint Denis Ricker Brown as the WCUUSD insurance 
agent for a one year period: July 1, 2021-June 30, 2022 To award both 
property, liability and related insurance bid to Liberty Mutual Insurance 
Company and workers compensation insurance bid to AIM Mutual Insurance 
Company and other Insurance Carriers as provided in the proposal for a one 
year period: July 1, 2021-June 30, 2022, for a total of  $194,726, and to 
authorize the superintendent to sign.  Seconded by Dorothy Naylor, this 
motion carried unanimously. 

4.4.4.4. Authorize Superintendent to approve bids for Fuel Oil, Propane, Wood Chips, 
Wood Pellets, and Paper:  Lindy Johnson moved to authorize the 
Superintendent to award bids for Fuel Oil, Propane, Woodchips, Wood Pellets 
and Paper on behalf of Washington Central Unified Union School 
District.  Seconded by Dorothy Naylor. This motion carried unanimously. 

4.4.5. Infinite Campus Online payment system update:  Lindy Johnson moved to 
authorize the district payment for transaction fees for parent and staff payments 
using the Infinite Campus payment processor. Seconded by Scott Thompson, this 
motion carried unanimously. 

4.4.6. Rumney Para Educator Position:  Chris McVeigh moved to authorize the hiring of 
the Para Educator position at Rumney School for the 2021-22 School 
Year.  (budgetary impact:  approximately $55,700)  Seconded by Scott 
Thompson.  Discussion:  Lindy Johnson asked whether any of the COVID-19 funds can 
be used for this position.  Lori Bibeau indicated that she is still looking into that and will 
update the board in June.  This motion carried; Kari Bradley abstained from the 
vote. 

4.4.7. Calais Para Educator Position:  Dorothy Naylor moved to authorize the hiring of 
the Para Educator position at Calais Elementary School for the 2021-22 School 
Year. (budgetary impact:  approximately $24,508)   Seconded by Scott Thompson, 
this motion carried unanimously. 

4.4.8. East Montpelier Pre-K Para Educator Position:  Scott Thompson moved to 
increase the Para educator position as presented in memorandum by Alicia 
Lyford.  (budgetary impact:  approximately $11,971)  Seconded by Diane Nichols-
Fleming, this motion carried unanimously. 

4.5. Policy Committee :Chris McVeigh presented the following policies  
4.5.1. First Reading for policy to be adopted on 6.16.21: F44 Password Management, 

B8 Electronic Communication between Employees and Students.  Chris McVeigh 
invited questions or comments from board members about these policy drafts.  He 
thanked James Garrity for his work and input concerning these policies.  Jim Garrity 
commended the Policy Committee members for their active engagement in considering 
these policies.  Diane Nichols-Fleming asked about some of the specifications around  
 

233



 
 
password resets or updates.  Lindy Johnson expressed her concern that we are creating 
a great number of policies which do not reflect past practice.  Chris McVeigh replied  
that the intent is to protect the system and the integrity of the system.  Lindy Johnson 
shared that her experience on the Policy Committee was that the committee used 
VSBA recommended policies to craft WCUUSD policies.  Chris McVeigh asked 
whether board members would like to have more time to consider the policies, for  
example, offer a third reading, as they are lengthy.  Some discussion followed around 
the need for these new policies to keep up with technology.  These policies will be 
moved to a second reading. 

4.5.2.Second Reading for Policy to be Adopted: F40 Change Management, F43 Backups, D3 
District Take Home Device & Personal Device, F47 Electronic Mail, F48 Incident 
Response Policy and Plan:  These policies will be moved to a third reading. Chris 
McVeigh invited feedback to any of these policies, after board members have had time to 
review. 

4.6. Negotiations Update:  Jonas Eno-Van Fleet reported that we have continued to negotiate with 
teachers and ESP for what is hoped to be a two year contract; he hopes that we are all 
operating with good faith and hopes and anticipates that we will come to a conclusion soon. 
  

5. Board Operations 
5.1. Superintendent Evaluation Update:  Flor Diaz Smith shared that June 23 from 5-6 p.m. will 

be the next meeting to include Superintendent Olkowski.  Diane Nichols-Fleming reported that 
we agreed to continue the evaluation process as it is currently delineated but will plan forward 
with a process that works for all parties. 

5.2. Calais Board Appointment Update:  Flor Diaz Smith shared that we do not have any 
updates; no interested candidates.  Flor Diaz Smith shared that Christina Pollard has resigned 
her position on the board, as she is hired as an employee of WCUUSD. 

5.3. Governance:  Karoline May will be at the next board meeting and there may be an update 
around the work related to governance. Scott Thompson shared that the Bill to reform 
equalized pupil weighting system has passed both house and senate; a task force will 
recommend an action plan and implementing legislation.  He thanked the WCUUSD board, 
including Dorothy Naylor, and other boards in Vermont, who have worked to make this 
change.  Dorothy Naylor and Flor Diaz Smith shared some details around this development.
   

6. Consent Agenda: 
6.1. Approve Minutes of 4.28.21 and 5.10.21:  Scott Thompson moved to approve the minutes 

of April 28, 2021, and May 10, 2021.  Seconded by Diane Nichols-Fleming, this motion 
carried unanimously. 

6.2. Instructional Coach Job Description:  Diane Nichols Fleming moved to approve the job 
description for Instructional Coach.  Seconded by Scott Thompson.  This motion carried 
unanimously 

6.3. Approve Board Orders:  Lindy Johnson moved to approve the board orders for a total of 
$579,587.03.  Seconded by Diane Nichols-Fleming, this motion carried unanimously. 
 

7. Personnel 
7.1. Approve New Teachers, Resignations, Retirements, Leave of Absence and Changes in 

FTE: Superintendent Olkowski thanked Carla Messier, Melissa Tuller and Michelle Ksepka 
for their work. Lindy Johnson moved to approve new teacher nominations: 
Annie Ledue – U-32 Math/Science Teacher  
Shannon MacKinnon – East Montpelier Elementary FT Special Educator  
Christina Pollard – Doty Memorial Pre-K Teacher  
Blakely Gilmore – Calais Elementary 1st and 2nd Grade Classroom Teacher  
Andrea Dobson – Calais Elementary Nurse  
Samantha Jackson – Calais Elementary 3rd and 4th Grade Classroom Teacher.    
Rebecca Hill-U-32 Nurse  
Seconded by Dorothy Naylor, this motion carried unanimously. 
 
 

234



 
 
Lindy Johnson moved to accept the following resignations: 
Marcy Larrabee – Calais Literacy Interventionist  
Meghan Falby – U-32 Health Education Teacher  
Hayley Fitzgerald - U-32 Special Education Teacher  
Ashley Gilstad – WCUUSD Special Educator  
Ted Nathanson – WCUUSD Special Educator  
Erica Rose – Doty Art Teacher  
Lisa Levangie – Calais Kindergarten Teacher.   
Seconded by Dorothy Naylor, this motion carried unanimously. 

 
Lindy Johnson moved to approve the New Hires: –  
Katrina Rob – Berlin 1st and 2nd Grade Classroom Teacher (Transfer from Calais 
Elementary)  
Mark Kline – Director of Technology  
Erica Rose – Calais Elementary Art Teacher .3 FTE/ Berlin Art Teacher .5 FTE  
Seconded by Dorothy Naylor.   
Discussion:  Some clarifying discussion followed around the process of transferring within a 
certain period, versus resigning and moving to another school as a new hire.  Superintendent 
Olkowksi shared that the transfer window ends on April 15th.  This motion carried 
unanimously. Superintendent Olkowski thanked Jim Garrity for his work and leadership on 
technology, and welcomed Mark Kline as Director of Technology.  He shared that there will 
be some crossover time for the two to work together to ease the transition. Jonas Eno-Van 
Fleet noted that the board will need to plan a special meeting, hopefully, to approve the 
Collective Bargaining Agreements. 
 

8. Future Agenda Items: 
8.1. WCUUSD Name 
8.2. Assessment Needs for Building Bright Futures 
8.3. Diversifying Educator Work Force 
8.4. Net Metering Proposal 
8.5. Strategic Planning 
8.6. Annual Snapshot 

 
9. Board Reflection: Jonas Eno-Van Fleet shared that over the past few weeks there has been a great 

deal of communication about concerns in the district.  He expressed that he is saddened and 
disappointed that there does not seem to be a will on the board to dig into the questions and 
concerns that have been raised.  He feels that it is the board’s responsibility to hear the voices and 
honor the concerns. 
Dorothy Naylor shared that this is her last board meeting.  She stated that she has enjoyed her time 
on the board, and she hopes that Calais will have some board representation come forward.  She 
feels that we need to find a way to get community involvement and representation on the board. 
Lindy Johnson stated that she is glad public comment took place at the beginning of the 
meeting.  She thanked the many people who provided input about the issue of arts and music that 
has been discussed.  She stated that, being on the board, it is our job to hear from the public - the 
good and the bad.  She expressed that she appreciates being contacted by the public. 
Scott Thompson thanked Dorothy Naylor for her work on the board on behalf of the town of Calais 
and on behalf of the district.  He expressed his hope that some of the people who have 
communicated their concerns will consider joining the board.  He noted that this has been a really 
hard year; everybody is tapped out.  He stated that, as much as we can manage, we need to make it 
work; there is potential to do tremendous things.  Flor Diaz Smith thanked everyone in the 
community for input.  She reflected that we have heard the voices that music and the arts are 
valued, and that we will continue to address this in our strategic planning.  
 

10. Adjourn:  Diane Nichols-Fleming moved to adjourn at 8:52.  Seconded by Dorothy Naylor, 
this motion carried unanimously. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 Lisa Stoudt, Board Recording Secretary 

235



 
Washington Central Unified Union School District 

 
WCUUSD exists to nurture and inspire in all students the passion, creativity and power to contribute to 

their local and global communities. 
 
 

1130 Gallison Hill Road 
Montpelier, VT  05602  Bryan Olkowski 
Phone (802) 229-0553 Superintendent           
Fax (802) 229-2761          

 
Washington Central Unified Union School District 

Special Board Meeting 
6.2.21 5:00-7:30 PM   

 
 

Board Members:  Flor Diaz Smith, Lindy Johnson, Scott Thompson, Diane Nichols-
Fleming, Kari Bradley, Jonas Eno-Van Fleet, Christopher McVeigh, Jill Olson, Jonathan 
Goddard, Vera Frazier 
  
Administrators: Superintendent Bryan Olkowski,  Human Resources Coordinator  Carla 
Messier, Principal Steven Dellinger Pate,  Interim Technology Director James Garrity, 
Principal Aaron Boynton, Principal Alicia Lyford, Principal Cat Fair, Principal Gillian 
Fuqua, Principal Casey Provost, Director of Curriculum, Assessment and Instruction 
Jennifer Miller-Arsenault, Associate Principal Jody Emerson, Special Education 
Coordinator  Julia Pritchard, Director of Special Services Kelly Bushey, Director of 
Student Services  Lisa LaPlante, Business  Administrator Lori Bibeau, Amy Molina 

 
Others/Public:  Amy Young, ORCA Media, Ben Weiss, David Powelson, Elizabeth 
Wirth, Ellen Dorsey, Madeleine Dougherty, Tyler Smith, David Delcore, Lisa Hannah, 
Chris Winters, Adrian Wade-Keeney, Caitlin Morgan, Caroline Grace, Cathy G, Christine 
Babcock, Deanna Murray, Drew Junkins, Erin Mooney, Honi Bean Barrett, Jill Abair, Jill 
Drury, Kara Rosenberg, Kate McCann, Brian Fischer, Steven Ushakov, Mary Bove, 
Michael Sherwin, Michelle Ksepka, Nicole Schaeffer, Kristine Chartrand, Jenn Ingersoll, 
Bekah Mandell, Patrick Whelley, Kathleen Bookchin, Kyle Landis-Marinello, Adam 
French, Alden Bird, Alison Cornwall, Aly, Anne Carter, April Davis, Barrett Jones, Ben 
Larrow, Brennan Lynch, Brittany Perry, Caitlyn Usticke, Chauntelle, Cindy and Mack 
Gardner-Morse, Colleen Purcell, Dan Schall, Danielle LaFleur Brooks, David Lawrence, 
Deborah Bloom, DL, Ellen Knoedler, Emily Levin, Erin Galligan-Baldwin, Hannah 
Brown, Heather Bower, Heather McLane, Holly Lane, Jeffrey Tuneberg, Jennifer 
Campbell, Jennifer Donovan, Jess Wills, John Boyd, Kathleen Bookchin, Kathryn Biggam, 
Katy Chabot, Kelly MacMartin, Kevin Nadzam, Kyle and Talitha Landis-Marinello, LP, 
Laura L, Lisa Wilson, Liz Guilfoyle, Maggie McGlynn, Mark Brown, Marylynne Strachan, 
Mckalyn Garrity Leclerc, Meg Allison, Mish Boreanaz, Myles Chater, Owen,  Rachel 
Hernandez, Randy Brown, Richard Maizell, Rosemary Leach, Talitha L-M, Tammy Joslyn, 
Ted Nathanson, Tracy Martin, Ursula & Chris Stanley, Virginia Breer, Emily Smith, Kaili 
Kuiper, Lara Slesar, Will Baker, Laura Lafaille, Shelley Vermilya, Linda Emmons, Bekah 
Mandell, Lauren Melkonian, Melissa Haupt, Sarah Volinsky, Zach Gonzalez, Micha, 
Alyson Mahony, Andrew Davis, Christiana Martin, Amy Urling, Ela Chapin, Elizabeth 
Mark, Shana Kotelchuck, Mary Monteith, Allison Fayle, Max’s iphone, Chris Blackburn, 
Justin, Daniel Diddlemeyer, Megan McLane, Karen Lieberman, Barrett Jones  
 
 
 

Berlin East Montpelier Calais 

Middlesex Worcester 

U- 32 

236



1. Call to Order:  Flor Diaz Smith called the meeting to order at 5:04 p.m.

2. Executive Session – Student Matter, Negotiations, & Personnel:
Chris McVeigh moved to go into Executive Session for the purpose of discussing a
student matter, negotiations, and personnel.  Seconded by Jonas Eno-Van Fleet, this
motion carried unanimously and the board went into Executive Session at 5:05 p.m.
During Executive Session the Board discussed negotiations, a personnel matter, and two
student matters. The board came out of Executive Session at 6:14.

3. Welcome
3.1. Reception of Guests:  Flor Diaz Smith welcomed those present and thanked everyone

for being patient during a longer Executive Session than had been anticipated. 
3.2. Public Comments  

Zach Gonzalez: read a statement related to the Curriculum Management Audit.  He 
urged the board to reject the findings. 
Hannah Brown:  supported what Zach had reported - it is important to share this 
information in terms that the public can understand, not in education jargon.  She stated 
that she has deep concerns with making broad decisions based on data from the past 
year, given the pandemic. 
Lisa Hanna:  asked the board to consider what the core beliefs of WCUUSD are - what 
do we value?  What are the implications of the language in the report?  She stated that 
we value open communication, teacher voice, student agency/ engagement, teacher 
expertise, students as whole people.  She asked, who needs to be invited to the table to 
shape our next steps? 
Anne Carter:  -stated that she saw a position on School Spring for a math curriculum 
position.  She expressed concern with seeking this position, given the work that 
WCUUSD has done over the past years under the guidance of the current Director of 
Curriculum.  Do we need to reinvent the wheel?  She stated that as an instructional 
coach, she wonders why the superintendent did not seek her input or share his 
intentions. 
Steven Ushakov:  read a letter on behalf of some staff at U-32.  He spoke about the 
shared trauma that teachers have experienced, and continue to experience this year.  He 
spoke about the inappropriateness of having a curriculum audit during this time.  He 
stated that curriculum review should be done thoughtfully, carefully, and seriously.  He 
spoke about the impact this has had on staff morale.  He offered suggested 
alternatives:  classroom observations during summer services, using curriculum camp, 
observe via zoom or other online means.  He noted that there is such a thing as “bad 
data,” and “bad data” will drive bad decisions. 
Patrick Whelley:  stated that a curriculum review is inappropriate this year.  He took 
issue with some of the specific findings from the report. 
Madeleine Dougherty:  spoke about concerns with the focus on preparing students for 
assessments.  She noted that private interests do not always align with the interests and 
values of public education. 
Bekah Mandell:  asked for the complete document, not just the summary 
document.  She asked how suggested interventions are going to address the gap related 
to students who qualify for free and reduced lunch.  She expressed concern about staff 
being in the school during the audit, and asked why parents were not notified (related to 
student safety re: COVID-19).  She stated that this process has not felt transparent.  She 
expressed that it has been hard to stay connected to the work of the board, since board 
consolidation has happened. 

237



 
 
Mckalyn McClerc:  indicated that she has been shocked at the lack of transparency in 
the process. She asked for evidence about what makes U-32 unique.  She hopes that the 
audit takes into consideration the uniqueness of U-32. 

3.3. Agenda Revisions:  Flor Diaz Smith indicated that the board will move personnel 
action to the first action item on the agenda. 
 

4. Reports  
Approve New Teachers, Resignations, Retirements, Leave of Absence and Changes in 
FTE: Jonas Eno Van Fleet moved to approve the following new teacher hires: 
Elizabeth Guido, Amanda Morse, Jennifer Ingersoll, Michael Abadi, and Mckensie 
Kurnow.  Seconded by Scott Thompson.  Discussion:  Diane Nichols-Fleming asked 
whether the two positions should be noted:  Amanda Morse and Jenn Ingersoll, contingent 
upon hiring Special Education and English teachers.  Jonas Eno-Van Fleet amended his 
motion to reflect this contingency.  This motion carried unanimously. Jonas Eno-Van 
Fleet moved to accept the following resignation:  Kate Liptak – Berlin Elementary 
music teacher.  Seconded by Scott Thompson.  Discussion:  Diane Nichols-Fleming 
noted, with thanks and appreciation.  Vera Frazier indicated that she is really sad that this 
position we are in, has led her to this resignation.  This motion carried unanimously. 
Jonas Eno-Van Fleet moved to approve the proposed change in FTE for Tyler Smith. 
Seconded by Scott Thompson, this motion carried unanimously. Jonas Eno-Van Fleet 
moved to approve the following new hires: Christopher O’Brien, Karoline May, 
Jessica Wills. Seconded by Scott Thompson.  Discussion:  Chris McVeigh asked 
Superintendent Olkowski to describe the principal search process for the Rumney 
position.  Superintendent Olkowski described the process.  He had required performance 
tasks that involved other principals from WCUUSD.  Chris McVeigh expressed concern 
around potential conflict of interest.  Jonas Eno-Van Fleet asked for clarification around the 
search process for the principal and the assistant principal position.  Stephen Looke stated 
that it would be prudent for the board to examine potential conflicts of interest for 
employees in the district and to develop some process around decision making in these 
cases.  He noted that this is not a unique circumstance, where a staff member at a school 
has a child or children attend the same school. This motion carried unanimously. Jonas 
moved that the board accept the Superintendent’s recommendation for the three 
student matters that were discussed during executive session.   Seconded by Diane 
Nichols-Fleming, this motion carried unanimously. Superintendent Olkowski had shared 
a memo to the board about the process to date in the hiring of a Business Administrator in 
light of Lori Bibeau’s retirement.  He asked the board to authorize him to offer contracts 
for interim positions during the vacancy and search process.  Chris McVeigh asked for 
clarification.  Some discussion followed around the possibility of a temporary contract to 
Lori Bibeau for some cross-over time period.  Lindy Johnson expressed concern over 
approving a contract when the board does not know the details of the position.  Kari 
Bradley asked whether this can wait for two weeks.  He stated that there is not enough 
detail on the proposal for him to feel comfortable taking action.  He asked, what are we 
risking by having the contingency plan in place, as proposed?  Flor Diaz Smith asked for a 
firmer contingency plan for the board to consider.  Jonas Eno-Van Fleet asked whether 
there is anything that precludes a retiree from working with the district as a consultant.   
Stephen Looke stated that he does not wish to hinder the ability of the district to continue to 
function; however, he would like a more fleshed out proposal. 
Lindy Johnson asked why we would need contracts when we are talking about employees 
who are already in place.  The board will revisit this at the next board meeting. 
 
 
 
 238



 
 
 
4.1. Education Quality 

4.1.1. Discussion of Student Achievement Data and Curriculum Management: 
    Superintendent Olkowksi indicated that he sees this as a tool to improve our 

practice.  He previewed the presentation and introduced Jeff Tuneberg.  Mr. 
Tuneberg presented a slideshow overview of the Curriculum Review.  He stated 
that the report and the executive summary should be available to the district 
sometime next week. He invited questions from board members. Jonas Eno-Van 
Fleet asked - can you describe the educational philosophy that is at the 
foundation of the rubrics from the evaluation?  What types of recommendations 
are you NOT making to us?  Do you have data about how others have used 
these reports?  Can you speak to the importance of leadership and stakeholder 
buy-in? Mr. Tuneberg noted that “culture trumps strategy” - so culture, and 
leadership, make a difference.  Some discussion followed. Jill Olson stated that 
she is looking forward to seeing the full report.  She noted that the presentation 
felt very “jargony” and she is hoping that the report will help her better 
understand. Diane Nichols-Fleming stated that she would have appreciated 
having the report in advance of the presentation.  She stated that the questions 
are not being resistant; they are an attempt to better understand.  She stated that 
she looks forward to the meat of the report.  She asked, as a board, what are our 
next steps?  When do we dig into this?  She stated that the board had been very 
clear to teachers about their expectations during COVID-19, and she does not 
feel that some of the evaluative comments in the presentation were appropriate 
and fair, given the pandemic. Kari Bradley asked about the response 
planning.  Which of the recommendations would provide the most benefit?  The 
most optimal place to start?  The high impact areas that might provide optimal 
benefit for more modest cost?   Mr. Tuneberg replied that a policy decision 
around curriculum management would be the first step to give direction to 
administration.  He noted that response planning is a 3 to 5 year process. Vera 
Frazier asked whether interventionists were included in the math and literacy 
audit.  He noted that they were included in survey information and in providing 
student artifacts. Chris McVeigh asked, in terms of a response, shouldn’t we 
have teaching staff input?  Mr. Tuneberg indicated that the superintendent’s 
response should be sought first, and teaching staff input can be sought as a 
reflection to the superintendent’s response. Flor Diaz Smith invited input from 
the community. 
Ben Weiss:  Was this a curriculum review or governance review?  He noted that 
he would have appreciated having the report in advance.  He shares the concern 
about the achievement gap.  He stated that teachers do not appreciate speaking 
out at board meetings and taking a risk in job security.  He noted that the board 
has been asking for teachers to be more present and involved in board meetings; 
yet when 200 teachers provide input to the board (vote of no confidence) they 
have received no response from the board.  He asked where teachers are 
supposed to go with concerns and input.  He asked the board to think about 
ways the lines of communication can be open, and not remain closed. 
Holly Lane:  Followed up on the idea of stakeholder buy-in.  She wonders how 
the board and superintendent, who seems to be prioritizing a low-trust culture, 
see this succeeding.  She stated that she is hugely concerned.  If there is no 
confidence, there is no buy-in.  She stated that we are looking at numbers and 
not the whole picture and the actual people. 
 
 
 239



 
 
Kathleen Bookchin:  Spoke about the need for public discourse.  She expressed 
concern - why was this review completed during a pandemic year?  She 
responded to the finding that the district is lacking in a district-wide 
approach.  Our district has not had a chance yet to be one district.  She stated 
that, as a parent and taxpayer, she feels that we just paid for something that was 
done at an inappropriate time.  She noted that her child’s photo is in the handout 
and that she has not provided consent.  She suggested that those present tune 
into the national debate around standardized testing.  She does not feel that this 
curriculum review addresses the things that she cares about as a parent:  e.g. 
disparity re:  poverty, disparity re:  schools within the district.  She spoke about 
concerns such as nutrition, outdoor learning, and science - these are things that 
matter to her. 
Kyle Landis-Marinello:  indicated that the timing for the report could not have 
been worse.  He stated that this does not help with the efforts to come together 
on the heels of Act 46. 
Kara Rosenberg:  This is a deficit review, looking for what is wrong.  When 
you ask “what is not good enough?” you will find what is not good 
enough.  This is not an asset review, thinking about how to use the resources 
that we have - this is a huge change from the way we have operated.  “The 
worst thing we can do to children is to not prepare them to take a test.”  She 
took umbrage with that statement from the presentation.  She noted that Act 77 
is a state law.  She stated that as a teacher she has a desire to improve, 
always.  She asked “Do we have the climate in this district to achieve such 
change?”  She does not think so. 
Emily Levin:  She thanked teachers for their herculean effort.  She stated that 
this presentation feels very out of touch.  She expressed that she values the 
unique needs and interests of each child, not a cookie cutter approach.  She 
expressed concerns around the disparities that are reflected in the data, however, 
she feels that the teachers need to be at the center of the process to improve 
equity. 
Drew Junkins:  Regarding “buy in” - he does not think it is present at this time 
as there is not trust for the superintendent. 
Katy Chabot:  The board is not the expert in education, the educators are the 
experts and they should be brought into the process.  This report removes 
teachers from this, and brings outside people who do not have current 
experience in education.  She stated that anything that keeps teachers out of the 
process is going to be ineffective.  The board should celebrate and keep 
empowered the excellent and highly qualified teachers. 
David Lawrence:  Everything that we had feared about Act 46 seems to be 
coming true.  Community participation in the oversight of our school district has 
been decreased.  He stated that he is impressed with the amount of people who 
have attended this meeting.  He stated that he often attends board meetings, but 
this presentation tonight took him by surprise.  He asked the board to encourage 
public participation.  How are we going to foster it?  He noted that the principal 
selection process at Rumney has been extremely disappointing.  There has been 
recent experience in how to involve the community in the process and this was 
disregarded in this case. 
 
 
 
 
 
 240



 
 
Marylynne Strachan:  Stated that the curriculum review has been in discussion 
for several years.  She noted that there is an equity gap and that not many of 
those present have lived it.  She stated that it is time to move forward and 
engage in a curriculum review, professional development, and how to move 
forward to close the equity gap.  She thanked everyone for their engagement 
and invited them to consider the data.  She stated that she has sent multiple 
emails to the board, the superintendent and administrators, about how her 
children are flourishing and how they were held back by practices that were in 
place.   

 
5. Board Operations:  

5.1. Negotiations  
5.2. VSBA Resolutions:  Scott Thompson moved that the board join the resolution 

regarding S.13, as prepared, around pupil weighting, asking for the entire VSBA 
membership to support the study's findings and advocate for an expedient and 
thoughtful implementation.  Seconded by Chris McVeigh.  This motion carried 
unanimously.  The resolution will be submitted to VSBA before June 15th so it can be 
included in the annual VSBA meeting in the fall. 
 

6. Personnel (this took place earlier in the meeting )  
6.1.  
6.2. Business Administrator Update 

 
7. Future Agenda Items 

7.1. WCUUSD Name 
7.2. Assessment Needs for Building Bright Futures 
7.3. Diversifying Educator Workforce 
7.4. Net Metering Proposal 
7.5. Strategic Planning  

 
8. Board Reflection:  

Flor Diaz Smith stated that at this late hour we are going to wrap up the meeting.  She 
noted that board meetings are not the best way to engage the community and that the board 
is working on creating better ways to engage the community. 
 

9. Adjourn:  Lindy Johnson moved to adjourn at 9:28 p.m.  Seconded by Jonas Eno-Van 
Fleet, this motion carried unanimously. 

 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Lisa Stoudt, Board Recording Secretary 
 

 
 

 

241



Washington Central Unified Union School District 

WCUUSD exists to nurture and inspire in all students the passion, creativity and power to contribute to 
their local and global communities. 

1130 Gallison Hill Road 
Montpelier, VT  05602  Bryan Olkowski 
Phone (802) 229-0553 Superintendent     
Fax (802) 229-2761 

Washington Central Unified Union School District 
Special Board Meeting 
6.8.21 8:00-11:00 AM  

Board Members:  Flor Diaz Smith, Chris McVeigh, Lindy Johnson, Scott Thompson, 
Diane Nichols-Fleming, Jonas Eno-Van Fleet, Dorothy Naylor, Stephen Looke, Vera 
Frazier 

Administrators: Superintendent Bryan Olkowski,  Technology Consultant Jim Garrity, 
Business Administrator Lori Bibeau,  Curriculum Director Jen Miller-Arsenault,  Director 
of Special Services Kelly Bushey, Human Resources Coordinator Carla Messier, Associate 
Principal Jody Emerson, Amy Molina, Principal Steven Dellinger-Pate, Principal Aaron 
Boynton, Principal Cat Fair, Principal Gillian Fuqua, Principal Casey Provost, Principal 
Alicia Lyford, Lisa LaPlante, Julia Pritchard, Elizabeth Wirth, Michelle Ksepka 

Others/Public:  ORCA Media 

1. Call to Order:  Flor Diaz Smith called the meeting to order at 8:00 a.m.

2. Executive Session –Employment of Public Employees: At 8:01, Jonas Eno-Van Fleet
moved to enter into Executive Session to consider information and issues relative to
the employment of public employees pursuant to 1 V.S.A. Section 313 (a) (3), and to
include each of Bryan Olkowski, Kelly Bushey, Steven Dellinger-Pate, Jen Miller-
Arsenault, Jody Emerson, Gillian Fuqua, Lisa LaPlante, Amy Molina, Elizabeth
Wirth, Julia Pritchard, Casey Provost, Aaron Boynton, Cat Fair, Alicia Lyford,
Michelle Ksepka, Carla Messier, and Lori Bibeau to attend the Executive Session as a
person who has information which may be of value to the board. Seconded by
Dorothy Naylor, this motion carried unanimously. At 11:00 Jonas Eno-Van Fleet
moved to leave Executive Session. Seconded by Chris McVeigh, this motion carried
unanimously. During Executive Session the Board discussed the employment of public
employees.

3. Adjourn:  Jonas Eno-Van Fleet moved to adjourn at 11:01.  Seconded by Lindy
Johnson, this motion carried unanimously.

Respectfully submitted, 
Jonas Eno-Van Fleet, WCUUSD Board Clerk 

Berlin East Montpelier Calais 

Middlesex Worcester 

U- 32 

242



 
Washington Central Unified Union School District 

 
WCUUSD exists to nurture and inspire in all students the passion, creativity and power to contribute to 

their local and global communities. 
 
 

1130 Gallison Hill Road 
Montpelier, VT  05602  Bryan Olkowski 
Phone (802) 229-0553 Superintendent           
Fax (802) 229-2761          

 
Washington Central Unified Union School District 

Special Board Meeting 
6.16.21 8:00-9:00 AM  

 
 

Board Members:  Flor Diaz Smith, Chris McVeigh, Lindy Johnson, Scott Thompson, Diane 
Nichols-Fleming, Jonas Eno-Van Fleet, Dorothy Naylor, Stephen Looke, Vera Frazier, Kari 
Bradley, Jill Olson, Jonathan Goddard 
  
Administrators: Jim Garrity, Alicia Lyford, Gillian Fuqua, Alicia Lyford, Superintendent Bryan 
Olkowski, Lori Bibeau, Cat Fair, “Guest” 

 
 
1. Call to Order:  Flor Diaz Smith called the meeting to order at 8:00 a.m.  

 
2. Executive Session – Personnel:   

At 8:01, Dorothy Naylor moved to go into Executive Session to discuss personnel matters, to 
include Superintendent Bryan Olkowski. Seconded by Chris McVeigh, this motion carried 
unanimously. Flor Diaz Smith noted that the Executive Session to consider information and 
issues relative to the employment of public employees was pursuant to 1 V.S.A. Section 313. 
 
At 9:11 Jonas Eno-Van Fleet moved to leave the Executive Session. Seconded by Lindy 
Johnson, this motion was carried unanimously. During the Executive Session the Board 
discussed information and issues relative to the employment of public employees. 
 

3. Personnel, Approve New Teachers, Resignations, Retirements, Leave of Absence and 
Changes in FTE: Jonas Eno-Van Fleet moved to approve new teacher nominations for Sarah 
Sprague, Doty Art Teacher (.2 FTE) and Matthew Bruce, U-32 English Teacher. Seconded by 
Lindy Johnson, this motion carried unanimously. 

 
Jonas Eno-Van Fleet moved to approve long term substitute Matthew Cecere, U-32 Social 
Studies LTS. Seconded by Chris McVeigh, this motion carried unanimously. 

 
Jonas Eno-Van Fleet moved to approve the new hires of Kerra Holden, Director of Special 
Services, Susanne Gann, Business Administrator, and Erika Moore, U-32 School Social 
Worker. Seconded by Chris McVeigh, this motion carried unanimously. 

 
Chris McVeigh moved to approve .86 FTE new para educator support for Doty Elementary. 
Seconded by Dorothy Naylor, this motion carried unanimously. 
 

4. Adjourn:  Jonas Eno-Van Fleet moved to adjourn at 9:16.  Seconded by Diane Nichols-
Fleming, this motion carried unanimously. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
Jonas Eno-Van Fleet, WCUUSD Board Clerk 
 

Berlin East Montpelier Calais 

Middlesex Worcester 

U- 32 

243



Washington Central Unified Union School District 
 

WCUUSD exists to nurture and inspire in all students the passion, creativity and power to contribute to 
their local and global communities. 

 
 

1130 Gallison Hill Road 
Montpelier, VT  05602  Bryan Olkowski 
Phone (802) 229-0553 Superintendent          
Fax (802) 229-2761          
 
 

 
TO:     WCUUSD School Board  

FROM:  Bryan Olkowski, Superintendent of Schools   

RE:       Collective Bargaining Agreements   

DATE:    June 18, 2021      

 

 

All Board members have previously received both collective bargaining 
agreements and should closely review the text for errors in anticipation of motions 
to approve the collective bargaining agreements pending union ratification.   
 
 
 
Superintendent’s Motion:  
 
Motion to approve the collective bargaining agreements, contingent upon future 
union ratification.  
 
 
 
 

Berlin East Montpelier Calais 

Middlesex Worcester 

U- 32 

244



AGREEMENT 

between the 

WASHINGTON CENTRAL EDUCATORS UNION 

and the 

EDUCATIONAL SUPPORT PERSONNEL OF 

Berlin, Calais, Doty, East Montpelier, Rumney and U-32 Middle/High School 

and the 

WASHINGTON CENTRAL UNIFIED UNION  

SCHOOL BOARD 

  

July 1, 2020 
 

 2021 through June 30, 2021 
2023 

 
 

6/18/2021 4:55 PM 
  

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt

245



Table of Contents 
 

ARTICLE 1  –  RECOGNITION ................................................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 2  –  DEFINITIONS ..................................................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 3  –  RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES ................................................................................ 6 

ARTICLE 4  -  FAIR PRACTICES ............................................................................................... 7 

ARTICLE 5  –  DUES DEDUCTION ........................................................................................... 8 

ARTICLE 6  –  INDIVIDUAL CONTRACT RENEWAL ........................................................... 8 

ARTICLE 7  –  EVALUATIONS AND DISCIPLINE ............................................................... 10 

ARTICLE 8  –  REDUCTION IN FORCE .................................................................................. 12 

ARTICLE 9  –  CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT ................................................................. 15 

ARTICLE 10 – COMPENSATION ............................................................................................. 20 

ARTICLE 11 – INSURANCE ..................................................................................................... 21 

ARTICLE 12 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE ............................................................................ 29 

ARTICLE 13 – LEAVES AND ABSENCES .............................................................................. 32 

ARTICLE 14 – NOTICE OF VACANCIES AND TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES.................... 39 

ARTICLE 15 – GENERAL ......................................................................................................... 41 

ARTICLE 16 – NO STRIKE PLEDGE ....................................................................................... 42 

ARTICLE 17 – LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE ........................................................ 42 

ARTICLE 18 – EARLY RETIREMENT OPTIONS................................................................... 42 

ARTICLE 19 – ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF ARBITRATION .................................................. 42 

ARTICLE 20 -  DURATION OF AGREEMENT ....................................................................... 43 

 

APPENDIX A PUBLIC SCHOOL EMPLOYEE HEALTH BENEFITS 

APPENDIX B JOB CLASSIFICATIONS 

APPENDIX C SALARY SCHEDULES 

APPENDIX D1 HEALTH INSURANCE SUMMARY – ANNUAL COSTS 

APPENDIX D2 HEATH INSURANCE SUMMARY – BI-MONTHLY COST  

 

246



ARTICLE  1 – RECOGNITION 

 
1.1 The Board recognizes the Union as the exclusive representative of permanent full 

            and permanent part-time District Education Support Personnel (ESP) employed by the 

District, including custodial staff, maintenance and mechanics, office manager, 

administrative assistant staff, paraeducators, (including BI, PCA, pre-Kindergarten 

assistants and individual assistants), food service workers, assistant cook, cook and 

cook/food services agent.  Under this agreement, all rights as a paraeducator will be 

extended to the Behavior Interventionists, Personal Care Attendants, pre-K assistants 

and individual assistants employed by the District.  See job descriptions and/or 

Appendix B for further information.  

 

1.2  The following positions are excluded from this agreement:  All central office support 

staff, administrative assistants to the Principal, as well as lead custodian/maintenance 

staff.     

 

1.3 See also Appendix A, Article 11, which is incorporated by reference into this 

Agreement to the extent possible by statue. 

ARTICLE 2 – DEFINITIONS 
 

2.1 Board:  The corporate governing body of the Washington Central Unified Union School 

District.     

 

2.2 Administrator:  A person employed by the Board, the majority of whose time is 

assigned to administrative, managerial or supervisory duties and who is employed as a 

superintendent, assistant superintendent, principal, assistant principal, coordinator, or 

director.   

 

2.3 Educational Support Professional (ESP/Employee):  A person employed by the 

Board in the bargaining unit who is not employed as a licensed teacher, department 

247



director, department head or lead custodian/maintenance, excluding the positions 

identified in 1.2 of this Agreement. 

a. Requirements/Assignments/Compensation for BI’s and PCA’s

i. To serve in either of these roles, paraeducators must participate in a District

approved training prior to assignment and pay differential.

ii. Upon appointment to these positions (BI or PCA) the employee shall be

compensated with a ten percent (10%)will receive a one-time 10%

differential increase in their hourly rate (per Appendix C) when serving the

role. 

iii. If the position is no longer required due to change in a student’s enrollment

or program, the BI and/or PCA will be reassigned to a BI/PCA/Special

Education or general paraeducator position.  Should that not be possible,

article 8.3 will be enforced.

iv. The employee will be provided with a two week notice at which time the

10% differential will be removed from the compensation if they are no

longer assigned as a BI or PCA.

iv. 

b. Behavior Interventionists –

i. The Behavior Interventionist’s (BI) primary role is to carry out a co-

regulation and/or behavior plan as determined by a team and documented

in a student’s plan (IEP, 504, etc.).  This plan is developed by a highly

specialized professional with master level expertise in behavior

management or trauma informed practices.  The primary role of a BI is to

support students and maximize learning and success of a student with

challenging behavior.  The BI’s will implement an individualized support

plan in a variety of settings within the school and community.

c. Personal Care Attendants –

i. A Personal Care Attendant’s (PCA) primary role is to support a student

with intensive needs who is in need of daily support with personal care

needs (toileting, feeding, etc.) as required by and documented in a student’s

plan (IEP, 504, etc.).  A PCA delivers educational and support services, as

Commented [JEF1]: I made some small language changes in 
here for clarity, that I don’t think the union will blink at 

248



directed by the special education teacher.  The goal is to support the student 

and maximize learning and success through positive and meaningful 

experiences in and outside of the classroom.  The PCA will support the 

implementation of an Individualized Educational Plan designed by licensed 

professional staff in a variety of settings across the school and community. 

 

d. Any paraeducator who takes district approve BI/PCA training shall be 

compensated with a two percent (2%) increase in their hourly rate (per 

Appendix C).  This paraeducator can be assigned as a Behavior Interventionist, 

Personal Care Attendant, one-on-one, or general paraeducator.  As long as the 

paraeducator’s certifications are current they will receive the 2% increase.  If a 

paraeducator’s certification lapses, the 2% increase will be eliminated and the 

paraeducator will go back to step placement pay.  As much as possible these 

trainings will be offered during scheduled work days, or the paraeducator will 

be compensated at the regular hourly rate.  The District will be responsible for 

making any necessary training available to both new hires and current 

employees, as needed. 

 

2.4 Negotiations:  The process of meeting, conferring, consulting and discussing in good 

faith for the purpose of reaching an agreement as to matters of salary, related economic 

conditions of employment, grievance procedures, and other mutually agreed upon 

subjects not in conflict with laws or statutes of the State of Vermont. 

 

2.5 Days:   

a. Unless otherwise specified, "days" shall mean school days when school is in session, 

and weekdays when school is recessed for the summer. 

b. Maintenance mechanics and custodians may have a 40-hour workweek that will be 

 scheduled as needed Monday through Saturday.  

 

2.6 Singular:  Whenever the singular is used in this Agreement, it is to include the plural. 

 

Formatted: Normal,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Font color: Auto

Formatted

Commented [JEF2]: I tried to make the language here consistent 
with 2.3 a ii 

Formatted: Font color: Auto

Commented [JEF3]: This isn’t a “stipend” it’s a rate increase, 
right? 

Formatted: Font color: Auto

249



2.7 Full-time Employment:  Forty (40) hours per week constitutes full-time employment 

for a full year ESP; thirty-five (35) hours per week constitutes full-time employment for 

a school year ESP.  ESPs regularly scheduled to work at least thirty-five (35) hours per 

week are eligible for full-time employment benefits.  

 

2.8 Designee:  Whenever the term “Board”, “Superintendent”, “Principal” or “Union” is 

used herein it shall be understood that the term includes any person acting as the 

designee or agent of such entity or official, unless otherwise precluded by this 

agreement. 

  

2.9 School District:  Washington Central Unified Union School District comprises Berlin 

Elementary School, Calais Elementary School, Doty Memorial School, East Montpelier 

Elementary School, Rumney Memorial School and U-32 Middle and High School. 

 

2.10 Prorated:  If an ESP works part-time or does not work a full contract year, benefits are 

prorated based on their contract percentage as compared to the full-time ESP position.  

Please see your school’s Principal’s Administrative Assistant for your exact paid leave 

and professional development amounts. 

ARTICLE 3 – RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES 
 

3.1 Rights of the Union 

a. The Union shall have the right to use such facilities and equipment as is normally 

located for ESPs' use within the schools and school technology equipment.  Such use 

of facilities or equipment shall be at unassigned times and upon appropriate request 

to the principal or designee; however, such use shall not interfere with the teaching 

of pupils or interrupt normal school operations.   

 

b. Any cost for required custodial services, or cost for repair or replacement of 

equipment or materials damaged by the negligent use of the equipment or facilities, 

will be borne by the Union.   

250



 

c. Duly authorized representatives of the Union shall be permitted to transact official 

business on school property at unassigned times; provided this shall not interfere 

with normal school operations. 

 

d.  The Union shall have the right to use the staff workroom or lounge for the posting of 

notices of its activities and matters of Union concern. 

 

e. An ESP has the right to become a candidate for public office to the extent permitted 

by state and federal law. 

 

f. The Union may use the ESP’s mailboxes and e-mail for communications. 

 
g. The Union retains all rights granted by law.  

 

3.2   Rights of the Board  

a. Except as specifically and directly modified by express language in a specific 

provision of this contract, the Board retains all rights and powers it has, or may 

hereafter be granted, by law.  Such rights include the exclusive right to set its policy, 

to manage its business, to direct the working forces, to determine the number of its 

ESP, to determine the qualifications of its ESP, to assign ESP to jobs, to determine 

the hourly, daily, and weekly schedules of work, to determine the methods, 

processes and means of accomplishing work, and to enforce discipline for violation 

of rules and other misconduct.  

 

b. The Board may require employees to complete time reports and other employment 

related forms as the Board deems necessary for the proper administration of the 

District. 

ARTICLE 4 - FAIR PRACTICES 
 

251



4.1 The Union agrees to maintain its obligation to represent all ESP by continuing to admit 

persons to membership without discrimination on the basis of race, religion, creed, 

color, national origin, sex, gender identification, sexual orientation, political affiliation, 

marital status, ancestry, place of birth, age or disability, and to represent equally all ESP 

without regard to membership or participation in, or association with, the activities of 

any ESP organization.   

4.2 The Board agrees to continue its policy of nondiscrimination against ESP on the basis of 

race, religion, creed, color, national origin, sex, gender identification, sexual orientation, 

political affiliation, marital status, ancestry, place of birth, age, disability, or 

membership or participation in, or association with the activities of any ESP 

organization. 

ARTICLE 5 – DUES DEDUCTION 

5.1 The Board agrees to the principle of payroll deduction of Union dues in amounts to be 

determined by the Union, on forms mutually agreed to by the parties. 

5.2 In accordance with the date of the Agreement entered into, by and between the Board 

and the Union, the Union shall produce for the Board a Dues Authorization Form.  The 

form shall have the authorized signature of the ESP, the amount to be deducted from the 

ESP's salary, and the date of authorization. 

5.3 The Board shall deduct the appropriate amount of dues from the salary of any ESP 

beginning with a first pay period after the date of the authorized dues Check-Off Form.  

These deductions will be withheld using the same dates as the payroll dates. 

5.4 The Board shall pay to the Union on a monthly basis all dues properly collected. 

ARTICLE 6 – INDIVIDUAL CONTRACT RENEWAL 

252



6.1 The Board shall issue an individual employment contract to the ESP of the bargaining 

unit annually.  Contracts for the following school year shall be issued on or before May 

1.  All individual contracts shall be subject to the reduction in force provisions of this 

Agreement.  ESP will return their signed individual employment contracts on or before 

June 1.  An ESP may request an extension of the return date by written request to the 

Superintendent made prior to the date the signed contract was due.   

 

6.2 If an ESP wishes to resign a position, they shall notify the Principal, in writing, giving  

at least ten (10) days’ notice thereof.  Once an ESP has tendered their resignation, either 

verbally or in writing, it may only be rescinded with the approval of the Superintendent.  

Verbal resignations will have a 24 hour reconsideration period. 

 

6.3 A.  The probation period begins on the first day of work. 

 
B. All new ESP will serve a three- month probationary period with an evaluation at the 

culmination of the three- month period.  If necessary the ESP will serve and an 

additional three month probationary period with written notification.  An additional 

three- month probationary period may be  of up to nine months may be added by the 

Administration with written notice if necessary. 

 

C.  No ESP who has successfully completed the probationary period shall be disciplined, 

suspended, dismissed, or reprimanded without just and sufficient cause.   

 
D.  Prior to the dismissal of an ESP during the probationary period, the ESP has the right 

to have a review with the supervisor, an administrator and a Union representative.  The 

ESP may waive this right.  

 
E.  If an ESP is dismissed during the probationary period, the reason for the dismissal  

will be documented.  Such action by the Board shall not be made the subject of a 

grievance under this Agreement.  

Commented [JEF4]: GREEN LIGHT FOR 6.3 

253



ARTICLE 7 – EVALUATIONS AND DISCIPLINE 

7.1 The purpose of evaluation is to maintain a competent qualified staff and to promote its 

continuing development.   

7.2 Newly hired ESP will be given a copy of their job description, the current ESP collective 

bargaining agreement, and the current evaluation rubric for their position upon initial 

employment, if requested.  ESP contracts will also indicate where that information may 

be found online.  ESP will receive copies of the revised job description when it changes.  

A meeting will happen between the ESP and supervisor to revise and/or discuss the job 

description if it no longer accurately reflects the position for said calendar year.  

7.3 Supervision should be ongoing with constructive feedback given whenever it is needed 

to help the ESP to perform to the best of their ability.  A written evaluation will be given 

as follows: 

a. Evaluations for all ESP will be completed by April 1 of the current school year in

which the evaluation is due.  A standard evaluation form will be used.

b. Evaluations for Pre-Kindergarten Assistants, Paraeducators, Individual Assistants,

Academic Coordinators and Behavior/Personal Care Attendants will follow the

process articulated in the District wide Paraeducator Supervision and Evaluation:

Evaluation and Reflection checklist, to include use of the Focused

Assistance/Improving Current Practice document, as amended from time to time.

At least annually, there will be a meeting of the Union and Administration, with

equal representation, to review the evaluation process and forms.

c. ESP will be evaluated by a single supervisor; however, the evaluator may seek out

and incorporate feedback about the ESP’s performance from other school employees

who interact with the ESP on a regular basis.  The identity of other school employees

whose feedback is sought and incorporated into the ESP’s evaluation shall be made

known to the ESP.  The ESP being evaluated may identify other staff that shall be

consulted during the evaluation process.  Supervision, evaluation and goal setting

Commented [JEF5]: GREEN LIGHT FOR 7.2 

254



will be based upon procedures developed by the administration; evaluation and goal 

setting, however, will not occur in the same year.   

d. Paraeducators and Behavior/Personal Care Attendants with less than two years’

experience in the District will be evaluated annually based on the current evaluation

instrument.  Paraeducators and Behavior/Personal Care Attendants with two or more

years of experience in the District will be subject to formal evaluation of their

performance every other year, unless there is a reason to place the Paraeducator or

Behavior/Personal Care attendant on a focused assistance plan.  In the alternating

years the Paraeducator and Behavior/Personal Care Attendants will participate in the

goal setting and self-reflection process. 

e. If an ESP receives an unsatisfactory evaluation, the ESP can ask for a review by an

Administrator other than the person who prepared the unsatisfactory evaluation. The

ESP shall have the right to have a Union Representative present at any supervisory

meetings relating to this evaluation process.

f. It is agreed that ESP will not be expected to use non-contracted hours to achieve

school year goals.

7.4 Discipline Procedures: 

1. First offense:  A verbal warning will be given to the ESP.

2. Second offense:  Either a verbal warning with documentation or a written reprimand

will be given, depending on the seriousness of the issue.  The document will be

placed in the ESP’s official personnel file.

3. Third offense:  A written reprimand will be given and it will go into the ESP’s

official personnel file.

4. Fourth offense: ESP will receive an unpaid suspension or be subject to termination,

depending on circumstances.

255



While the employer will normally follow progressive discipline, the employer reserves 

the right to bypass any or all steps of the discipline procedure, and reserves the right to 

impose any level of discipline it deems appropriate to the situation, provided that there is 

just cause for the discipline.  

A written reprimand is good for one year provided there is no re-occurrence of the 

conduct at issue. After a year, the written reprimand would drop back to a level 2 

offense (verbal warning with documentation). The written reprimand will stay in the file 

for seven (7) years, at which time the written reprimand will be removed at the request 

of the ESP. 

ARTICLE 8 – REDUCTION IN FORCE 

8.1 In the event that a reduction in force is deemed necessary by the Board, the president of 

the Union shall be notified within five (5) days of when the Board took this action. 

8.2     Reduction in force shall first be accomplished by staff turnover whenever possible.  

a. ESP will have reduction in force rights in their current job classification within the

District.  If ESP turnover does not eliminate the need for a reduction in force, the

ESP with the least seniority in the affected classification shall be laid off, provided

that remaining ESP are qualified to perform the work.  However, a more senior ESP

may be laid off before a less senior ESP if the Board can show that there is a

demonstrably significant difference in training, knowledge, experience and

performance between that senior ESP and each less senior ESP of those employed in

the classification.   Seniority will be followed when training, knowledge, experience

and performance are equal.

b. (1) For purposes of this Article, seniority within the District will be computed from

the beginning of the ESP’s most recent period of continuous employment within the

District in the job classification. This period of continuous employment will begin to

accrue as of the first day worked for the District. Seniority will be determined by the

first day of work.  If it is equal, it will be determined by the date the ESP signed the

256



contract with the District.  In the event an ESP accepts a bargaining unit position in a 

different classification within the District they shall begin to accrue seniority in the 

new classification, but shall retain their former seniority in the previous 

classification, which shall be restored to them in the event the ESP returns to a 

position in the previous classification within the District without a break in service. 

(2) The provisions of this sub-section shall become applicable at such time as the 

Superintendent provides Special Education and other remedial services as required 

by Act 153 or 46, as may be amended.  All Paraeducators and Behavior/Personal 

Care Attendants covered by this Agreement, either currently or as a result of 

compliance with Act 153 or 46 (as may be amended) shall become employees of the 

District.  For purposes of this Article, seniority among Paraeducators and 

Behavior/Personal Care Attendants employed by the District will be computed from 

the beginning of the Paraeducator’s and Behavior/Personal Care Attendant’s most 

recent period of continuous employment in the job classification within the District.  

This period of continuous employment will begin to accrue as of the first day 

worked for the District. Seniority will be determined by the first day of work.  If it is 

equal, it will be determined by the date the Paraeducator or Behavior/Personal Care 

Attendant signed the contract with the District.  The job classifications covered by 

this section and the use of the general term ‘paraeducator’ shall include 

Paraeducators, Individual Assistants, Pre-Kindergarten Assistants, Behavior 

Interventionists and Personal Care Attendants. 

c. Upon an ESP changing jobs within the District, due to RIF or Recall from RIF all of

the ESP’s leave benefits shall carry forward to the ESP’s new job/classification,

insofar as the new position has comparable benefits; otherwise, leave would be

handled as if the ESP separates from employment with the District.

d. Seniority will continue to accrue during all paid leaves of absence.  Seniority will

not be broken by unpaid leaves of absence, or by layoff, but such time will not be

counted in computing seniority.

257



e. Seniority in the District will be established annually as of February 1 for the

preceding fiscal year.

f. ESP regularly scheduled to work at least thirty-five (35) hours per week accrue

seniority on a full-time basis; ESP regularly scheduled to work less than thirty-five

(35) hours per week accrue seniority on a pro-rata basis.

g. When seniority is equal, input from evaluations and recommendations by immediate

supervisor will be taken into consideration and the Superintendent will make the

final decision.

8.3 An ESP hired to work specifically with an individual student may be laid off with two 

weeks’ notice in the event the student moves, transfers, or there is a change in the 

student’s Plan so that the individual ESP is no longer required.  An ESP so notified may 

apply for any open bargaining unit position within the District for which they are 

qualified, and shall be given preference in the filling of the position. The ESP will be 

made aware of this clause at the time of hire and/or assignment to position.  

8.4 If there is a vacancy in a negotiating unit position within the District, laid off ESP who 

are currently qualified to perform the work in the job classification and who were laid 

off will be recalled in seniority order.  Laid off ESP shall retain the right to recall for a 

period of two (2) years beginning September 1 following the effective date of layoff.  

Notice of recall will be given by certified mail to the last address given to the Board by 

the ESP.  A copy of the notice of recall will be given to the Union.  If an ESP refuses a 

recall one time to a position with comparable pay and FTE or does not respond within 

the 12-day period, the ESP will be removed from the 2-year recall list. 

8.5 In the event that the laid off ESP is unable to obtain other group health insurance, the 

Board shall permit the ESP to continue in the current medical insurance plan under 

COBRA at the group rate which the school District pays, provided this does not conflict 

with the insurance carrier’s regulations.  

258



ARTICLE 9 – CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT 

9.1 A.  Work Year:  The work year for all school year ESPs shall consist of all student 

contact days, and such other days as may be deemed necessary for in-service training, 

professional development or other activities required by the District.  For full-time 

employees the number of work days and the number of hours scheduled for each work 

day shall be as outlined in Appendix B. 

B.  Part time ESP may be scheduled to work fewer days per school year or fewer hours 

per day.  The number of hours scheduled for each work day shall be included in each 

ESP’s individual contract.   

C.  In the event an employee is asked to work additional days beyond the contracted 

work year the employee shall be compensated at their regular rate when the duties are a 

continuation of the contracted school year duties.  

D.  An ESP’s contract shall specify the primary location(s) of the work assignment(s). 

E.  By mutual agreement of the employee and the Superintendent a flexible work 

schedule could be developed.  This will include the possibility of job sharing a position. 

F.  All Paraeducators, Behavior/Personal Care Attendants will be notified by September 

1, which days will be scheduled for in-service. 

G. In-service days will be the same across the District. 

9.2 Additional Time:  Any additional hours or days beyond contract requested by the 

Administration shall be scheduled at a mutually agreed upon time and shall be paid at 

the ESP’s hourly rate.  

9.3 School Closing:  When schools are closed due to severe weather conditions or other 

circumstances other than a declared emergency, the ESP, with the exception of 

custodians and 12-month ESPs, will not be required or requested to work on that day.  

Should the dismissal time at the end of the school day be altered in response to 

emergency conditions, including but not limited to snow conditions, the workday for 

Commented [JEF6]: GREEN LIGHT FOR 9.3 

259



ESP, with the exception of custodians and maintenance mechanics and 12-month ESPs 

(see Sub-sections 9.3 a and c), will end upon departure of all the buses.  A contract day 

is fulfilled when the early release or late start is counted as a student day.  

a. A supervisor may require certain ESP to work as needed during late start, early

release or school closing.  ESP who are required to work while other ESP in the

same classification are released will receive compensation for the extra time, paid as

either straight time (1.0 hourly rate) or overtime (1.5 hourly rate), as applicable.

b. For 12-month ESP, if the Washington Central Unified Union School District Central

Office is closed due to severe weather conditions, schools will also be considered

closed.  The contract day will be considered fulfilled and the ESP will not have to

work the remaining hours to receive a day’s pay.  Any time the Principal sends ESP

home due to emergency conditions, the ESP will be paid for the remainder of the

hours they are scheduled to work.

c. If a 12-month ESP reports to work and the school is subsequently closed due to

inclement weather or other circumstances, the Principal or designee may authorize

the supervisor(s) of such ESP to release them from further work obligations that day

without loss of the full day’s pay.

9. 4 Mileage:  a.  Transportation costs authorized in writing, and incurred in connection with

the school program will be reimbursed at the rate established by the IRS at the rate 

current at the time of the transportation. 

b. An employee who is transferred between schools during the school year will be

compensated until the end of the school year, or until the employee is transferred back to 

their original location, for any additional mileage travelled between the employee’s 

home and the new work locations which exceeds the mileage the employee would 

normally travel between home and the original work location.  Reimbursement shall be 

at the prevailing IRS mileage rate. 

Commented [JEF7]: GREEN LIGHT FOR 9.4 

Commented [JEF8]: Added this language 

260



9.5 Calendar:  The Superintendent shall consult with the Union representatives regarding 

the school calendar.  This will align with the new Teachers’ Contract.  

9.6 Biweekly Payment:  ESP’s on permanent contract will receive 26 (twenty-six) 

substantially equal payments.  The ESP will have direct deposit in a savings or checking 

account, and will execute applicable authorization to implement direct deposit.  Copies 

of paystub information will be sent via email with a downloadable PDF for employee 

records.    Employees hired prior to July 1, 2019 will also have the option for a payroll 

check.  All summer biweekly salary payments will be distributed on or before the last 

scheduled work day.  The final paycheck for the month of June will be issued in the 

normal payroll cycle. 

9.7 Deductions:  Upon request by the individual ESP’s, payroll deductions in the following 

areas will be honored: 

Section 125 – pretax cafeteria plan:  
● Premium Expense Reimbursement Account (Health and Dental) 
● Dependent Care Flexible Spending Account  
● Health Flexible Spending Account (“FSA”) 

 
The specific terms of the various Reimbursement and spending accounts 
identified above can be found in the Section 125 Cafeteria Plan 
documents, which shall govern in the event of any discrepancy or 
ambiguity. 
  

403(b) Investment Accounts with Vendor(s) as agreed per plan document 
Computer Purchase Program 
Education Union dues  

 

9.8  Workday, duty free lunch: The workday for each ESP shall be determined by the 

Board annually at the time individual contracts are issued.  The workday for all staff 

employed at least five (5) hours per day shall include a paid, 30 continuous minute duty-

free lunch, to be scheduled between 10:30 a.m. and 12:30 p.m. at U-32, and during the 

time the cafeteria is open for lunch at the elementary schools.   

9.9 Professional Development:   

Commented [JEF9]: GREEN LIGHT FOR 9.6 

261



Prepayment or reimbursement shall be made to an ESP for professional development 

activities such as trainings, workshops, conferences, and courses related to the 

improvement of their current work. Professional development activities require pre-

approval from the principal or designee.  Each ESP is eligible for professional 

development activities up to an amount equivalent to four (4) CCV credits per year 

related to the improvement of their current work.  Required professional development 

activities will count towards this total.  

9.10 Retirement: 

a. Any ESP may make a voluntary deposit of their own funds to a 403(b) Pretax

Retirement Fund via payroll deduction.  The allowable amount of such deposits may

be limited by the terms of the retirement plan or by IRS Regulations.

b. The Union and the Board agree to maintain a 403(b) retirement plan for the benefit

of the ESP employed by the District.  For each full-time ESP hired before 7/1/2019

who has been employed at least two (2) years the Board contribution to this Plan

shall be six and one-quarter percent (6.25%) of the base wages paid per the

individual ESP’s contract with the District.  Once the account is established, the

contribution will be deposited each pay period to the account of that ESP.  All such

employer contributions shall become immediately vested in full.  (Only one

employer match allowed, either 403(b) or VMERS, but not both).

c. New participants will be processed in December and June of each year with

contributions retro-active to the date of the ESP’s 2nd (second) anniversary. Once the 

account is established, the contribution will be deposited each pay period to the 

account of that ESP.      this goes away as of 7/1/21    

d. Employees hired beginning July 1, 2019, are required to participate in the VMERS

retirement plan B with the board contribution the same percentage (6 6.25%)

e. ESP employees hired before July 1, 2019 have the option to participate in (9.10b)

403(b) retirement plan or (9.10d) VMERS retirement plan B.

Commented [JEF10]: More curiosity, these are not negotiated 
changes, I’m sure you’ve told me and it’s gone in one ear and out 
the other, but what’s the origin of these changes to 9.10? 

262



f. Rumney ESP employees hired before July 1, 2019 and participating in VMERS

retirement plan A can continue to contribute to VMERS retirement plan A unless

otherwise required by applicable policies of VMERS.

9.11  Miscellaneous Benefits: 

a. All ESP shall have the right to ride the school bus, subject to space availability.  The

ESP will show valid school ID or a signed note from the principal or designee.

b. The cost of any physical or medical examination required by the District or by State

law shall be paid for by the District.

c. The District shall provide six (6) uniform shirts, with replacement as needed, for all

custodial, maintenance and cafeteria ESP.  These will be gender specific and in a

fabric that is approved by a majority of these employees.  A group purchase with the

school logo will be made by the District.  Uniforms will be maintained by the

employee and are required to be worn while on duty.  All buildings and grounds and

maintenance personnel will be reimbursed for safety boots (plain black or brown)

upon approval of their supervisor following purchase and with appropriate receipts.  

The cost shall not exceed $200 per year.  All custodial, maintenance, and cafeteria 

ESP will be provided one (1) pair of job performance appropriate footwear (as 

determined by their supervisor) annually. The footwear will be available through a 

selection of footwear provided by a District approved vendor.  This footwearThese 

boots will become part of the District uniform. 

d. A mutually agreed upon dress code will be developed with ESP representation and

School Administration.

e. All newly hired ESP shall be reimbursed the cost of their pre-employment criminal

background check following one (1) year of employment. Reimbursement to the

staff member will be made in the first payroll period of November following one (1)

year of service.

Commented [JEF11]: GREEN LIGHT FOR 9.11 c, I made a 
couple of minor copy edits in here 

263



f. Elementary Paraeducators and Behavior/Personal Care Attendants will be provided

with an electronic device to perform professional duties.

9.12 Background checks:  The Superintendent reserves the right to conduct criminal record 

checks and to review applicable data banks for information relating to substantiated 

charges of neglect or abuse to the extent allowed or required by law.  Employees and 

applicants for employment will execute such authorizations as may be necessary to 

accomplish that objective.   

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement the Board may issue a 

conditional contract of employment to an applicant subject to receipt of the applicant’s 

criminal records check and/or substantiation of abuse from the Vermont Child  

Protection Registry, the Vulnerable Adult Registry or the Sex Offender Registry.  The 

Parties agree that if an applicant is discovered to have a criminal record, or a 

substantiated case of neglect or abuse, the conditional contract may be terminated, and 

in that event the applicant shall have no further rights under this Agreement. 

9.13 ESP may be reassigned to other duty by their supervisor provided they have the training 

needed. 

9.14 Crime and Fidelity Insurance:  An ESP required to be responsible for cash processing 

will be covered under the District’s Crime and Fidelity Insurance.  Any ESP required to 

make bank deposits shall be allowed to do so during the workday, and will be fully 

compensated for travel pursuant to the provisions of Section 9.4 herein, to be paid on a 

monthly basis. 

ARTICLE 10 – COMPENSATION 

10.1     During the school year beginning July 1, 20202021 through June 30, 20212023, the 

hourly rates for staff members employed under this Agreement by the WCUUSD Board 

of Directors shall be as set forth in Appendix C.     

Commented [JEF12]: Changed end date to 2023 

264



10.2 a.  The superintendent has the authority to place each new ESP on the salary schedule 

based on the ESP’s comparable prior education and experience, but not higher than a 

current ESP employed in the same classification within the District with like experience.  

 

b. ESP’s who are hired with previous experience in the District shall receive credit for 

that experience.  

 

c. The Union will be notified prior to the creation of any new position or classification. 

Upon request, the administration will meet with representatives of the Union to discuss 

the proposal. 

 

10.3 a.  Overtime will be paid for hours actually worked over 40 (forty) hours per week.  The 

Board retains the right to schedule assigned overtime work to full year and extended 

school year ESPs. The Board will first seek qualified volunteers for additional work, and 

will offer the work in seniority order to qualified employees.  In the event no employee 

accepts the additional work offered, the employer may require the least senior qualified 

employee to perform the work. 

      b.  b. Non-classroom Class 1 and non-classroom Class 2 ESP will receive one 15-minute 

duty-free break, which is not to be used to extend lunch, and they will receive a 30-

minute duty-free lunch period. 

 

      c.  Changes in the academic daily schedule or school year calendar may be grounds for   

 opening up this section of the contract. 

 

      d.  Any shift change will be mutually agreed to by the respective ESP and their 

 supervisor. 

 
ARTICLE 11 – INSURANCE 

 
11.1 Health Insurance   

Commented [JEF13]: GREEN LIGHT FOR 10.3 b HUZZAH 

Commented [JEF14]: Added this so it’s absolutely, rock-solid 
clear who we are talking about here. 

Commented [JEF15]: Everything in section 11 is out of the 
Board’s hands, right? 

265



1. During the period July 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020 the premium

sharing and responsibility for out of pocket (OOP) expenses relating to the 

health insurance program shall be as follows: 

Effective July 1, 2020 ESPs may enroll in one (1) of the four (4) group health plans 

offered by VEHI.  The District will contribute an amount of money toward the cost 

of health insurance premium for the plan selected by a full-time ESP equal to 80% 

of the premium costs for the VEHI Gold CDHP Plan.  A ESP electing coverage 

under the VEHI Gold CDHP Plan or a more expensive group health Plan offered 

by VEHI will pay the difference in premium cost between the cost of the Plan 

selected and the amount contributed by the District.  An ESP selecting coverage 

under a less expensive Plan offered by VEHI may apply the District’s premium 

contribution to the cost of the Plan selected in an amount up to but not to exceed 

the full cost of the annual premium for that Plan. (See Appendix D) 

An eligible ESP may select single, two-person, parent and child(ren) or family coverage 

under any of the available plans offered by VEHI. 

In addition to the premium contributions referenced above, the District will establish and 

maintain a Health Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA) for ESPs who select 

coverage under any of the Plans offered by VEHI.  ESPs and the District will share 

responsibility for the payment of deductibles, co-payments and/or co-insurance 

required under each Plan offered by VEHI as follows: 

Gold CDHP Plan: Maximum out of pocket (OOP) costs of $2,500 single coverage, 

$5,000 other coverages. The Board is responsible for the first 100% of OOP costs 

required under the level of coverage selected, which is currently $2500 for single 

and $5000 for all other coverage levels (i.e., two person, parent/child/ family).  

The Board will fund these amounts through a Health Reimbursement Arrangement 

(HRA). 

Platinum Plan:  Maximum out of pocket (OOP) costs of $2,800 single coverage, 

$5,600 other coverages. The Board will have the same monetary obligation to fund 

the first dollar of OOP costs required under the Platinum Plan that the Board has 

under the Gold CDHP Plan, based on the level of coverage selected.  ESPs will be 

Commented [JEF16]: I imagine when you reformat this blank 
section will disappear 

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.88", Tab
stops:  0.5", Left +  0.88", Left +  1.3", Left

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

266



financially responsible to pay the difference in last dollar OOP costs associated 

with the Platinum Plan, based on the level of coverage selected.   The Board will 

fund its share of the OOP costs under the Platinum Plan through an HRA.   

 Gold Plan: Maximum out of pocket (OOP) costs of $3,100 single coverage, $6,200 

other coverages. The Board will have the same monetary obligation to fund the 

first dollar of OOP costs required under the Gold Plan that the Board has under the 

Gold CDHP Plan, based on the level of coverage selected.  ESPs will be 

financially responsible to pay the difference in last dollar OOP costs associated 

with the Gold Plan, based on the level of coverage selected.   The Board will fund 

its share of the OOP costs under the Gold Plan through an HRA.  

 Silver Plan:  Maximum out of pocket (OOP) costs of $4,000 single coverage, $8,000 

other coverages. The Board will have the same monetary obligation to fund the 

first dollar of OOP costs required under the Silver Plan that the Board has under 

the Gold CDHP Plan, based on the level of coverage selected.  ESPs will be 

financially responsible to pay the difference in last dollar OOP costs associated 

with the Silver Plan, based on the level of coverage selected.   The Board will fund 

its share of the OOP costs under the Silver Plan through an HRA.  

21. Effective January 1, 2021, pursuant to 16 V.S.A chapter 61 (Commission on 

Public School Employee Health Benefits) health care benefits and coverage, 

excluding stand-alone vision and dental benefits, but including health 

reimbursement arrangements and health savings accounts, shall be governed 

by the written agreement incorporating the terms of the statewide health 

insurance bargaining found in Appendix A of this collective bargaining 

agreement.  

2.  Effective January 1, 2021 the Health Insurance Program for full time ESPs shall be as 

follows: 

a. ESPs may enroll in one (1) of the four (4) group health plans offered by VEHI.  

The District will contribute eighty percent (80%) of the premium cost of the 

VEHI Gold CDHP Plan toward the premium cost of either the VEHI Platinum, 

Gold or Gold CDHP Plan as selected by the ESP for any tier of coverage.  An 

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5"

267



ESP electing coverage under either the VEHI Platinum, Gold or Gold CDHP 

plan will pay the difference in premium cost between the cost of the Plan 

selected and the amount that would have been contributed by the District to the 

cost of the same coverage under the Gold CDHP Plan.  The District will 

contribute eighty percent (80%) of the premium cost of the VEHI Silver CDHP 

Plan toward the premium cost of the VEHI Silver CDHP Plan as selected by 

the ESP for any tier of coverage.  An ESP electing coverage under the VEHI 

Silver CDHP plan will pay the difference in premium cost between the cost of 

the Plan selected and the amount contributed by the District to the cost of that 

coverage. 

b. An eligible ESP may select single, two-person, parent and child(ren) or family

coverage under any of the available plans offered by VEHI. 

In addition to the premium contributions referenced above, the District will establish and 

maintain a Health Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA) for ESPs who select coverage 

under any of the Plans offered by VEHI.  ESPs and the District will share responsibility 

for the payment of deductibles, co-payments and/or co-insurance required under each 

Plan offered by VEHI as follows: 

Gold CDHP Plan: Maximum out of pocket (OOP) costs of $2,500 single coverage, 

$5,000 other coverages. The Board is responsible for the first $2,200 of OOP costs for 

single and the first $4,400 of OOP costs for all other coverage levels (i.e., two person, 

parent/child/ family).  The Board will fund these amounts through a Health 

Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA). ESPs are responsible to pay the remaining OOP 

costs: single $300, two person, parent/child, family $600. 

Silver CDHP Plan: Maximum out of pocket (OOP) costs of $4,000 single coverage, 

$8,000 other coverages. The Board is responsible for the first $2,200 of OOP costs for 

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.88" +
Tab after:  1.13" + Indent at:  1.13"

268



single and the first $4,400 of OOP costs for all other coverage levels (i.e., two person, 

parent/child/ family). The Board will fund these amounts either through a Health 

Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA) or a Health Savings Account (HSA) at the 

discretion of the individual ESP.  ESP will be financially responsible to pay the 

difference in last dollar OOP cost associated with the Silver CDHP Plan based on level 

of coverage selected – single $1,800, two person, parent/child, family $3600.  

 

 Platinum Plan:  Maximum out of pocket (OOP) costs of $2,800 single coverage, $5,600 

other coverages. The Board will have the same monetary obligation to fund the first 

dollar of OOP costs required under the Platinum Plan that the Board has under the Gold 

CDHP Plan, based on the level of coverage selected.  ESPs will be financially 

responsible to pay the difference in last dollar OOP costs associated with the Platinum 

Plan, based on the level of coverage selected – single $600, two person, parent/child, 

family $1,200.   The Board will fund its share of the OOP costs under the Platinum Plan 

through an HRA.   

 

 Gold Plan: Maximum out of pocket (OOP) costs of $3,100 single coverage, $6,200 other 

coverages. The Board will have the same monetary obligation to fund the first dollar of 

OOP costs required under the Gold Plan that the Board has under the Gold CDHP Plan, 

based on the level of coverage selected.  ESPs will be financially responsible to pay the 

difference in last dollar OOP costs associated with the Gold Plan, based on the level of 

coverage selected – single $900, two person, parent/child, family $1, 800.   The Board 

will fund its share of the OOP costs under the Gold Plan through an HRA.  

 

 There will be no pro-ration of the District’s contribution toward HRA funding for 

ESPs who become employed or eligible for insurance after January 31 of any Plan 

Year.   

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Hanging:  0.38"

269



 Funds in the HRA will be available and may be used solely to pay for qualified medical 

and prescription drug expenses that track towards the annual deductible, co-payment or 

co-insurance expenses required by the Plan selected.  There shall be no payments caps 

on a “per participant” basis other than the maximum HRA contribution made by the 

District.   

 Payments for eligible OOP charges incurred will be made automatically to the Provider.  

 The WCUUSD Flexible Benefits Plan document will allow employees to roll over funds 

from one calendar year to the next to the extent allowed by law.  

 Unspent funds in the District’s HRA will not roll over or accumulate from year to year, 

but will revert to the District, subject to a ninety (90) day run out period.   

 Any substantive or procedural issue related to the operation or administration of the 

HRA Plan not specified herein is left to the discretion of the District. 

 The Board will be responsible for the administrative costs of operating the HRA plan. 
  

b. c  In cases where ESP who are either married to each other or are civil union 

partners and are both employed under the terms of this agreement, one ESP shall select 

primary coverage and the other shall be covered as a dependent. 

 

c. d  All premium rebates received will be divided and distributed between the 

District and the ESP’s employed thereunder based on the respective percentage of 

premiums paid by each party. 

 

d. eEmployees can convert employee-paid health and dental insurance premiums, 

deductibles, co-payments, co-insurance and uninsured medical and dental expenses to pre-

tax expenses in the WCUUSD Flexible Benefits Plan. The set-up and maintenance costs 

for said plan will be borne by the Board.  ESP’s shall pay their share of health and dental 

insurance premium costs through the WCUUSD Flexible Benefits Plan established for that 

purpose. 

 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.38",  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.38",  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.38",  No bullets or numbering

270



f  ESP eligible for health insurance benefits who neither elect coverage nor receive 

coverage as a dependent shall receive thirty-five hundred dollars ($3,500.00) in addition to 

their salary, provided the ESP demonstrates proof of health insurance coverage for the 

ESP and their dependents from another source. 

 

b. g.  Effective January 1, 2021: A ESP’s domestic partner and/or the children of that 

domestic partner is considered a dependent for the purpose of health insurance benefits 

under this Agreement.  An ESP seeking to obtain health insurance benefits for their 

domestic partner shall satisfy the following criteria and submit the attached affidavit, 

signed by both parties, to the district business office.  The monetary value of the health 

benefits provided to ESPs on behalf of their domestic partner may constitute taxable 

income and the ESP receiving the value of such benefits is solely responsible for any 

resulting tax liability. The following criteria must be met: 

 

(1) The ESP and the domestic partner are each other’s sole domestic partner 

and have been in an enduring domestic relationship sharing a residence for not 

less than six (6) consecutive months before enrolling in the district’s health 

insurance plan; and  

(2) The ESP and the domestic partner are3 at least eighteen (18) years of age or 

older; and 

(3)  Neither the ESP nor the domestic partner is married to anyone; and  

(4) the ESP and the domestic partner are not related by blood closer than would 

bar marriage under Vermont Law; and 

(5) The ESP and the domestic partner are competent to enter into a legally 

binding contract; and  

(6) the ESP and the domestic partner have agreed between themselves to be 

responsible for each other’s welfare.  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.38",  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: List Paragraph, Line spacing:  single,  No bullets
or numbering, Tab stops: Not at  0.88" +  1.8" +  2.3" + 
2.8" +  3.3" +  3.8" +  4.3" +  4.8" +  5.3" +  5.8"

271



(7) Children of a ESP’s domestic partner are eligible for coverage hereunder provided that 

they meet the eligibility criteria for dependent children under the eligibility provisions for 

school health benefit coverage; the child or children can be claimed as a dependent by the 

ESP and/or the domestic partner for federal income tax purposes; the child or children 

reside with the ESP and the domestic partner; and the ESP and the domestic partner have 

agreed between themselves to be jointly responsible for the child or children’s welfare. 

 

11.3 Insurance Benefits for Part-time ESP 

 

e. Effective January 1, 2021: A ESP employed under this Agreement shall 

receive pro-rated insurance benefits if he/she is contracted to work at least 17.5 hours a 

week.  The Board will pay a percentage of the premium amount the Board would have 

contributed on behalf of a full-time ESP for the plan selected, pro-rated to the part-time 

ESP’s full-time equivalency, and the ESP shall pay the remainder. The Board HRA or 

HSA contribution shall be paid in full, and shall not be subject to pro-ration.  

 

11.42  a. In the event that an ESP covered by this Agreement is disabled as a result of a 

serious illness causing continuous absence, the Board agrees, upon the submission of 

proper medical certification, to pay the Board’s share of continued participation in the 

health insurance plan for up to three (3) months after the ESP's sick leave is used up.  

This benefit shall be concurrent with any rights or benefits for which an ESP may be 

eligible under the Vermont Parental and Family Leave Law or Federal Family Medical 

Leave Act (FMLA).  The Board also agrees to allow the ESP to remain in the group 

policy if they choose and pays their own premium to the maximum period provided by 

law, provided this does not conflict with the insurance carrier's regulations.  

b. Upon the death of an ESP who has health benefits, the District will continue to pay its 

share of the premium for two-person or family benefits for 90 days after the death of the 

employee.  

 

   11.35 Dental Insurance:  The Board agrees to hold a Master Policy for a dental insurance 

plan, and it will absorb the administrative costs, including any payroll deduction of 

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.38",  No bullets or
numbering, Tab stops: Not at  1.3"

Formatted: Font color: Auto

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.51",  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Quick a., Indent: Left:  0.51",  No bullets or
numbering, Tab stops:  1.13", Left +  1.5", Left +  2", Left + 
2.5", Left +  3", Left +  3.5", Left +  4", Left +  4.5", Left + 
5", Left +  5.5", Left +  6", Left + Not at  0.88" +  1.8" + 
2.3" +  2.8" +  3.3" +  3.8" +  4.3" +  4.8" +  5.3" +  5.8"

Formatted: Underline

272



premium costs, for such a plan.  The Board shall pay one hundred percent (100%) of a 

single membership for full-time ESP employed at WCUUSD.  If any ESP chooses to 

add one or more dependents, they shall pay any additional costs over a Single 

membership.  Coverage for ESP not previously included under the terms of the dental 

plan will begin in the first full month following ratification of this agreement, or at such 

later date as may be consistent with the regulations of the insurance carrier. 

11.46 Workers’ Compensation:  All ESP will be covered by Workers' Compensation 

Insurance as a protection against personal injury while on duty.  

11.57 Disability Insurance:  The Board agrees to provide group long term disability (“LTD”) 

insurance coverage to all ESP who are scheduled to work at least 24 hours per week on a 

regular basis.  Disability coverage will begin after meeting the eligibility requirement for 

receiving benefits under the disability plan as determined by the disability insurance 

carrier.  The LTD Plan will include a ninety (90) calendar day elimination period. The 

benefit will cover sixty-six and two-thirds percent of monthly earnings with a maximum 

benefit of $6,000 per month.  The current LTD Plan includes a $10,000 employee life 

insurance benefit. 

ARTICLE 12 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 
12.1 Definition. 

a. Any claim by the Union or an ESP that there has been a violation, misinterpretation, 

or misapplication of the terms of this Agreement, or a violation of its or their right to 

fair treatment, shall be a "grievance."  However, grievances, with respect to any 

matters that are not a specific part of this Contract, shall not be subject to resolution 

by arbitration, and the resolution of such non-contractual matters shall not be deemed 

to establish precedent. 

b. Grievant:  The person or persons making the claim. 

c. Time Limits:  All the time limits consist of school days except that when a grievance 

is submitted on or after June 1, time limits shall consist of all weekdays so that the 

matter may be resolved before the close of school or as soon as possible thereafter.  

273



School days for purposes of the grievance procedure shall mean ESP employment 

days. 

d. Union Representation:  At least one (1) Union representative shall have the right to 

be present for any meetings, hearing, appeals, or other proceedings relating to a 

grievance which has been formally presented.  Nothing contained herein will be 

construed as limiting the right of any ESP having a grievance to discuss the matter 

informally with their supervisor and having such grievance adjusted without 

intervention of the Union; provided, the Union has been notified of the adjustment 

and the adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement. 

 

12.2 Procedure.  A grievance shall be in writing and it shall specify the issue being grieved, 

the provisions of the Agreement which have been violated, and the remedy requested.  

No grievance shall be given formal consideration unless it is filed at Step 1 within thirty 

(30) days after the grievant had knowledge, or should have had knowledge, of the 

occurrence that gave rise to the grievance. 

Step 1--The ESP or the Union may present the grievance, in writing, to the Principal 

who will arrange for a meeting within five (5) days after receipt of the grievance. The 

Union's representatives have the right to attend the meeting.  The Principal must provide 

the grievant and the Union with a written answer on the grievance within three (3) days 

after the meeting.  Such answer shall include the reasons upon which the decision was 

based.   

Step 2--If the grievance is not resolved at Step 1, then the Union shall have the right to 

refer the grievance to the Superintendent, or their official designee, within six (6) days 

after the Step 1 meeting.  The Superintendent shall arrange for a meeting with the 

representatives of the grievant to take place within five (5) days of their receipt of the 

appeal.  Each party shall have the right to include in its representation such witnesses 

and counselors as it deems necessary to develop facts pertinent to the grievance.  Upon 

conclusion of the hearing, the Superintendent will have ten (10) days in which to 

provide them written decision to the Union. 

274



Step 3--Arbitration--If the Union is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance 

at Step 2, or the Step 2 time limits expire without the issuance of the Superintendent's 

written answer, then the Union may submit the grievance to final and binding arbitration 

under the Voluntary Labor Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Union which 

shall act as the administrator of the proceedings.  If a demand for arbitration is not filed 

within fifteen (15) days of the date for the Step 2 reply, then the grievance will be 

deemed withdrawn. 

12.3 Neither the Board nor the Union will be permitted to assert any grounds or evidence 

before the arbitrator that was not previously disclosed to the other party during this 

grievance procedure. 

12.4 The arbitrator shall have no power to alter the terms of this Agreement.  However, it is 

agreed that the arbitrator is empowered to include in any award such financial 

reimbursements or other remedies as they judge to be proper. 

12.5 Each party shall bear the full costs for its representation in the arbitration.  The cost of 

the arbitrator and the American Arbitration Union will be divided equally between the 

parties.  Should either party request a transcript of the proceedings, then that party will 

bear full costs for that transcript.  Should both parties order a transcript then the cost of 

the two transcripts will be divided equally between the parties.  

12.6 The Board acknowledges the right of the Union's grievance representative to participate 

in the processing of a grievance. 

12.7 No reprisals of any kind will be taken by the Board or by the school administration 

against any ESP because of their participation in the grievance procedure. 

12.8 The Board and the Administration will cooperate with the Union in the investigation of 

any grievance, and, further, will furnish the Union with such information as is requested 

for the processing of any grievance.  Should any new information be uncovered during 

an investigation, the parties may agree to remand the grievance to a previous step of the 

procedure for further consideration.  Should the investigation or processing of any 

275



grievance require that an ESP or a Union representative be released from their regular 

assignment, they shall be released without loss of pay or benefits. 

12.9 All documents, communications and records dealing with the processing of a grievance 

will be filed separately from the personnel files of the participants. 

12.10 A grievance may be withdrawn at any level without establishing precedent. 

12.11 There shall be only one official personnel file, and this file shall be maintained in the 

superintendent’s office.  Upon reasonable request and at non-working times an 

employee may review the contents of their personnel file, and may receive a copy of 

such documents at their expense.  A Union and/or administration representative may be 

present during such review.  For convenience, a copy of the ESP’s personnel file may 

also be maintained in the principal’s office. 

ARTICLE 13 – LEAVES AND ABSENCES 
 
13.1 General:  Leave for ESP as provided in this article is earned and taken on a pro-rata 

basis, consistent with the full time schedule for the employee’s classification. 

13.2 Holiday:  Holidays for ESP who work twelve (12) months shall be as follows:  Labor 

Day, Veterans’ Day, Thanksgiving Day, and the Friday following Thanksgiving Day, 

Christmas Day, New Year’s Day, Martin Luther King Jr. Day, Presidents’ Day, Town 

Meeting Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, and Bennington Battle Day.  Holidays 

which fall on Saturday shall be celebrated on Friday, and holidays which fall on Sunday 

shall be celebrated on Monday.  The Administration may require some or all ESP to 

work on a holiday, in which case the ESP shall be paid at their regular rate and shall also 

receive a “floating holiday” to be used at a mutually agreeable time within the next 

twelve months.  The Administration shall give at least two (2) weeks prior notice to any 

ESP required to work on a holiday; an ESP may be excused from work on a holiday for 

good cause shown, provided that the ESP notifies the administration at least one week 

prior to the holiday in question. 

13.3 Sick Leave:  

276



a. Newly hired ESPs shall be credited with fifteen (15) sick leave days annually.  

Unused sick leave may be accumulated to a maximum of 720 hours (8 hour position) 

or 630 hours (7 hour position).    

b. When the effective date of employment is after the beginning of the work year, the 

ESP shall be given a pro-rata allowance of sick leave for the remainder of the year 

based on the number of workdays remaining in the school’s fiscal year for that ESP. 

c. An ESP who leaves part way through the contract year will receive a prorated 

amount of days based on the days fulfilled for their contract and will pay days used 

back if needed.   

d.  No ESP may use more sick leave than is required to meet the elimination period 

provided under the long term disability plan.  

e. A doctor’s certificate may be requested by the employer if the ESP’s use of sick 

leave indicates a pattern of possible leave abuse. 

f. Leave for temporary disability related to pregnancy or childbirth shall be in 

accordance with Article 13, Section 13.8 of this Agreement. 

g. Any ESP member may donate up to twenty-four (24) sick hours to any other ESP 

member across the District who has used all sick leave days allotted to them 

according to the following provisions: 

1) No one person may receive more than eighty (80) donated days per year; 

provided, however, that no ESP shall be eligible to receive more sick days 

than are necessary to meet the 90 day elimination period for the disability 

insurance program. 

2) The recipient of donated sick leave must have exhausted personal sick leave. 

3) The recipient must provide a doctor's certification of medical disability at 

the time the request for donated sick leave is made.  At the option of the 

Board, a second opinion may be required.  If a second opinion is required by 

the Board, the Board agrees to reimburse the ESP based on validated 

receipts for any out-of-pocket expenses that the ESP incurs.  This shall 

include co-pay, mileage if outside of a 30-mile radius of their school 

District, and overnight stays. 

4) ESP may donate sick time to a member of the bargaining unit called up for 

277



duty in the armed forces as provided in Article 13, § 13.12, Military Leave, 

after the individual has exhausted all leave.  

5) An ESP may not use donated sick leave in order to take time off for elective 

medical procedures.   

 

13.4 Family Illness:  

 Up to fifteen (15) days per contract year of an ESP’s personal sick leave may be used for 

serious illness or a temporary disability of a member of an ESP’s immediate family. 

Immediate family is defined as: spouse or civil union partner, parents/step-parents, 

children/step-children, foster children, siblings, current mother/father-in-law, 

grandparents, grandchildren, current brother/sister-in-law, current son or daughter-in-

law.  The school board may approve more days for family illness on a case-by-case 

basis. 

a. The Administration may request a doctor’s certificate regarding the health status of 

the family member in order to justify access to this benefit. 

b. ESP shall provide the name and relationship of the person who is sick to be eligible 

to use sick leave under this section. 

 

13.5 Bereavement Leave: Up to five (5) consecutive days may be granted for each death in 

the ESP's ‘immediate family’ as defined below.  Nonconsecutive days are allowed for a 

later committal.  One (1) day shall be granted for each death in the ESP’s ‘other family’ 

as defined below.  Two (2) additional days may be granted for travel with the approval 

of the Superintendent, or designee. 

a. Immediate family is defined as: spouse or civil union partner, parents/step-parents, 

children/step-children, foster children, siblings, current mother/father/son or 

daughter-in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, current brother/sister-in-law. Other 

family is defined as: Aunt, uncle, niece, nephew, cousins and step siblings.   

b. ESPs must provide the name and relationship of the deceased to be eligible for 

bereavement leave. 

c. The Superintendent or designee may approve a request for bereavement leave upon 

278



the death of an unrelated person who was in a significant familial relationship to the 

employee. 

 

13.6 Personal Leave:  Up to three (3) days per year without loss of pay shall be granted for 

leaves for personal, emergency, legal, business, household, or family matters under the 

following provisions: 

a. Whenever possible, prior notice shall be given at least 24 hours in advance to the 

ESP’s principal or designee. 

b. Personal leave days may not be granted solely to extend a holiday weekend or school 

vacation period, but may be granted at such times for a purpose consistent with this 

section. 

c. Such leave will be in addition to any other leave provided in this Article.  Unused 

personal leave shall not be cumulative from year to year. 

c.d. One (1) unused personal day per year may be paid out at the current per- day sub 

rate.  

 

13.7 Professional Development Leave: The Superintendent or designee may approve leave 

with pay to allow an ESP to attend professional education conferences or meetings, or 

school visitations, or any other activity deemed to be of value to the school District.  

Normally, an ESP will be expected to apply at least five (5) days in advance for 

professional leave.  The Superintendent or designee may also approve funds to defray 

the cost of approved professional development activities associated with such leave. 

 

13.8 Family Medical / Parental Leave:  

The family medical and parental leave provisions herein are available to ESP’s 

employed at least 0.5 FTE, regardless of their length of service with the District.  Leave 

hereunder shall run concurrent with any statutory family medical leave or parental leave 

for which an ESP may be eligible under the federal Family and Medical Leave Act 

(FMLA) or Vermont’s Parental and Family Leave Act (VPFLA).  Except as provided in 

Commented [JEF17]: GREEN LIGHT FOR 13.6 d 

279



section 13.8(b) this Article does not create additional leave entitlements for eligible 

employees beyond those established by statute. 

 
a. Family Medical Leave 

(1) An ESP shall be entitled to a leave for up to twelve (12) weeks (60 working 

days), unpaid, during any twelve (12) month period in the case of a serious health 

condition of the employee or in the ESP’s immediate family.  During this period the 

ESP may use up to six weeks (30 working days) of sick leave or other accrued leave.  

A serious health condition is defined as an illness, injury, impairment for physical or 

mental conditions that involves inpatient care in a hospital, hospice or residential 

medical-care facility, or continuing treatment by health-care providers. 

(2) Providing care for a serious health condition does not diminish the benefit under 

the sick leave Article for use by the ESP themselves or in other instances of family 

illness, except as to the number of sick days used. 

b. Parental Leave 

ESP’s shall be entitled to a leave for up to twelve (12) weeks (60 working days), 

unpaid, during any twelve (12) month period: (1) during the ESP’s pregnancy, or 

following the birth of a child, or (2) following the placement of a child with the ESP 

for adoption or foster care.  During these periods of parental leave, the ESP may use 

up to eight weeks (40 working days) of sick leave or other accrued paid leave.  

When leave begins less than six weeks before the last working day of the school year 

or begins more than two weeks prior to the first working day of the school year, only 

six weeks of leave will be paid leave. 

 

c. Unpaid Leave 

No provisions of this Article or the contractual definitions of “serious health 

condition” shall be determined to diminish the entitlement of any eligible ESP to 

unpaid leave under Vermont’s Parental and Family Leave Act (VPFLA) or under the 

Family Medical and Leave Act (FMLA).  Leave taken under this Article shall be 

credited against any leave entitlement under the VPFLA or the FMLA to the full 

280



extent of the law, provided the District has notified the employee in advance of the 

approved leave period that said leave will be counted against their entitlement.  

Benefits during unpaid leave will be as mandated in the VPFLA and the FMLA for 

eligible ESPs. 

d.   ESPs requesting leave under this section shall provide supporting medical 

documentation as required by the District.   

 

13.9 Medical Certification:  In appropriate cases (i.e., where there is a reasonable basis to 

believe that the employee may not be fit for duty) the Superintendent may require an 

ESP to provide medical certification, in writing, attesting to the ESP’s ability to perform 

the essential duties of their position.   

13.10 Extended Leave of Absence:  An unpaid leave of absence for a term not to exceed one 

(1) academic year [except as modified in accordance with Section 13.8] shall be granted 

upon the request of an ESP for reasons of pregnancy; child care, if the leave is requested 

immediately after birth or adoption; or personal illness.  The Board, at its discretion, 

may grant an extended leave of absence for other purposes including, but not limited to, 

professional study. 

The conditions of an extended leave are as follows: 

a. The ESP shall request said leave at least thirty (30) days in advance, except in the 

case of an emergency. 

b. An ESP on an unpaid leave of absence may return to their position at the beginning 

of any semester, provided notice was given to the administration at the time the 

leave commenced. 

c. An ESP on leave of absence may continue to participate in the medical insurance 

plan herein provided at their own expense, subject to the regulations of the insurance 

carrier, and provided said ESP pays the premiums due prior to the regularly 

scheduled group premium payment being made by the Board.   

d. Failure of the ESP to notify the Board of their intent to return by April 1 shall relieve 

the District of all contractual obligations.  Such notification shall be by certified mail 

281



or hand delivered and date stamped at the Superintendent’s Office. 

e. The ESP granted such leave is guaranteed a return to the same or a substantially 

equivalent position and placement on the next salary step. 

 

13.11 Jury Duty:  When an ESP is called to jury duty, the District shall pay the ESP regular 

base wages, less such compensation as may be paid for jury duty.  The ESP shall retain 

any amounts paid for expenses, such as meal allowances or mileage. 

13.12 Military Leave: 

a. The Board will grant a leave of absence to the extent required by law to an ESP who 

is called up for active duty in the Armed Forces of the United States, or to serve in 

the Vermont National Guard, Army Reserve, or other Reserves.  The Board will 

adhere to all federal and state laws upon an ESP’s return to employment from any 

such military leave of absence. 

 

b. When an ESP or member of an ESP’s immediate family (i.e., child, spouse, parent) 

is called to active military service for a period of six (6) months or longer, the ESP 

may use up to five (5) days of sick leave (in addition to any accrued personal leave 

or vacation leave available to the ESP) prior to the ESP’s or the ESP family 

member’s date of departure to attend to personal and family matters related to the 

military activation. The paid leave shall be taken in one (1) day increments.  In the 

event the ESP has no accrued sick leave, other staff in the District will be allowed to 

donate sick leave to the ESP.  

 

13.13 Unauthorized Leave:  If any ESP is absent and no accrued paid leave balance applies 

to the absence, salary shall be reduced by the per diem rate of pay for each day of such 

absence.  Per Diem rate of pay is computed by dividing base annual salary by contract 

number of days.  An ESP absent without leave may be subject to disciplinary action. 

13.14   Vacations: Commencing after the first six (6) full or partial months of employment 

beginning the first day of work in the District, each ESP who works full-time year round 

shall accrue vacation up to the following maximum number of days per year: 

282



        Maximum Days Accrued 
Years Employed  Per Year  

          
After 6 months to less than 1 year    5 days 

 Beginning 1 year to completion of 4 years   10 days 
 Beginning 5 years to completion of 10 years   15 days 
 Beginning 11 years      20 days 
  

In the event an ESP was eligible to receive twenty-five vacation days at the start of the 

2010-2011 school year said ESP shall continue to receive vacation days at that level.   

Earned vacation days may be taken at any time during the fiscal year, provided the leave 

has been previously approved by the ESP's supervisor.  Vacation days not taken due to 

workload at the request of a supervisor shall be paid at the ESP's per diem rate of pay. 

Such work, in lieu of vacation, shall be on a voluntary basis. Any vacation days not used 

during the fiscal year (July 1 to June 30) must be used by November 1st of the following 

year.  An ESP shall forfeit any vacation days not taken during the next succeeding fiscal 

year after it is earned.  A vacation day shall be equal to an ESP’s regularly scheduled 

workday. 

An ESP who separates from employment with the District in good standing shall be paid 

for all accrued, unused vacation time.  ESPs who leave part way through a contract year 

will receive payment for a prorated amount of vacation days based on the days fulfilled 

for their contract and will reimburse the District for vacation days used in excess of the 

number of days earned. 

13.15  Severance Pay:  After serving five (5) years in the District, a full-time ESP separating 

from employment in good standing shall be paid the sum of fifteen dollars ($15.00) per 

day for each day of accumulated sick leave up to a maximum of fifty (50) days. 

 
ARTICLE 14 – NOTICE OF VACANCIES AND TEMPORARY 

EMPLOYEES 

 
14.1  If a vacancy occurs in a school covered by this Agreement, a notice of said 

vacancy will be posted in each school building within the District.  Applicants for 

Commented [JEF18]: GREEN LIGHT FOR 14.1 

283



the vacancy shall be considered by the Superintendent or designee in the following 

order:  (1) applicants from within the district; and (2) other applicants.  The 

Superintendent or designee, however, shall make the final decision.  For purposes 

of this section, a vacancy is defined as an opening created by the death, retirement, 

or resignation of an ESP, or a new position created by the Board. 

ESP covered by this Agreement shall be notified of all vacancies which occur in schools 

covered by this Master Agreement as they become available and shall have the option of 

applying for any available positions.  In filling of vacancies, priority consideration will 

be given to persons already employed in the school with the vacancy, provided that their 

qualifications for such vacancies are at least equal to those of other applicants.   

 

14.2 All vacancies shall be visibly posted in the following areas as available: on the staff 

bulletin boards in the front office, staff lounge, on the internet with a link on the District 

website and custodial break room for at least three (3) working days prior to the closing 

of the application period. A copy of the vacancy notice will be given to the Union 

presidents. During the summer months, the notice will be mailed to the President(s) of 

the Union.  

 

14.3 The District shall have the option to hire a person on a temporary full or part-time basis 

to perform the work of an ESP in order to meet needs that were not or could not have 

been anticipated. 

 A person hired on a temporary full or part-time basis may be employed for a maximum 

of thirty calendar (30) days.  For employees hired in a temporary status due to an FMLA 

leave situation, they may be hired for a maximum of ninety calendar (90) days. At the 

close of a temporary period, the District must either create a new position or eliminate 

the temporary position.  If the District creates a regular full or part-time position, and the 

temporary person is hired to fill the newly created position, their service as temporary 

employee shall be credited toward the completion of the four-month probationary 

period, and they shall be paid in accordance with the terms of the negotiated salary 

schedule.  Seniority shall accrue from the date of hire in the regular position. 

284



  Temporary employees shall be paid an hourly wage rate consistent with the salary 

schedule. 

  Members of the bargaining unit who have been laid-off and who retain recall rights shall 

be offered positions as temporary employees prior to the openings being advertised to 

the general public or being awarded to non-members of the bargaining unit.  Individuals 

on recall shall be offered temporary positions in the District on the basis of seniority. 

Individuals on recall do not waive or lose any rights guaranteed under the Master 

Agreement by accepting or rejecting a temporary position.  

14.4  If a position of need is identified in the district (that is not a vacancy as defined by 14.1), 

that position will be posted. If there are appropriate volunteers for the position they shall 

be transferred. The preference will be for a voluntary transfer. Appropriate volunteers 

will be given preference by seniority. 

 If there is no appropriate volunteer for a position of need, then the Superintendent will 

have authority to transfer employees to positions of need. Preference for transfer will be 

prioritized by the least amount of seniority. 

ARTICLE 15 – GENERAL 
 

15.1 If any provision of this Agreement or any application thereof to any ESP or group of 

staff is held to be contrary to law, then such provision or application will not be deemed 

valid and subsisting, except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or 

applications will continue in full force and effect.  The parties will meet not later than 

ten (10) days after any such holding for the purposes of renegotiating the provision(s) 

affected. 

15.2 This Agreement may only be modified in whole or in part by the parties, by an 

instrument in writing, duly executed by both parties. 

15.3 This Agreement incorporates the entire understanding of the parties on all matters that 

were the subject of negotiations.  During the term of this Agreement, neither party will 

Commented [JEF19]: Adding new 14.4, per page 7 of Lisa’s 
notes 

285



be required to negotiate with respect to any such matter whether or not covered by this 

Agreement. 

ARTICLE 16 – NO STRIKE PLEDGE 

 
The Board and the Union agree that disputes that may arise between them shall be settled 

without strike or lockout.  The Board agrees it will not lock out any or all of its ESPs during the 

term of this Agreement, and the Union agrees on behalf of itself and its membership that there 

shall be no strikes, slow-downs, or interference of the normal operation of the school during the 

term of this Agreement. 

ARTICLE 17 – LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

The Board and the Union agree to maintain a District Labor-Management Committee.  The 

purpose of the Committee is to discuss, explore, and study issues referred to it by the parties of 

this Agreement in an effort to foster positive communications.  The Committee shall have no 

authority to change, delete or modify any of the terms of this Agreement, nor to settle 

grievances arising under this Agreement.  The Union representatives shall include all sitting 

Union President(s) and Vice President(s) who shall serve as a “floating” member on the Labor 

Management Committee. 

ARTICLE 18 – EARLY RETIREMENT OPTIONS 

During the life of this agreement the District board may, at its sole discretion, design and offer 

an early retirement program to ESP employed by the Board who have worked a minimum of 

fifteen (15) years within the School District.  The early retirement program will only be 

available to the ESP if the School Board affirmatively votes to adopt an early retirement 

program to be applicable for any given school year. 

ARTICLE 19 – ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF ARBITRATION 

In accordance with 12 V.S.A. § 5652(b) the Board and the Union understand that this 

Agreement contains an agreement to arbitrate.  After signing this Agreement, the Board and the 

Union understand that they will not be able to bring a lawsuit concerning any dispute that may 

286



arise which is covered by the arbitration agreement, unless it involves a question of 

constitutional or civil rights.  Instead, the parties agree to submit any such dispute to an 

impartial arbitrator in accordance with the provisions contained in Article 12, Grievance 

Procedure. 

ARTICLE 20 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT 

The provisions of this Agreement will be effective as of July 1, 20202021 and will continue and 

remain in full force and effect until June 30, 20212023.  Said Agreement will automatically 

include additional periods of one (1) year unless either the Board or the Union gives notice, in 

writing, to the other, no later than November 1 prior to the expiration date or any anniversary 

thereof, of its desire to reopen this Agreement and to negotiate over terms of a Successor 

Agreement.

287



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Board and the Union have caused their duly authorized 

representatives to enter into this Collective Bargaining Agreement this ______ day of 

____________________, 20202021. 

 

For the Board of School Directors    For the Union: 

 
 
BY____________________________  BY______________________________ 
   WCUUSD School Board Chair           WCEU ESP Co-Vice-President 
 Scott ThompsonFlor Diaz-Smith Christina George 

           

       BY _____________________________             
                                                           WCEU ESP Co-Vice-President 
 Rebecca Pellegrini 
  
 
 
    
 
 
                  
                       
 

 

6/18/2021 4:55 PM  

 

Formatted: Tab stops:  1.69", Left

288



6/18/2021 4:55 PM 

 
 
 

WASHINGTON CENTRAL EDUCATORS UNION 
 
 
 

And The 
 

THE  
WASHINGTON CENTRAL UNIFIED UNION SCHOOL DISTRIC BOARD 

 
 
 
 

TEACHERS’ AGREEMENT 
 
 
 
 

July 1, 20201 to June 30, 20231  

289



AGREEMENT 
 

Table of Contents 
ARTICLE 1--RECOGNITION .......................................................................................................................... 2 
ARTICLE 2--DEFINITIONS ............................................................................................................................. 2 
ARTICLE 3--RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES ................................................................................................... 3 
ARTICLE 4--FAIR PRACTICES ..................................................................................................................... 4 
ARTICLE 5--CONTRACT RENEWAL ........................................................................................................ 5 
ARTICLE 6--TEACHER EVALUATION .................................................................................................... 7 
ARTICLE 7--REDUCTION IN FORCE ...................................................................................................... 10 
ARTICLE 8--ASSOCIATION DUES DEDUCTION .............................................................................. 14 
ARTICLE 9--CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT .................................................................................. 14 
ARTICLE 10--PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT ............................................................................... 24 
ARTICLE 11--INSURANCE ........................................................................................................................... 28 
ARTICLE 12--LEAVES AND ABSENCES ............................................................................................... 36 
ARTICLE 13--GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE ............................................................................................. 45 
ARTICLE 14—SALARY ................................................................................................................................. 49 
ARTICLE 15--GENERAL ................................................................................................................................ 49 
ARTICLE 16--NO STRIKE PLEDGE .......................................................................................................... 58 
ARTICLE 17--DURATION ............................................................................................................................. 59 

 
       
APPENDIX A: PUBLIC SCHOOL EMPLOYEE HEALTH BENEFITS 
 
APPENDIX B: SALARY SCHEDULE 2020-2021  2021-2023  
    
APPENDIX BC:   U-32 CO-CURRICULAR SALARY SCHEDULE 2020-2021 2021-
2023 
    
APPENDIX CD:   U-32 DEPARTMENT HEAD CONTRACT  
 
APPENDIX DE1: HEALTH INSURANCE SUMMARY – ANNUAL COSTS 

APPENDIX DE2: HEALTH INSURANCE SUMMARY – BI-MONTHLY COST 
 

 

 

  

290



AGREEMENT 
 

THIS AGREEMENT FOR THE 2020-2021  2021-2023 SCHOOL YEAR IS MADE AND 

ENTERED INTO by Washington Central Unified Union School District School Directors, the 

“Board”, and Washington Central Educators Union and Vermont-NEA/NEA, the “Association.”  

 

ARTICLE 1--RECOGNITION 
 

The School Board of Washington Central Unified Union School District hereby recognizes the 

Washington Central Educators Union for the purpose of collective negotiations pursuant to Title 

16, Chapter 57 of the Vermont Statutes Annotated, as the exclusive representative of a unit 

consisting of all teachers of  Washington Central Unified Union School District (WCUUSD), 

certified by the State of Vermont, excluding administrative personnel as defined by Chapter 57 

of 16 V.S.A.; the Directors of Curriculum, Guidance, Special Education, Technology and 

Athletics and Student Affairs; and substitute teachers not under contract to the district.  (All 

certified teachers are represented by Washington Central Educators Union). 

 

ARTICLE 2--DEFINITIONS 
 

2.1 Board:  The corporate governing body of the school district signatory hereto. 

2.2 Teacher:  Any person employed on a full or part-time basis by the Board as a teacher who 

is licensed according to the statutes of the State of Vermont.  Unless otherwise indicated, 

the employees in the above unit will be hereafter referred to as “teacher.”  Whenever the 

singular is used in this Agreement, it is to include the plural. 

2.3 Administrator:  A person employed by the Board, the majority of whose time is assigned 

to administrative, managerial or supervisory duties, and who is employed as a 

superintendent, assistant superintendent, principal, assistant principal, coordinator, or 

director. 

2.4 Negotiations:  The process of meeting, conferring, consulting and discussing in good 

291



faith for the purpose of reaching an agreement as to matters of salary, related economic 

conditions of employment, grievance procedures, and other mutually agreed upon 

subjects not in conflict with laws or statutes of the State of Vermont. 

         2.5       Days:  Unless otherwise specified, “days” shall mean student contact days when 

school is in session, and weekdays when school is recessed for the summer, exclusive of 

legal holidays as defined in V.S.A. T. 1, § 371(a). 

2.6 Association:  Washington Central Educators Union, Vermont-NEA/NEA. 

 

ARTICLE 3--RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES 
 

Rights of the Association  

 

3.1 The Association shall have the right to use such facilities and equipment as are normally 

located for teachers' use within the schools and school audio-visual equipment.  Such use 

of facilities or equipment shall be at unassigned times and upon appropriate request to the 

Principal; provided such use does not interfere with the teaching of pupils or interrupt 

normal school operations.  Any custodial cost or cost for repair or replacement as the 

result of such use of the equipment or facilities, beyond a reasonable amount, will be 

borne by the Association.  The Association will reimburse the district for costs of toll 

calls, copies or facsimile transmissions. 

 

3.2 Duly-authorized representatives of the Association shall be permitted to transact official 

business on school property at unassigned times; provided this shall not interfere with the 

teaching of pupils or assigned duties or interrupt normal school operations during school 

hours. 

 

3.3 The Association shall have the right to use the teachers' lounge for the posting of notices 

of its activities and matters of Association concern. 

 

292



3.4 A teacher has the right to become a candidate for public office, subject to the constraints 

of any applicable state or federal law. 

 

3.5 The Association may use the teachers' mailboxes or other media for communications to 

teachers.  The Association retains all rights granted by law.  The Board does not 

guarantee the privacy of such communications. 

 

Rights of the Board 

 

3.6 Except as specifically and directly modified by express language in a specific provision 

of this contract, the Board retains all rights and powers it has, or may hereinafter be 

granted, by law. 

 

3.7 The Board may contract for services normally provided by members of the bargaining 

unit when no qualified licensed teacher is currently on the recall list and no qualified 

licensed teacher applies for an offered position within the bargaining unit after a “good 

faith” search.  Prior to engaging any such consultant, the Superintendent shall notify the 

Association, in writing, of its intent at least ten (10) calendar days prior to making a 

contract offer.  The Superintendent shall meet and confer with the Association during this 

ten day period about its decision to offer a contract if a timely request is made.  It is 

agreed that the use of consultants to provide bargaining unit services shall be a temporary 

measure to provide services to students while the Board continues to seek and employ a 

licensed person.  The District’s contract with said consultant may continue up to and 

including the end of that contract year, and may be renewed if the criteria continue to be 

met in any succeeding year.  The Board agrees that the use of contracted consultants shall 

not replace or reduce a member of the bargaining unit. 

ARTICLE 4--FAIR PRACTICES 
 

4.1 The Association agrees to maintain its obligation to represent all teachers by continuing 

293



to admit persons to membership without discrimination on the basis of race, religion, 

creed, color, national origin, ancestry, place of birth, age, sex, gender identification, 

sexual orientation, disability or marital status and to represent equally all employees 

without regard to membership or participation in, or association with, the activities of any 

employee organization. 

 

4.2 The Board agrees to continue its policy of not discriminating against any employee on the 

basis of race, religion, creed, color, national origin, ancestry, place of birth, age, sex, 

gender identification, sexual orientation, disability, marital status, or membership or 

participation in, or association with, the activities of any employee organization. 

 

ARTICLE 5--CONTRACT RENEWAL 
 

5.1 The Board shall issue employment contracts to currently employed staff no later than 

April 15. 

 

5.2 Any teacher who is not to be re-employed for reasons having to do with performance 

shall be notified on or before April 1.  Such notices shall be by certified mail and include 

the reasons for the Board’s action.  Any teacher not re-employed through a reduction in 

force shall also be notified by April 15 by certified mail. 

 

5.3 Except as provided in § 5.4 for probationary teachers, no teacher shall have his or her 

contract non-renewed or be disciplined, suspended, dismissed, or reprimanded without 

just and sufficient cause. 

 

5.4 Newly hired teachers shall serve a probationary period of two (2) years.  However, one 

year of probationary service may be waived at the discretion of the Superintendent, as 

follows:  

 

294



 

a. following evaluation and one (1) year of teaching, an exceptional teacher may be 

granted a non-probationary appointment; and 

b. a newly hired teacher with at least three (3) years of teaching experience may be 

hired to serve a probationary period of one (1) year. 

 

Upon hiring, a teacher shall be notified of the terms of probation.  Teachers serving 

an initial probation period shall receive a minimum of two (2) written performance 

evaluations per year.  If during the probationary period a teacher’s employment is 

not renewed by the Board, such action by the Board shall not be made the subject of 

a grievance under this Agreement, provided the procedures outlined in this section 

have been followed. 

 

5.5 Upon receiving a contract, the teacher shall indicate acceptance of the offer by signing 

and returning the contract no later than thirty (30) calendar days after receiving the 

contract.  Newly hired teachers shall indicate acceptance of the offer by signing and 

returning the contract no later than fifteen (15) calendar days after receiving the contract.  

 

5.6       If an unanticipated vacancy occurs after July 1, or after the start of the teachers’ work 

year, the Board may choose to fill the position with a one-year non-renewable contract. 

The start of the teachers' work year will be considered the first in-service day required of 

all teachers prior to the arrival of students. 

 

5.7 A non-renewable contract may be offered to a teacher who is hired to replace a teacher 

who has been granted a leave of absence by the Board.  A teacher on a non-renewable 

contract will be covered by all terms and conditions of this Agreement except the 

following:  Articles 5.1-5.4, Article 7, Article 10.2, and Article 12.6.  A teacher employed 

under a non-renewable contract who is then hired to fill a regular teaching position with a 

regular contract, without a break in continuous service, shall be credited with seniority 

from the teacher’s date of hire under the non-renewable contract. 

295



 

5.8 Transition of Positions 

 Upon transition to the merged district, those employees will retain their current 

placement on the salary schedule and all benefits, including accrued leave and retirement 

benefits as provided under state law.  Each of the transitioned employees will start 

employment at WCUUSD with seniority equivalent to the seniority he or she had accrued 

as of the last day that the position was at the school district. From that point forward, 

reduction in force, layoff and recall procedures as defined in Article 7 of this agreement 

will apply to the group and its members as employees of WCUUSD.  

 

ARTICLE 6--TEACHER EVALUATION 
 

6.1 The purpose of evaluation of the teaching staff shall be to maintain a well-qualified, 

competent staff and to promote its continuing development.  This should be a 

professional process in which the teacher and evaluator cooperate to achieve these 

purposes. 

 

6.2  a.  Evaluations of all professional staff will be done in conformance with the WCUUSD 

Supervision and Evaluation Document as amended by the Supervision and Evaluation 

Committee.  The Supervision and Evaluation Committee will be determined by the 

Labor Management Committee. 

 

b.  Notice of meetings of the Supervision and Evaluation Committee shall be set at least 

thirty (30) days in advance by the superintendent or designee.  Any proposed changes 

to the WCUUSD Supervision and Evaluation Document shall be subject to: (a) a 

thirty (30) day comment period; and (b) reconvening of the Task Force to review the 

comments and then act on the proposal.   

 

      c. Any major or substantial change in the Supervision and Evaluation document, i.e., the 

296



development or adoption of a new system, to be used in the evaluation of teachers 

will be devised jointly by the Supervision and Evaluation Committee.  Said document 

or system shall be approved by the Administration, Board and the Association. 

 

6.3  Summative evaluations shall be conducted by licensed administrators.  Informal 

evaluation may be performed by a variety of means.  Covert methods shall not be used 

for either formal or informal observation of teacher performance. 

 

6.4  Focused Assistance – For a teacher who is placed on Focused Assistance, the process 

and timeline will be: 

 

a.  The Superintendent or designee will provide the teacher written notice that he or she 

will be placed on Focused Assistance.  This letter will cite the reasons for placement 

on Focused Assistance, provide corresponding documentation, and contain the dates 

and descriptions of concerning performance.  The notification will be signed, dated, 

and added to the personnel file. 

b.  The assigned administrator and the teacher will develop and sign an Improvement 

Plan according to the WCUUSD Supervision and Evaluation Document within 10 

days of notification. 

c.  The timeframe for Focused Assistance begins when the Improvement Plan is signed 

by both parties unless notification happens after May 1st, in which case the timeframe 

shall begin in August of the next school year and work on the Improvement Plan may 

begin by the teacher in the summer. 

d.  The assigned administrator will provide the teacher with a written mid-year 

evaluation and final evaluation for each year of the plan.   

e.  The Superintendent will determine contract renewal or non-renewal by April 1st in 

the second school year of Focused Assistance. 

297



f.  The Superintendent will provide the teacher with written notification that Focused 

Assistance is leading to non-renewal.  This notification will include cited reasons, 

corresponding documentation, date and signature.   

g.  The teacher goes into the Summative Cycle for the next two years after successfully 

completing Focused Assistance. 

 

6.5 a. On request, and accompanied by an Association representative, if desired, the 

teacher may examine his or her personnel file and all documents contained therein 

except employment references.  The teacher shall file a signed statement that he or 

she has examined the file, the date the file was examined, and the name of the 

representative who acted as a witness. A teacher will be provided with copies of 

documents in his/her personnel file upon request. 

 

b. A teacher may file a written statement or objection to any material in the personnel 

file which the teacher feels to be irrelevant, derogatory, or objectionable. 

 

6.6 The official personnel file shall be maintained in the Superintendent's Office.  For 

convenience a copy of the teacher’s personnel file may also be maintained in the 

Principal's Office.  Provisions of this Article shall apply to both the official 

personnel files maintained at the Superintendent's Office and any and all other files 

maintained by district administrators. 

 

6.7 Criticism or complaints regarding the performance or conduct of a teacher that 

comes to the attention of an administrator shall be communicated promptly to the 

teacher.  If action is taken by the Administration which is based on the criticism or 

complaint, the administrative memorandum and the attendant documents including 

original complaint(s) shall be included in the file.  Criticism or complaints which do 

not result in administrative action shall be discarded, and no reference to said 

criticisms or complaints shall be included in the file.  If materials are placed in the 

298



teacher's file, the teacher shall sign the file copy and have the opportunity to file a 

written reply. 

 

6.8 Whenever any teacher is required to appear before the Principal, the 

Superintendent, the Board, or any committee or member thereof with respect to a 

charge concerning his or her competency or position of continued employment, the 

teacher shall be entitled to be advised and represented by legal counsel, a 

representative of the Association or its affiliate, or both. 

 

6.9 Any material placed in a teacher's personnel file in accordance with Article 6.7 

which did not result in suspension may be removed at the teacher's request seven 

(7) years after placement of the material. 

 

ARTICLE 7--REDUCTION IN FORCE 
 

7.1 In the event that a reduction in force ("RIF") is deemed necessary by the Board, the 

President of the respective Association shall be notified within five (5) days of 

when the Board took this action. 

 

7.2 Reduction in force shall be accomplished by staff turnover.  If a teacher who has 

been notified of his/her reduction in force is endorsed for a position that 

subsequently becomes available prior to the end of the school year through 

turnover, s/he shall be offered that position.  If a position is not available due to 

attrition by the end of the school year, the teacher will have recall rights as provided 

in Section 7.5.  

 

7.3 Reduction in Force Procedure 

 

299



a. When a reduction in force is necessary, and information regarding staff turnover 

is not available prior to the date when RIF notices are sent to teachers, teachers 

shall be laid off in the reverse order of seniority, provided the teachers who 

remain hold appropriate endorsements for the teaching positions.   Decisions are 

made based upon the academic area in which a majority of said teacher's 

teaching assignment is performed, provided the teachers who remain hold 

appropriate endorsements for the teaching positions.  However, a more senior 

teacher may be laid off before a less senior teacher if the Board can show that 

there is a demonstrably significant difference in professional performance 

between that senior teacher and each less senior teacher in the academic area 

which the majority of the teacher’s teaching assignment is performed. 

 

7.4 For purposes of this Article, seniority will be computed from the beginning of a 

teacher's most recent period of continuous employment in the district, and it will 

begin to accrue as of the date the contract commencing that period of continuous 

employment was signed by the teacher. 

Seniority will continue to accrue during all paid leaves of absence.  Seniority will 

not be broken by unpaid leaves of absence, or by layoff, but such time will not be 

counted in computing seniority. 

Seniority in the district will be established annually as of February 1. 

Part-time teachers will accrue seniority on a pro-rata basis.   

When seniority is equal, the ability to perform the work in question, as determined 

by the Superintendent, will be the deciding factor. 

 

7.5 Teachers shall retain the right to recall, in reverse order of layoff, to vacant teaching 

positions in the district and in the area of licensure from which they were reduced 

for a period of two (2) years from the effective date of layoff, which is September 1.  

Notice of recall will be given by certified mail to the last address given to the Board 

by the teacher.  A copy of the notice of recall will be given to the Association.  If a 

teacher refuses the position offered, or fails to respond within twelve (12) days of 

300



the mailing of the notice of recall, the teacher shall remain on the recall list for the 

period provided herein. 

 

7.6 In the event that the laid off teacher is unable to obtain other employment, the 

Board shall permit the teacher to buy the current medical insurance coverage at the 

group rate which the district pays for the maximum period provided by law. 

 

         7.7       Early Retirement Program  

 

During any school year, the WCUUSD School Board may, at its sole discretion, 

offer the early retirement program below to one or more of its teachers who have at 

least fifteen (15) years of full or part-time teaching service in the WCUUSD by July 

1 of the school year in which the program is offered.  The program will only be 

available if the Board affirmatively votes to adopt the program for that given school 

year on or before November 1 of that school year. 

 

In those cases where an eligible teacher works part-time in two or more schools, 

and only one of those schools offers the career change option, the teacher may 

accept the option offered and continue to teach part-time in the other school.  The 

teacher accepting the option may not increase his/her part-time teaching increment 

in the other school, or otherwise seek or accept additional full or part-time 

employment as a teacher in Vermont during the three year period specified herein. 

 

In the event the board votes to offer an early retirement program, the benefit 

package shall be as follows: 

 

a.   A cash payout that represents fifty percent (50%) of the teacher’s current 

teaching salary during their final year with the district.  The payout will be 

made in three (3) equal installments on September 1 of the next three (3) 

school years following the teacher’s resignation.  At the option of the teacher, 

301



the monetary value of the cash payout may be applied by the district, in 

whole or in part, to the purchase of “air time” from the Vermont State 

Teachers’ Retirement system on behalf of the teacher. 

b.  Twelve (12) months of single health insurance coverage for the teacher under 

the district’s policy, subject to the regular board-teacher contributions to the 

cost of premium and maximum out-of-pocket contribution established in this 

Agreement or, if the teacher chooses the Vermont Teachers’ Retirement 

System health insurance program, the district will pay twenty (20) percent of 

the teacher’s premium for single health insurance for one year following the 

June 30 effective date of the teacher’s resignation, whichever is less.  The 

teacher may purchase dependent coverage, if desired, but he or she will be 

responsible for the difference in cost between single coverage and either two-

person, parent/child or family coverage.  The parties agree that the district 

will not be obligated to provide the insurance benefit referenced above 

should the employee be eligible for group health insurance coverage from a 

subsequent employer, or from the Vermont State Teachers’ Retirement 

system.  If allowed under the current insurance plan, the teacher may 

purchase medical and dental insurance coverage through the district’s group 

policy for the remainder of the payout period, or whatever shorter period is 

allowed. 

c.   A teacher who meets the criteria delineated herein and who desires to apply 

for the retirement incentive will submit an application on a form devised by 

the Board, along with an irrevocable letter of resignation to the Board on or 

before the deadline established by the Board in its early retirement offering.  

The teacher’s resignation will be effective June 30, at the conclusion of the 

school year.  The Board may establish the maximum number of participants 

in the program in any year in which it is offered.  If the number of applicants 

exceeds the number established by the Board, and the Board declines to 

accept that number of applicants, the program participant(s) will be selected 

by lottery conducted by the Board.  If the teacher is not accepted into the 

302



early retirement program, his/her letter of resignation will be returned to 

him/her. 

d.  The Board may, at its discretion, increase the maximum number of teachers 

who may elect this benefit after any initial limits established by the Board 

have been met. 

e.   A teacher electing the employment change option set forth herein must agree 

not to seek or accept other employment in Vermont as a teacher for a three 

(3) year period. 

f.   A teacher who elects this benefit will not be entitled to recall rights.   

g.   In the event that a lottery is necessary to determine the teacher(s) who will 

participate in the early retirement program, the Association will designate 

two members to participate along with the designees of the Board to ensure 

that a fair process is followed. 

 

ARTICLE 8--ASSOCIATION DUES DEDUCTION 
 

The Board agrees to the principle of the payroll deduction of Association dues in amounts 

to be determined by the Association, on forms mutually agreed to by the parties. 

 

The Board agrees to deduct from teachers’ salaries all local, state and national Association 

dues as teachers individually or voluntarily authorize said deductions. Payroll deduction 

authorizations for Association dues shall be continuous from year to year unless the teacher 

leaves the district or notifies the Association, in writing, with a copy to the Superintendent, 

no later than July 1 of any year to terminate said deductions.  

ARTICLE 9--CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT 
 

9.1 a. The normal work year for teachers shall consist of up to 190 days, inclusive of up to 

180 student days, and be aligned with the normal school calendar established by the 

Superintendent for most students.  Any days not scheduled as students days may be 

303



assigned as non-student work days. 

 

  Programs or classes may be developed and scheduled that do not fall within the 

normal school calendar as described above.   A teacher’s work year (i.e. 1.0 FTE) 

may differ from the normal 190 day work year as defined above, with the 

agreement of the teacher and the Superintendent or designee.  The parties agree that 

there will be no adverse consequences imposed by either party on the teacher, 

including reduction of FTE or seniority, if a teacher agrees or disagrees (as part of 

an annual individual employment contract) to an alternative work year. 

 

  The non-student work days shall be used as follows: up to 2 days for parent/teacher 

conferences as determined by the Superintendent or designee; 2 half days for 

teachers for grading/other professional duties; 1 day prior to the start of school as 

determined by the teacher and 1 day after the end of the school year scheduled by 

the Administration with activities as determined by the teacher, and the remaining 

days to be used for professional development activities as determined by the 

Administration.  The Administration shall schedule the above half days at the end 

of each semester within the school calendar.   

 

  Newly hired teachers are required to participate in induction training days preceding 

the first teacher workday, as outlined by the WCUUSD calendar. Attendance at 

these days is mandatory.  The superintendent may reschedule or waive attendance 

at induction trainings. Teachers will be compensated at the per diem rate for 

participation in induction training days. 

 

9.2 The Board and Association agree it is in the best interest of our students, our 

communities, and education professionals for the schools to be recognized as 

professional learning communities.  In order to encourage an environment that 

promotes this shared objective, the Board and Association agree to the following 

principles: 

304



 

a. Teachers are professional employees.  Teachers will meet their professional 

obligations and structure their workday to achieve this end.  The work week for 

full-time teachers will be thirty seven and a half (37.5) hours. Start and end 

times for the work day will be established by the Principal and shall be 

continuous except as provided in 9.2.b below.  The Principal and the 

Association may agree, at the building level, to structure work days in a flexible 

manner to accomplish the objectives of the school and its professional 

educators. 

b.  The Principal and Association may agree, at the building level to structure 

work days in a flexible manner to accomplish the objectives of the school and 

its professional educators.  If requested, the Administration in each building will 

meet and confer with Association representatives no later than June 10th 

annually to discuss the student day start and end times in each building for the 

following school year.  

c. Programs or classes may be developed and scheduled that do not fall within the 

normal work day as described above.  To accommodate an alternatively 

scheduled program or class, a teacher and the Superintendent or designee may 

agree to (1) a non-continuous work day, or (2) a work day which begins earlier 

or later and ends earlier or later, while maintaining an overall average of 37.5 

hours per work week. 

 

If a flexible-schedule, or placement, prevents a teacher from having a TA, the 

Principal will assign other responsibilities in place of the 7% of work time (pro-

rated by FTE) assigned for TA responsibilities.  Both parties may agree to 

replace TA with an additional teaching assignment.  The parties agree that there 

will be no adverse consequences imposed by either party on the teacher, 

including reduction of FTE or seniority, if a teacher agrees or disagrees (as part 

of an annual individual employment contract) to an alternative work day 

schedule.  

305



 

d.   The teaching load, duties and professional responsibilities assigned to part-time 

teachers shall be equitable, in proportion to those of full-time teachers.  

Administration will work to create a balanced schedule when possible for part-

time teachers. 

 

e. The teaching load for full-time high school teachers at U-32 may include six (6) 

teaching assignments during one semester and five (5) teaching assignments in 

the other semester.  The teaching load for a full-time teacher can range from 

40% to 50% of the work week.  During any semester when a teacher has six (6) 

teaching assignments, the teacher will not be assigned any additional 

supervision duties per Article 9.13 of this Agreement.   

 
To the extent practical, the Administration will strive to minimize the number of 

different teaching preps assigned to a full-time teacher in a given semester, and 

will consider alternatives offered by that teacher or the Association to help 

achieve this.  

 
f. Professional obligations are the essential duties and responsibilities required to 

successfully perform the role of a teacher.   

 

g. Monthly Meetings:  Up to four hours of meetings per month may be scheduled 

by the Administration outside the regular work week, including but not limited 

to faculty meetings, unit/department meetings, trainings, and committee work.  

Normally, there will be no more than one such meeting a week.   

 

h. In addition to the meetings described in 9.2.g herein, all teachers will participate 

in IEP, 504 and EST meetings as required.  Said meetings will be scheduled at 

the mutual convenience of the teacher and administration, while taking into 

consideration the needs of the child and the availability constraints of both 

teachers and parents/guardians.  Every effort will be made to avoid setting up 

306



these meetings during the meetings outlined in subsection 9.1 or 9.2.g of this 

Article. 

 

i. After a U-32 teacher’s schedule (including contact time, professional 

responsibilities and planning time) is set, the Administration may assign other 

professional obligations including, but not limited to, department and/or team 

meetings, school committee meetings, duties and the like if a full-time teacher 

at U-32 is scheduled to teach less than six (6) courses in a given semester 

teaching less than 49% of the work week, and has unscheduled time available 

during the teacher’s work day.  The Superintendent, or designee, may adjust 

instructional time and duties to accommodate collaborative initiatives. 

 
j. All teachers at U-32 who are assigned as Teacher Advisors (“TA”) shall have a 

minimum of 7% of their work week to devote to their TA responsibilities.  

 

9.3 Teachers shall have a daily duty-free lunch period of at least thirty (30) minutes.  

 
9.4 No teacher covered by this Agreement will be required to perform bus duty. 

 
9.5 Supervision of Athletic or Other Co-Curricular Activities 

 
a. Supervision of athletic or other co-curricular activities beyond the normal 

teaching day shall be undertaken only by voluntary choice of the teacher. 

b. Teachers assuming athletic or other co-curricular duties at U-32 shall be 

compensated at a rate specified in Appendix B of this Agreement. 

 

9.6 Transportation costs authorized in writing and incurred in conjunction with the 

school program will be reimbursed at the rate established by the IRS.  Teachers who 

travel regularly for the district shall be deemed to have authorization for such travel. 

 

9.7 The Superintendent shall consult with the Association representatives regarding the 

307



school calendar prior to submitting a recommendation to the Board.  The school 

calendar adopted by the Board shall be used consistently by the parties to this 

Agreement.  In the event that a statewide or regional school calendar is enacted 

which is binding on the district, the parties agree that the provisions of this 

Agreement will be interpreted in a manner consistent with any such law or rule to 

the extent possible.  

 

9.8 It is agreed by the parties that teachers play an integral role in the selection of 

textbooks, selection of instructional equipment, and the development of curriculum. 

 

9.9 Direct access to pupil records will be in accordance with federal and state law. 

 

9.10 The salaries of teachers on a standard school year contract shall be paid on a 

biweekly basis commencing in September of each year.  The teacher will receive 

twenty-six (26) substantially equal payments.  The teacher will choose whether to 

have direct deposit or a payroll check.  Salary checks for the WCUUSD will be 

issued on the same designated day of the week; except when the pay day falls on a 

holiday, checks will be issued on the preceding day.  All summer biweekly salary 

payments will be distributed before June 30. 

 

9.11 Upon request by the individual teacher, payroll deductions in the following areas 

will be honored: 

Section 125 – pretax cafeteria plan:  
• Premium Expense Reimbursement Account (Health and Dental) 
• Dependent Care Flexible Spending Account  
• Health Flexible Spending Account (“FSA”) 

 
The specific terms of the various Reimbursement and spending accounts 
identified above can be found in the Section 125 Cafeteria Plan 
documents, which shall govern in the event of any discrepancy or 
ambiguity. 
  

Teacher Retirement 

308



403(b) Investment Accounts with Vendor(s) as agreed per plan document 
Computer Purchase Program 
Educators Union dues  

 

9.12 If a vacancy occurs in a school covered by this Agreement, a notice of said vacancy 

will be posted in each school building within the District.  Applicants for the 

vacancy shall be considered by the BoardSuperintendent or designee in the 

following order:  (1) applicants from within the school district;  and (2) other 

applicants.  The BoardSuperintendent or designee, however, shall make the final 

decision.  For purposes of this section, a vacancy is defined as an opening created 

by the death, retirement, or resignation of a teacher, or a new position created by the 

Board. 

  

 

9.13  Reassignments 

 a. A reassignment occurs when a teacher is moved from their current 
teaching assignment to an alternate teaching assignment in a different school based on the 
decision of the Superintendent or designee. 

  

B. If a vacancy is not filled through the process outlined in 9.12, the vacancy may be 
filled by means of a reassignment. 

 

i. Reassignments shall be at the sole discretion of the Superintendent or designee based 
on their assessment of the instructional requirements and the best interests of the school 
system. The Superintendent or designee may consider some or all of the following factors 
before implementing a reassignment: a licensed teacher's endorsement area(s), major or 
minor field of study, length of service in the District, length of service in the particular 
school building, and other relevant factors, including without limitation state and/or 
federal laws, rules, regulations or administrative directives. The Superintendent or 
designee will provide the applicant with the basis for the decision. 

 
ii. When a reassignment would require the teacher to fill a vacant teaching position at the 
beginning of the school year the teacher will receive written notification of the 

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.6" + Tab after:  0.85" + Indent at:  0.85"

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Space Before:  0 pt, After:  0 pt

309



reassignment as soon as possible but no later than July 31st unless there are extenuating 
circumstances.  It is understood and agreed that compliance with Section 9.12 may result 
in extension of notice to a teacher later than July 31. 
 

iii. A teacher will receive written notification of a reassignment as soon as possible when 
a reassignment is to be implemented during the school year. 

iv. A teacher designated for reassignment may request, and upon request shall be granted, 
a meeting with the Superintendent or designee to discuss the reasons for the 
reassignment. The teacher may have a Union representative present at such meeting. 

 v. Additional preparation time of no less than three and up to ten days paid at prorated 
per-diem shall be provided for a reassigned teacher at the discretion of the Superintendent 
or designee. 

 vi. Reassigned teachers retain District seniority per section 7.4. 

 

9.14 a.  Except as provided in 9.2(e) each teacher at U-32 may be assigned up to an average 

of 2% of their work week per week of supervision duty.  Teachers who are assigned 

less than an average of 2% of their work week of supervision duty per week will 

schedule other duties such as student tutoring, new teacher mentoring, and similar 

assignments of benefit to students or the school community as determined by the 

Administration.  Teachers will be given an opportunity on an annual basis to submit 

their preferences for assignments to the Administration.  The Administration will 

consider teacher preferences, a teacher’s assigned workload (i.e., teaching 

assignments and other professional obligations) and other relevant information at 

the time assignments are made, and may reduce or eliminate duty assignments for 

teachers as appropriate in consideration of their other professional assignments and 

responsibilities.   

 

 b. Elementary school teachers, as a normal practice, may be assigned up to a total of 

60 minutes per week of cafeteria and/or recess duty.  If circumstances dictate, the 

Administration may, at its discretion, schedule up to a total of 75 minutes of 

cafeteria and/or recess duty per week.  Cafeteria and/or recess duty assignments 

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Space Before:  0 pt, After:  0 pt

310



may be increased from 75 up to a total of 90 minutes weekly provided that the 

Administration accords the Association the opportunity to discuss the proposed 

increase and to explore, in good faith, alternative ways of structuring the increased 

duty time. 

 

c c. Part-time employees’ duties will be proportional to their contract FTE. 

 

d.  If there is a need for additional duties over what is in the CBA then the district will 

pay sub rate for prorated time worked over those units. 

 

9.1514 Preparation Periods  

 

a. Elementary schools:  Each full-time elementary school teacher shall be provided 

with a minimum of at least thirty (30) continuous minutes of preparation time 

during the regular student day.  If circumstances are such that it would be 

difficult or impossible to provide a teacher with at least thirty (30) minutes of 

preparation time on a given school day, the Administration and the teacher will 

agree on an equitable alternative for preparation time.  The building 

administrator may approve additional preparation time for a teacher as 

circumstances permit.  The Parties agree that preparation time is provided for 

teacher-directed professional activities including, but not limited to, lesson 

preparation, classroom organization, grading and the like.  Absent extenuating 

circumstances, preparation time will be in continuous thirty (30) minute blocks 

of time. 

 

b. U-32 Teachers:  Depending on their teaching assignments, each full-time 

teacher at U-32 shall be provided 10% to 18% of their time for individual 

preparation time per five day work cycle.  The Parties agree that preparation 

time is provided for teacher-directed professional activities including, but not 

limited to, lesson preparation, classroom organization, grading and the like.  To 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.6", First line:  0"

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

311



the extent permitted by the teacher’s schedule, preparation time will be in 

continuous blocks of time.  Preparation time will be pro-rated for part-time 

teachers.  Teachers in a formal co-teaching arrangement shall have a minimum 

of 45 minutes per week of common preparation time within the allotted minutes 

defined above.  

 

c.    Definitions and averages: 
 
These are approximate percentages + or - 1%. 

 Contact Time Other professional 
responsibilities 

Planning Time Other 

Teach 5 55% Up to 16% At least 18% 11% 

Teach 6 64% Up to 15% At least 10% 11% 

 Instruction, Office 
Hours, TA, Call 
Back, 
Intervention 

Common planning 
time, team meeting, 
duty,  

Individual 
Planning time 

passing, operation 
and lunch time  

 

 

9.16 

9.15 Parent – Teacher Conferences 

 

Up to two (2) non-student work days may be scheduled at the discretion of the 

Administration for parent/teacher conferences in the elementary schools.  A teacher 

is expected to be available for parent/teacher conferences for a period of time 

approximately equal to the regular work day, but may schedule his or her day as 

necessary to meet the needs and expectations of parents.  Parent/teacher 

conferences may be conducted prior to and/or after the start of the school day, or on 

a day other than the regularly scheduled parent/teacher conference day at the 

discretion of the teacher and in order to accommodate the schedules of parents, 

provided that this shall not interrupt normal school operations.  It is understood that 

if a teacher completes his/her parent teacher conferences by meeting with parents 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.88",  No bullets or numbering

312



outside the regular work day, or on a day other than the day scheduled for parent 

teacher conferences, the teacher need not be present at school during any 

unscheduled or unassigned time on the regularly scheduled parent/teacher 

conference day.   

 

ARTICLE 10--PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
 

10.1 a. Planning of Curriculum and Professional Development:  The Superintendent shall 

establish procedures to incorporate the professional voice of educators into the 

planning of curriculum and professional development in a manner which harmonizes 

the needs of the individual educator with the needs of the schools for a coherent plan 

of systemic improvement.  The procedures established by the superintendent shall be 

subject to review by the Labor Management Committees established in Article 15.4. 

 

b. The actual dates for non-student work days shall be determined by the 

Superintendent, consistent with the WCUUSD calendar and with the terms of this 

Agreement. 

 

c. The parties agree that activities for two (2) of the non-student work days shall be 

determined by the teachers for individual and/or group projects within school 

buildings, and that one (1) of these days will be scheduled prior to the opening of 

school and one (1) day will be scheduled after the end of the student school year.  

The Parties further agree that activities for the remaining professional development 

days shall be determined by the Administration with input from the Labor 

Management Committees established in Article 15.4. 

 

10.2 General: 

 

The Board shall make a prepayment for or reimbursement to a teacher for approved 

313



professional development activities, i.e., course work, conferences and workshops.  

The Superintendent or designee may authorize pre-payment for a course, 

conference or workshop, subject to the teacher’s written agreement to reimburse the 

district if the course, conference or workshop is not successfully completed and 

further subject to any applicable laws or regulations applicable to the source of 

funding.  “Successful completion” means attaining a grade of ‘B’ or better, or a 

grade of ‘P’ if the course is taken on a ‘pass-fail’ basis.  A teacher shall be eligible 

for prepayment for part or all of the costs associated with an approved professional 

development opportunity by putting this request for prepayment in writing to the 

Superintendent. The teacher will sign an agreement with the Superintendent so that 

in the event the teacher fails to complete the course, workshop or other educational 

training, s/he will have the amount of prepayment paid by the district withheld from 

his/her paychecks over the remainder of the school year, unless a different 

repayment schedule is mutually agreed to between the teacher and the 

Superintendent. 

 

The Superintendent or designee may deny approval for attendance at a course, 

workshop, or conference which presents scheduling conflicts with the teacher’s 

work schedule.   

 

Part-time teachers will be eligible for reimbursement for professional development 

activities on a pro-rated basis. 

 

a. Course Work:  The Board shall pre-pay or reimburse teachers taking approved 

graduate level credits.  Reimbursement or pre-payment for graduate level credits 

shall not exceed the fall in-state credit hour rate for UVM graduate level 

courses.  A teacher is eligible for reimbursement for up to a maximum of six (6) 

credit hours per year.  If a teacher takes six (6) credit hours at a cost which is 

less than the cost of six (6) credit hours at the approved UVM rate, the 

Superintendent may approve reimbursement for additional credit hours, 

314



provided that the total cost of all approved credits does not exceed the cost of 

six (6) credits at the UVM rate.  To be eligible for reimbursement and 

movement on the salary schedules, such credit hours must be for courses which 

are aligned with the District’s Strategic Plan or Action Plan, and/or the 

professional development needs of the teacher as identified through the 

teacher’s re-licensure or the WCUUSD Supervision and Evaluation Process, 

taken at the graduate level at an accredited college or university.  Undergraduate 

courses may be approved at the discretion of the Superintendent or 

superintendent’s designee.   

 

b. The Superintendent or designee may deny approval for any “on-line” course 

offered by an institution of higher education which is not fully accredited, or 

from any institution of higher learning if the credit hours or units would not be 

accepted as graduate level credit hours by the issuing institution.  Teachers are 

responsible for any costs incurred for transportation or lodging associated with 

courses in which they enroll.  Teachers are responsible for the costs of books 

and materials required for any courses they enroll in, except in cases where 

books and/or materials are included within the tuition rate, and subject to the 

maximum payment amounts provided by this section.  Teachers are also 

responsible for miscellaneous costs and fees, such as registration fees, 

laboratory fees, library fees and the like.   

 

c. Workshops and Conferences:  The Superintendent or designee may approve a 

teacher’s attendance at a conference or workshop which is aligned with the 

District’s Strategic Plan or Action Plan, and/or the professional development 

needs of the teacher as identified through the teacher’s re-licensure or the 

WCUUSD Supervision and Evaluation Process.  

 
d. As a result of participating in professional development activities, teachers 

might acquire materials, and/or equipment, and/or services, either at no cost or 

315



as part of the participation fee.  If the professional development activity will be 

paid for by the school or WCUUSD, and the products or services are equivalent 

to similar products that could be of institutional use in the schools, the products 

or services become the property of the school or WCUUSD, respectively. These 

products and services include such things as print publications, digital devices, 

peripherals, accessories, software, and subscriptions to online services. Small 

items such as flash storage, tote bags, and water bottles would not be included. 

Expenses actually incurred in connection with attendance at an approved 

workshop or conference will be reimbursed upon submission of appropriate 

supporting documentation and/or detailed receipts, subject to the following 

maximum rates: 

(1) Overnight conference:  lodging, travel and meals $175 per day total. 

(2) Day conference:  $45 per day for meals and associated expenses. 

(3) Teachers will not be reimbursed for the cost of alcoholic beverages.  In 

those situations where the cost of food or lodging is likely to be substantially 

higher than the reimbursement rates established herein, the Principal may 

approve higher reimbursement amounts on a case by case basis. 

 

e. The cost of courses, workshops and conferences will be allocated to the fiscal 

year in which the course, workshop or conference starts. 

 

f. Prepayment, as used in this Article, shall be made directly to the agency or 

institution providing the conference or workshop, and not to teachers.   

 

10.3 Professional Memberships:  Annually, the Board will provide funding for teacher 

membership(s) in an approved professional association.  A Department of U-32 or 

an elementary school may purchase up to one (1) membership in the same 

professional organization for each three (3) teachers per subject area.  In no case 

will a Department or elementary school be allocated less than $100 annually for the 

purchase of professional memberships. 

316



 

10.4 Professional Texts:  The Board and Association agree in principle that professional 

texts and subscriptions are essential to keeping educators current with best 

practices, and adequate resources shall be provided to acquire professional texts or 

subscriptions relative to the mission of school(s).  Texts or other materials 

purchased under this provision shall remain the property of the district. 

 

10.5 New Teacher Mentoring Program:  The WCUUSD shall develop and implement a 

mentoring program for new teachers, i.e., those with less than three years teaching 

experience, and for other newly hired teachers as deemed necessary or appropriate.  

Mentors shall be trained and supported in this work.  Resources shall be provided so 

that mentors and mentees have time and support to achieve the goals of the 

program. 

 

ARTICLE 11--INSURANCE 
 

11.1 Health Insurance    

Effective January 1, 2021, pursuant to 16 V.S.A chapter 61, (Commission on Public 

School Employee Health Benefits) health care benefits and coverage, excluding 

stand-alone vision and dental benefits, but including health reimbursement 

arrangements and health savings accounts, shall be governed by the written 

agreement incorporating the terms of the statewide health insurance bargaining 

found in Appendix A of this collective bargaining agreement. 

 

During the period July 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020 the Health Insurance  

Program shall be as follows: 

a. Teachers may enroll in one (1) of the four (4) group health plans offered by 

VEHI.  The District will contribute an amount of money toward the cost of 

health insurance premium for the plan selected by a full-time teacher equal to 80 

Formatted: Not Highlight

Commented [JSC1]: Given that the Parties agree to Appendix A 
it seems unnecessary to go on and specify the terms of health 
insurance coverage in this Article.  The danger is that there could be 
a difference between what is described in the Article and what is 
required by the Appendix. For example, the Article incorrectly 
described the premium contribution of the Board to the cost of 
premium for the Silver CDHP Plan.  See my edits below.  

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

317



% of the premium costs for the VEHI Gold CDHP Plan.  A teacher electing 

coverage under the VEHI Gold CDHP Plan or a more expensive group health 

Plan offered by VEHI will pay the difference in premium cost between the cost 

of the Plan selected and the amount contributed by the District.  A teacher 

selecting coverage under a less expensive Plan offered by VEHI may apply the 

District’s premium contribution to the cost of the Plan selected in an amount up 

to but not to exceed the full cost of the annual premium for that Plan. (See 

Appendix D) 

 

An eligible teacher may select single, two-person, parent and child(ren) or family 

coverage under any of the available plans offered by VEHI.  

 

 In addition to the premium contributions referenced above, the District will establish and 

maintain a Health Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA) for teachers who select coverage 

under any of the Plans offered by VEHI.  Teachers and the District will share 

responsibility for the payment of deductibles, co-payments and/or co-insurance required 

under each Plan offered by VEHI as follows: 

 

 Gold CDHP Plan: Maximum out of pocket (OOP) costs of $2,500 single coverage, 

$5,000 other coverages. The Board is responsible for the first 100% of OOP costs 

required under the level of coverage selected, which is currently $2500 for single and 

$5000 for all other coverage levels (i.e., two person, parent/child/ family).  The Board 

will fund these amounts through a Health Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA).  

 

 Platinum Plan:  Maximum out of pocket (OOP) costs of $2,800 single coverage, $5,600 

other coverages. The Board will have the same monetary obligation to fund the first 

dollar of OOP costs required under the Platinum Plan that the Board has under the Gold 

CDHP Plan, based on the level of coverage selected.  Teachers will be financially 

responsible to pay the difference in last dollar OOP costs associated with the Platinum 

Plan, based on the level of coverage selected.   The Board will fund its share of the OOP 

318



costs under the Platinum Plan through an HRA.   

 

 Gold Plan: Maximum out of pocket (OOP) costs of $3,100 single coverage, $6,200 other 

coverages. The Board will have the same monetary obligation to fund the first dollar of 

OOP costs required under the Gold Plan that the Board has under the Gold CDHP Plan, 

based on the level of coverage selected.  Teachers will be financially responsible to pay 

the difference in last dollar OOP costs associated with the Gold Plan, based on the level 

of coverage selected.   The Board will fund its share of the OOP costs under the Gold 

Plan through an HRA.  

 

 Silver Plan:  Maximum out of pocket (OOP) costs of $4,000 single coverage, $8,000 

other coverages. The Board will have the same monetary obligation to fund the first 

dollar of OOP costs required under the Silver Plan that the Board has under the Gold 

CDHP Plan, based on the level of coverage selected.  Teachers will be financially 

responsible to pay the difference in last dollar OOP costs associated with the Silver Plan, 

based on the level of coverage selected.   The Board will fund its share of the OOP costs 

under the Silver Plan through an HRA.  

 

11.2  Effective January 1, 2021 the Health Insurance Program for full time teachers shall be as 

follows: 

a. Teachers may enroll in one (1) of the four (4) group health plans offered by 

VEHI.  The District will contribute eighty percent (80%) of the premium cost of 

the VEHI Gold CDHP Plan or eighty percent (80%) of the premium cost of the 

VEHI CDHP Plan toward the premium cost of either the VEHI Platinum, 

Gold or Gold CDHP Plan as selected by the teacher for any tier of coverage.  

A teacher electing coverage under either the VEHI Platinum Gold or Gold 

CDHP Plan will pay the difference in premium cost between the cost of the 

Plan selected and the amount that would have been contributed by the District to 

the cost of the same coverage under the Gold CDHP Plan. The District will 

contribute eighty percent (80%) of the premium cost of the VEHI Silver 

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: No underline

Formatted: Strikethrough

Commented [JSC2]: The stricken portion of the sentence is 
duplicative. 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

319



CDHP Plan toward the premium cost of the VEHI Silver CDHP Plan as 

selected by the teacher for any tier of coverage.  A teacher electing 

coverage under the VEHI Silver CDHP Plan will pay the difference in 

premium cost between the cost of the Plan selected and the amount 

contributed by the District to the cost of that coverage.  

 

a.b.  

 

An eligible teacher may select single, two-person, parent and child(ren) or family 

coverage under any of the available plans offered by VEHI.  

 

 In addition to the premium contributions referenced above, the District will establish and 

maintain a Health Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA) for teachers who select coverage 

under any of the Plans offered by VEHI.  Teachers and the District will share 

responsibility for the payment of deductibles, co-payments and/or co-insurance required 

under each Plan offered by VEHI as follows: 

 

 Gold CDHP Plan: Maximum out of pocket (OOP) costs of $2,500 single coverage, 

$5,000 other coverages. The Board is responsible for the first $2,100 of OOP costs for 

single and the first $4,200 of OOP costs for all other coverage levels (i.e., two person, 

parent/child/ family).  The Board will fund these amounts through a Health 

Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA). Teachers are responsible to pay the remaining 

OOP costs: single $400, two person, parent/child/family $800.. 

 

 Silver CDHP Plan: Maximum out of pocket (OOP) costs of $4,000 single coverage, 

$8,000 other coverages. The Board is responsible for the first $2,100 of OOP costs for 

single and the first $4,200 of OOP costs for all other coverage levels (i.e., two person, 

parent/child/ family). The Board will fund these amounts either through a Health 

Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA) or a Health Savings Account (HSA) at the 

discretion of the individual teacher.  Teachers will be financially responsible to pay the 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.13",  No bullets or numbering

320



difference in last dollar OOP costs associated with the Silver CDHP Plan based on level 

of coverage selected – single $1900, two person, parent/child, family $3,800.  

 

 Platinum Plan:  Maximum out of pocket (OOP) costs of $2,800 single coverage, $5,600 

other coverages. The Board will have the same monetary obligation to fund the first 

dollar of OOP costs required under the Platinum Plan that the Board has under the Gold 

CDHP Plan, based on the level of coverage selected.  Teachers will be financially 

responsible to pay the difference in last dollar OOP costs associated with the Platinum 

Plan, based on the level of coverage selected – single $700, two person, parent/child, 

family $1,400..   The Board will fund its share of the OOP costs under the Platinum Plan 

through an HRA.   

 

 Gold Plan: Maximum out of pocket (OOP) costs of $3,100 single coverage, $6,200 other 

coverages. The Board will have the same monetary obligation to fund the first dollar of 

OOP costs required under the Gold Plan that the Board has under the Gold CDHP Plan, 

based on the level of coverage selected.  Teachers will be financially responsible to pay 

the difference in last dollar OOP costs associated with the Gold Plan, based on the level 

of coverage selected – single $1,000, two person, parent/child, family $2,000.   The 

Board will fund its share of the OOP costs under the Gold Plan through an HRA.  

 

 There will be no pro-ration of the District’s contribution toward HRA funding for 

teachers who become employed or eligible for insurance after January 31 of any Plan 

Year.   

 

 Funds in the HRA will be available and may be used solely to pay for qualified medical 

and prescription drug expenses that track towards the annual deductible, co-payment or 

co-insurance expenses required by the Plan selected.  There shall be no payments caps on 

a “per participant” basis other than the maximum HRA contribution made by the District.   

 

 Payments for eligible OOP charges incurred will be made automatically to the Provider. 

321



The WCUUSD Flexible Benefits Plan document will allow employees to roll over funds 

from one calendar year to the next to the extent allowed by law.  

 

 Unspent funds in the District’s HRA will not roll over or accumulate from year to year, 

but will revert to the District, subject to a ninety (90) day run out period.   

  

 Any substantive or procedural issue related to the operation or administration of the HRA 

Plan not specified herein is left to the discretion of the District. 

  

 The Board will be responsible for the administrative costs of operating the HRA plan.   

 

b.c. In cases where teachers who are either married to each other or are civil union 

partners and are both employed under the terms of this agreement, one teacher 

shall select primary coverage and the other shall be covered as a dependent. 

 

c.d. All premium rebates received will be divided and distributed between the 

district and the teachers employed thereunder based on the respective 

percentage of premiums paid by each party. 

 

d.e. Employees can convert employee-paid health and dental insurance premiums, 

deductibles, co-payments, co-insurance and uninsured medical and dental 

expenses to pre-tax expenses in the WCUUSD Flexible Benefits Plan. The set-

up and maintenance costs for said plan will be borne by the Board.  Teachers 

shall pay their share of health and dental insurance premium costs through the 

WCUUSD Flexible Benefits Plan established for that purpose. 

 

e.f. Teachers eligible for health insurance benefits who neither elect coverage nor 

receive coverage as a dependent shall receive thirty-five hundred dollars 

($3,500.00) in addition to their salary, provided the teacher demonstrates proof 

of qualified health insurance coverage for the teacher and his/her dependents 

322



from another source. The cash payment provided hereunder shall be pro-rated 

for eligible part time teachers who elect not to take health insurance from the 

Board. Cash payments to teachers as provided herein may constitute taxable 

income and the teacher receiving such benefit is solely responsible for any 

resulting tax liability. 

 
f.g. Effective January 1, 2021: A teacher’s domestic partner and/or the children of 

that domestic partner is considered a dependent for the purpose of health 

insurance benefits under this Agreement.  A teacher seeking to obtain health 

insurance benefits for their domestic partner shall satisfy the following criteria 

and submit the attached affidavit, signed by both parties, to the district business 

office.  The monetary value of the health benefits provided to teachers on behalf 

of their domestic partner may constitute taxable income and the teacher 

receiving the value of such benefits is solely responsible for any resulting tax 

liability. The following criteria must be met: 

 
(1) The teacher and the domestic partner are each other’s sole domestic partner 

and have been in an enduring domestic relationship sharing a residence for not 

less than six (6) consecutive months before enrolling in the district’s health 

insurance plan; and  

(2) The teacher and the domestic partner are3 at least eighteen (18) years of age 

or older; and 

(3)  Neither the teacher nor the domestic partner is married to anyone; and  

(4) the teacher and the domestic partner are not related by blood closer than 

would bar marriage under Vermont Law; and 

(5) The teacher and the domestic partner are competent to enter into a legally 

binding contract; and  

(6) the teacher and the domestic partner have agreed between themselves to be 

responsible for each other’s welfare.  

(7) Children of a teacher’s domestic partner are eligible for coverage hereunder 

provided that they meet the eligibility criteria for dependent children under the 

323



eligibility provisions for school health benefit coverage; the child or children 

can be claimed as a dependent by the teacher and/or the domestic partner for 

federal income tax purposes; the child or children reside with the teacher and 

the domestic partner; and the teacher and the domestic partner have agreed 

between themselves to be jointly responsible for the child or children’s welfare.  

 

11.23 Insurance Benefits for Part-time Teachers 

a. July 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020: A teacher employed under this 

Agreement shall receive pro-rated insurance benefits if he/she works one-half time 

(.5 FTE) or more.  The Board will pay a percentage of the amount the Board would 

have contributed on behalf of a full-time teacher, pro-rated to the part-time 

teacher’s full-time equivalency, and the teacher shall pay the remainder.  

b.  Effective January 1, 2021: A teacher employed under this Agreement shall 

receive pro-rated insurance benefits if he/she is contracted to work at least 17.5 

hours a week.  The Board will pay a percentage of the premium amount the Board 

would have contributed on behalf of a full-time teacher for the plan selected, pro-

rated to the part-time teacher’s full-time equivalency, and the teacher shall pay the 

remainder. The Board HRA or HSA contribution shall be paid in full, and shall not 

be subject to pro-ration.  

 

11.34 The Board agrees to provide coverage for dental insurance, and it will absorb the 

administrative costs, including any payroll deduction of premium costs, for such a 

plan.  The Board shall pay one hundred percent (100%) of a single membership.  If 

any employee chooses a family membership, he or she shall pay any additional 

costs over a single membership.  

 

11.45     a.  All teachers of the WCUUSD will be covered by Workers’ Compensation 

Insurance as a protection against personal injury while on duty. 

 b.  A teacher receiving Workers’ Compensation benefits may elect to draw from 

his/her accumulated paid sick days (up to the equivalent of their take home pay) for 

Formatted: No underline

Formatted: No underline

Formatted: Highlight

324



any day that the teacher is on Workers’ Compensation. 

 c.   A teacher who has returned from Workers’ Compensation leave taken for a work 

related injury will not have time deducted from other leaves provided in this 

contract for attending appointments related to said injury per 21 VSA §640(c). 

 

11.56 The Board agrees to provide disability insurance, and the Association agrees to 

accept any additional benefits included with the disability policy in place, to all 

teachers who are eligible to receive benefits under the terms of this Agreement.   

Disability coverage will begin after meeting the eligibility requirements for 

receiving benefits under the disability plan, including a ninety (90) day elimination 

period.  Disabilities are only those medical conditions as defined as disabilities by 

the carrier and covered by said insurance policy.  The benefit will cover sixty-six 

and two-third percent (66 2/3%) of monthly earnings with a maximum benefit of 

$6,000 per month. 

 

ARTICLE 12--LEAVES AND ABSENCES 
 

12.1 Sick Leave 

 

General:  For purposes of Article 12 of this Agreement, the term “day(s)” shall be 

defined as working days, exclusive of vacations or other calendar days when 

teachers are not required to work; and the term “week(s)” shall be defined as a 

period of five working days.  The term “month(s)” shall be defined as calendar 

months, and “year(s)” shall be defined as school years unless otherwise stated.   

 

a. Each teacher shall be entitled to fifteen (15) days of sick leave without loss of 

pay each school year.  Sick leave may be used to cover the absence of a teacher 

due to his/her sickness or disability; for the sickness or disability of a member 

of the teacher’s family to the extent provided in Article 12.4; and as permitted 

325



by state or federal statute.  A teacher may designate one (1) sick leave day for 

religious observance, with notification to administrators on or before October 1 

each year.  

 

b. When the effective date of employment is before January 1, the teacher shall be 

given credit for the full annual sick leave entitlement.  When the effective date 

of employment is after January 1, the teacher shall be given the pro-rata 

allowance for the remainder of the year. 

 

c. Unused sick leave may be accumulated as stated above to a maximum of ninety 

(90) days.   

 

d. Each teacher shall be notified annually of his or her available number of sick 

leave days. 

 

e. Leave for temporary disability related to pregnancy or childbirth shall be in 

accordance with Articles 12.5 and 12.6 of this Agreement. 

 

f. When a teacher experiences a work related injury and absence resulting directly 

from a physical assault against the teacher in the course of the teacher’s good 

faith performance of employment duties, and is subsequently provided with 

temporary total or partial disability benefits under the Worker’s Compensation 

statutes, the District will make up the difference between the temporary total or 

partial disability benefits awarded and the teacher’s regular base salary for up to 

a maximum of one hundred ninety (190) days or the end of the school year in 

which the assault occurs, whichever is earlier.  

 

12.2 Pay for Accrued Sick Leave 

 

After serving five (5) years in the District, a teacher who retires pursuant to the 

326



Vermont Teacher Retirement laws shall be paid the sum of ten dollars ($10.00) per 

day for each day of accumulated sick leave up to a maximum of seventy-five (75) 

days. 

 

12.3 Donation of Sick Leave 

 

Any teacher may donate sick days to any other teacher within the district who, 

because of serious illness, has used all sick leave days allotted to him or her 

according to the following provisions: 

 

a. No one person may receive more than forty-five (45) days per year, and in no 

event shall a teacher receive more donated days than are necessary to meet the 

90-day elimination period for eligibility in the disability insurance program. 

 

b. The recipient must have exhausted personal sick leave. 

 

c. An employee may not receive donated days unless and until the employee has 

been ill for three consecutive work days subsequent to the exhaustion of 

personal sick leave, except in the case of a continuing prolonged illness. 

 

d. The recipient must provide a doctor's certification of medical disability.  At the 

option of the Board, a second opinion may be required. 

e. There shall be no additional sick leave days for elective medical procedures. 

 

f. The teacher receiving the donation must have made a timely application for 

long term disability benefits provided under this Agreement, if applicable. 

 

g.  The teacher receiving the donation is not receiving benefits under the long-term 

disability program provided under this Agreement.  

 

327



12.4 Family Illness 

 

Up to fifteen (15) days a year of a teacher’s personal sick leave may be used to 

attend to sickness or the temporary disability of a child, spouse or civil union (CU) 

partner, parent, sibling, father or mother (or CU) in-law, or any person domiciled 

with the teacher for whom the teacher is responsible.  Nothing set forth herein shall 

be construed to limit a teacher’s right to use personal sick leave pursuant to the 

provisions of any applicable state or federal law. 

 

12.5 Family Leave/Parental Leave 
 

The family medical and parental leave provisions herein are available to teachers 

employed at least .5 FTE, regardless of their length of service with the District.  

Leave hereunder shall run concurrent with any statutory family medical leave or 

parental leave for which a teacher may be eligible under the federal Family and 

Medical Leave Act (FMLA) or Vermont’s Parental and Family Leave Act 

(VPFLA).  Except as provided in section 12.5 (b) this Article does not create 

additional leave entitlements for eligible employees beyond those established by 

statute.  

 

a. Family Medical Leave 

(1) A teacher shall be entitled to a leave for up to twelve (12) weeks, unpaid, 

during any twelve (12) month period in the case of a serious health 

condition of the employee or in the teacher’s immediate family.  During this 

period the teacher may use up to six weeks (30 working days) of sick leave 

or other accrued leave.  A serious health condition is defined as an illness, 

injury, impairment for physical or mental conditions that involves inpatient 

care in a hospital, hospice or residential medical-care facility, or continuing 

treatment by health-care providers. 

(2) Providing care for a serious health condition does not diminish the benefit 

Formatted: Font color: Auto

328



under the sick leave Article for use by the teacher him/herself or in other 

instances of family illness, except as to the number of sick days used. 

 

b. Parental Leave 

Teachers shall be entitled to a leave for up to twelve (12) weeks, unpaid, during 

any twelve (12) month period: (1) during the teacher’s pregnancy, or following 

the birth of a child, or (2) following the placement of a child with the teacher for 

adoption or foster care.  During these periods of parental leave, the teacher may 

use up to eight weeks (40 days) of sick leave or other accrued paid leave.  When 

leave begins less than six weeks before the last working day of the school year 

or begins more than two weeks prior to the first working day of the school year, 

only six weeks of leave will be paid leave.   

 

c. Unpaid Leave 

No provisions of this Article or the contractual definitions of “serious health 

condition” shall be determined to diminish the entitlement of any eligible 

teacher to unpaid leave under Vermont’s Parental and Family Leave Act 

(VPFLA) or under the Family Medical and Leave Act (FMLA).  Leave taken 

under this Article shall be credited against any leave entitlement under the 

VPFLA or the FMLA to the full extent of the law, provided the District has 

notified the employee in advance of the approved leave period that said leave 

will be counted against his or her entitlement.  Benefits during unpaid leave will 

be as mandated in the VPFLA and the FMLA for eligible teachers. 

 

12.6 Extended Leave of Absence 

 

An unpaid leave of absence for a term not to exceed one (1) academic year shall be 

granted upon the request of a teacher for reasons of pregnancy or child care if the 

leave is requested immediately after birth, adoption or for personal illness.  The 

Board, at its discretion, may grant an extended leave of absence for other purposes 

329



including, but not limited to, professional study. 

 

The conditions of an extended leave are as follows: 

 

a. The teacher shall request said leave at least thirty (30) days in advance, except 

in the case of an emergency. 

 

b. A teacher on an unpaid leave of absence may return to his or her position at the 

beginning of any semester, provided notice was given to the Administration at 

the time the leave commenced. 

 

c. A teacher on a leave of absence may continue to participate in the medical 

insurance plan herein provided at the teacher’s own expense, subject to the 

regulations of the insurance carrier, and provided said teacher pays the 

premiums due prior to the regularly scheduled group premium payment being 

made by the Board. 

 

d. Failure of the teacher to notify the Board of an intent to return by February 1 

shall relieve the District of all contractual obligations.  Such notification shall be 

by certified mail. 

e. The teacher granted such leave is guaranteed a return to the same or a 

substantially equivalent position and placement on the salary step (immediately 

following the step attained during the year prior to the leave) appropriate for the 

years’ experience the teacher had been credited.  If the teacher chooses to fill a 

lesser position, the future right to return to the same position is limited to 

available vacancies. 

 

12.7 Jury Duty 

 

When a teacher is called to jury duty, the District shall compensate the teacher the 

330



differential between the daily rate of the contract salary and such compensation as 

may be paid for jury duty.  This, of course, is in lieu of the teacher's regular salary.  

The teacher shall retain moneys paid for mileage. 

 

12.8 Sabbatical Leave 

Sabbatical leave will be granted to a teacher by the Board subject to the following: 

 

a. Request must be made to the Superintendent no later than March 1 and action 

will be taken by April 1. 

 

b. The teacher must have spent five (5) full years in the District and agree to stay 

two (2) years after termination of sabbatical leave. 

 

c. A teacher who applies for sabbatical leave will teach full-time for four (4) years 

at four-fifths salary.  The fifth year, the year of the sabbatical leave, the teacher 

will receive four-fifths salary on the next step.  Upon return, the teacher will be 

placed on the same step as during the sabbatical leave. 

 

d. A teacher who receives a sabbatical leave shall be entitled to full re-

employment rights and upon return from sabbatical will be returned to the same 

position as before the leave commenced.  Teachers on sabbatical will be 

allowed to continue participation in the insurance program(s). 

 

e. A teacher, who at any time decides against the leave, will be paid a lump sum 

equal to the wages withheld. 

 

12.9 Bereavement Leave 

 

Up to five (5) days may be granted for each death in the Teacher's "immediate 

family" as defined below.  One (1) day shall be granted for each death in the teacher's 

331



"other family" as defined below.  Two (2) additional days may be granted for travel 

with the approval of the superintendent, or designee. 

 

a. Immediate family is defined as: spouse or civil union partner, parents/step-

parents, children/step-children, siblings, current mother/father/son or daughter-

in-law, grandparents, grandchildren, current brother/sister in-law and any other 

person domiciled with the teacher.  Other family is defined as: aunt, uncle, 

niece, nephew, cousins and step siblings. 

b. Teachers must provide the name and relationship of the deceased to be eligible 

for bereavement leave. 

c. The Superintendent or designee may approve a request for bereavement leave 

upon the death of an unrelated person who was in a significant familial 

relationship to the employee. 

 

12.10 Personal Leave 

 

Up to three (3) days a year without loss of pay shall be granted for leaves for 

personal, legal, business, religious, household or family matters under the 

following provisions: 

a. Prior notice shall be given at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance to the 

Principal, except in the case of emergency, in which case notice will be given as 

soon as possible. 

 

b. Such leave shall be taken only for matters which cannot reasonably be 

accomplished outside of the normal teaching day. 

 

c. Personal leave days are not available for vacation purposes.  Personal leave will 

be in addition to any other leave provided in this Article, and will not be granted 

for the purpose of extending a vacation, accommodating travel plans, and the 

332



like.  A teacher may provide information on the reason for a personal day 

requested for the workday immediately before or after a vacation. 

 

12.11 Professional Leave 

 

Leave for the purpose of visiting other schools or attending meetings or conferences 

of an educational nature may be granted in any school year according to the 

following: 

 

a. Written request must be submitted to the Principal three (3) days prior to said 

visitation or conference. 

b.  Said visitation or conference must relate to the teacher's assigned level or 

subject matter. 

c. Prior written approval must be granted by the Administration. 

d. The Administration and teachers shall endeavor to schedule attendance at 

conferences outside the regular work week or work year to the extent possible.  

 

12.12 Part-time teachers are eligible for paid leave benefits on a pro-rated basis. 

 

12.13 Military Leave 

 

a. The Board will grant a leave of absence to the extent required by law to an 

employee who is called up for active duty in the Armed Forces of the United 

States, or to serve in the Vermont National Guard, Army Reserve, or other 

Reserves.  The Board will adhere to all federal and state laws upon an 

employee’s return to employment from any such military leave of absence. 

 

b. When an employee or member of an employee’s immediate family (child, 

spouse or civil union partner, parent) is called to active military service for a 

period of six (6) months or longer, the employee may use up to five (5) days of 

333



sick leave (in addition to any accrued personal leave available to the employee) 

prior to the employee’s or the employee family member’s date of departure to 

attend to personal and family matters related to the military activation.  The paid 

leave shall be taken in one (1) day increments.  In the event the employee has 

no accrued sick leave, other staff in the school will be allowed to donate sick 

leave to the employee. 

 

ARTICLE 13--GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 

13.1 Definition 

 

a. Any claim by the Association or a teacher that there has been a violation, 

misinterpretation, or misapplication of the terms of this Agreement, or a 

violation of its or the teacher's right to fair treatment, shall be a "grievance."  

However, grievances, with respect to any matters which are not a specific part 

of this Agreement, shall not be subject to resolution by arbitration, and the 

resolution of such non-contractual matters shall not be deemed to establish 

precedent. 

 

b. An "aggrieved person" is the person or persons making the claim. 

 

c. Time Limits:  All the time limits consist of school days, except that when a 

grievance is submitted on or after June 1, time limits shall consist of all 

weekdays, exclusive of legal holidays as defined in V.S.A. T. 1, § 371(a) so that 

the matter may be resolved before the close of school or as soon as possible 

thereafter.  School days for purposes of the grievance procedure shall mean 

teacher employment days. 

 

d. Association Representation:  At least one (1) Association representative shall 

334



have the right to be present for any meeting, hearing, appeal, or other 

proceeding relating to a grievance which has been formally presented.  Nothing 

contained herein shall be construed as limiting the right of any teacher having a 

grievance to discuss the matter informally with a supervisor and to have such 

grievance adjusted without intervention of the Association, provided the 

Association has been notified of the adjustment and the adjustment is not 

inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement. 

 

13.2 Procedure:  A grievance shall be in writing and it shall specify the issue being 

grieved, the provisions of the Agreement which have been violated, and the remedy 

requested. 

 

Step 1:  The teacher or the Association may present the grievance, in writing, to the 

Principal who will arrange for a meeting within five (5) days after receipt of the 

grievance.  The Association's representatives, the aggrieved teacher, the Principal 

and their representatives shall be present for the meeting.  The Principal must 

provide the aggrieved teacher and the Association with a written answer on the 

grievance within three (3) days after the meeting.  Such answer shall include the 

reasons upon which the decision was based.  No grievance shall be given formal 

consideration unless it is filed at Step 1 within thirty (30) days after the grievant had 

knowledge, or should have had knowledge, of the occurrence that gave rise to the 

grievance. 

 

Step 2:  If the Association is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at 

Step 1, or the Step 1 time limits expire without the issuance of the Principal’s written 

answer, then the Association shall have the right to refer the grievance to the 

Superintendent, or his/her official designee.  This referral shall be made in writing 

within ten (10) days of receipt of the Principal’s written answer or within ten (10) 

days of the expiration of the Step 1 time limits if no written answer is received.  If a 

335



referral is not made within the time limits defined above, then the grievance will be 

deemed to be withdrawn. 

 

The Superintendent shall arrange for a meeting with the representatives of the 

grievant to take place within five (5) days of receipt of the appeal.  Each party shall 

have the right to include in its representation such witnesses and counselors as it 

deems necessary to develop facts pertinent to the grievance.  Upon conclusion of the 

hearing, the Superintendent will have ten (10) days in which to provide a written 

decision to the Association. 

 

Step 3:  Arbitration--If the Association is not satisfied with the disposition of the 

grievance at Step 2, or the Step 2 time limits expire without the issuance of the 

Superintendent's written answer, the Association may submit the grievance to final 

and binding arbitration under the Voluntary Labor Arbitration Rules of the 

American Arbitration Association which shall act as the administrator of the 

proceedings.  If a demand for arbitration is not filed within fifteen (15) days of the 

date for the Step 2 reply, then the grievance will be deemed withdrawn. 

 

13.3 Neither the Board nor the Association will be permitted to assert before the 

Arbitrator any grounds or evidence which was not previously disclosed to the other 

party. 

13.4 The Arbitrator shall have no power to alter the terms of this Agreement.  However, 

it is agreed that the Arbitrator is empowered to include in any award such financial 

reimbursements or other remedies as s/he judges to be proper. 

 

13.5 Each party shall bear the full costs for its representation in the arbitration.  The cost 

of the Arbitrator and the American Arbitration Association will be divided equally 

between the parties.  Should either party request a transcript of the proceedings, 

then that party will bear full costs for that transcript.  Should both parties order a 

transcript, the cost of the two transcripts will be divided equally between the parties. 

336



13.6 The Board acknowledges the right of the Association’s grievance representative to 

participate in the processing of a grievance. 

 

13.7 Class grievances involving an administrator above the building level may be filed 

by the Association at Step 2.  Grievances involving dismissal or non-renewal shall 

be filed directly at Step 3 within fifteen (15) days of receipt of any School Board 

decision pursuant to 16 V.S.A. Section 1752. 

 

13.8 No reprisals of any kind will be taken by the Board or by the School Administration 

against any teacher because of participation in the grievance procedure. 

 

13.9 The Board and the Administration will cooperate with the Association in the 

investigation of any grievance, and they will furnish the Association with such 

information as is requested for the processing of any grievance.  Should any new 

information be uncovered during an investigation, the parties may agree to remand 

the grievance to a previous step of the procedure for further consideration.  Should 

the investigation or processing of any grievance require that a teacher or an 

Association representative be released from a regular assignment, the teacher or 

representative shall be released without loss of pay or benefits. 

 

13.10 All documents, communications and records dealing with the processing of a 

grievance will be filed separately from the personnel files of the participants. 

 

13.11 A grievance may be withdrawn at any level without establishing precedent. 

 

13.12 Acknowledgement of Arbitration:  In accordance with 12 V.S.A. §5652(b), the 

Board and the Association understand that this agreement contains an agreement to 

arbitrate.  After signing this agreement, the Board and the Association understand 

that they will not be able to bring a lawsuit concerning any dispute that may arise 

which is covered by the arbitration agreement, unless it involves a question of civil 

337



or constitutional rights.  Instead, the parties agree to submit any such dispute to an 

impartial arbitrator in accordance with the provisions contained in this 

Article.6/18/2021 4:55 PM 

 

ARTICLE 14—SALARY 
 

14.1 Salary 

 

a. Teacher salaries for the 2020-20212021-2023 school year is set forth in 

Appendix A which is attached hereto and made a part hereof.  Extra-curricular 

salaries are set forth in Appendix B which is attached hereto and made a part 

hereof.  Department Head salaries are set forth in Appendix C which is attached 

hereto and made a part hereof.  

 

In the previous 2012-2013 to 2015-2016 Agreement, when salary columns were 

reduced, some teachers were grandfathered on the salary scale, and this is how it 

was done:   

 

Any teacher who is in the B45/M00 column for the 2012-2013 school year 

without a Master’s Degree shall remain in the M00 column for the 2013-2014 

and subsequent school years, unless they change horizontal placement per 

Article 14.2 of this Agreement.  Any teacher who is in the B60/M15 column for 

the 2012-2013 school year without a Master’s Degree shall remain in the M15 

column for the 2013-2014 and subsequent school years, unless they change 

horizontal placement per Article 14.2 of this Agreement.  Any teacher who is in 

the B75/M30 column for the 2012-2013 school year without a Master’s Degree 

shall remain in the M30 column for the 2013-2014 and subsequent school years.  

 

In 2013-2014 and subsequent school years, teachers in a Bachelor’s column 

338



must have a Master’s Degree to be eligible for a change in horizontal placement 

to a Master’s column per Article 14.2 of this Agreement. Teachers who were 

grandfathered to Master’s columns under the life of this Agreement must obtain 

a Master’s Degree to move horizontally to any Master’s column. However, once 

that Master’s Degree is earned, any credits previously earned which are beyond 

the requirements of the Master’s Degree can be applied to a change in 

horizontal placement. 

 

b. Salary increases 

 Step movement:  Unless otherwise negotiated, teachers will move vertically one 

step within their respective columns each year of the contract to the extent they 

are eligible.        

 

c. Co-curricular and department head salaries will increase by 3.7%3.0 for the 

2020-20212021-2022 and 3.5% for the 2022-2023 school year.   The parties 

recognize and acknowledge that the Administration has the right to reorganize 

the administrative and/or co-curricular structure at U-32 without prior 

negotiations. In the event of a reorganization of the administrative structure, the 

parties agree to negotiate the appropriate salary or stipend for the resulting 

positions.  Said positions shall remain part of the bargaining unit.  In the event 

of the reorganization or restructuring of the co-curricular categories and/or 

positions, the parties agree to negotiate the appropriate stipend for such 

categories and/or positions.   

 

The parties also agree that in the event the Co-Curricular Committee 

recommends salaries for any or all co-curricular positions which are higher than 

those negotiated herein, the Board may unilaterally adopt and implement the 

higher salaries by policy without prior negotiations.  Any salary enhancements 

adopted by the Board shall be published as an addendum to Appendix B and 

shall become part of this Agreement. 

Formatted: Highlight

339



 

14.2 Changes in horizontal placement on the salary schedule for the ensuing year require 

notification to the Superintendent and Principal by December 1 of the contract year 

prior to the anticipated horizontal placement change and submission of 

documentation by October 1.  Upon receipt of documentation, the salary adjustment 

shall be retroactive to the beginning of the school year.  Graduate credits or hours 

authorized by the Superintendent which are relevant to the teachers’ assignments 

will be accepted for movement on the salary schedule.  Undergraduate credits may 

be used for movement on the salary schedule if the teacher demonstrates to the 

Superintendent that the course is appropriate and necessary; the Superintendent 

shall have the final discretion that the course is appropriate and necessary. 

 

14.3     Part-time teachers receive salary on a pro-rated basis in accordance with their 

contracted FTE.  Part-time positions will receive full step advancement for salary 

computation.  In the event a part-time teacher from within a district is placed in a 

full-time position during the school year, placement on the schedule shall be on the 

same step the teacher currently occupies on the schedule; if the part-time teacher is 

hired to fill a full-time position for the upcoming school year, he/she will advance 

to the next step upon appointment.  

 

14.4  Upon initial employment, a new teacher shall have his or her relevant experience 

and education evaluated by the Superintendent and be placed on an appropriate step 

and column of the salary schedule, determined by years of experience.  No new 

teacher, however, shall be placed on an experience step of the salary schedule at a 

step higher than a currently employed teacher with comparable experience and 

education. 

 

14.5 The Board, based upon a teacher's unsatisfactory evaluation, may require a teacher 

to take a course(s) to improve the teacher's classroom abilities.  (An unsatisfactory 

evaluation is one in which the administrator states in the evaluation that the overall 

340



evaluation was unsatisfactory.)  Teachers required to take courses under this section 

may borrow, if necessary, against the next year's professional development money, 

as provided in Article 10.2. 

 

14.6 A teacher who works, with the approval of the Administration, in addition to the 

number of days set forth in Article 9.1 of this Agreement will be compensated at the 

applicable per diem rate of pay.  The per diem rate for summer work shall be based 

upon the contracted teacher’s salary for the fiscal year in which the work is 

performed.   

 

14.7 A teacher employed before July 1, 1992 who did not contribute to social security on 

that date shall be entitled to receive an annuity payment.  The amount of the annuity 

shall be four percent (4%) of the teacher's salary.  The teacher shall also contribute 

four percent (4%) to the annuity, and shall so demonstrate.  The annuity shall be 

payable only at age sixty-two (62). 

 

14.8 Teachers who have attained National Board Certification or submitted a portfolio 

by June 30, 2012 shall be provided with a $1,750 additional salary stipend each 

year that the certification remains in force.  Teachers who attain National Board 

Certification after June 30, 2012, or previously National Board Certified Teachers 

who begin employment with the school district after June 30, 2012, shall be 

provided with a $1,500 additional salary stipend each year that the certification 

remains in force.  The additional compensation set forth herein will be pro-rated for 

part time teachers to the percentage of the teacher’s FTE.  No application, testing or 

other fees for the National Board Certification process shall be paid for by 

WCUUSD.   

 

14.9  Teacher Leaders  

 

Each elementary school may select one (1) teacher to serve as a teacher leader from 

341



those who apply for this position to assist/lead in the areas of curriculum, 

instruction, assessment and professional development.  Teacher leaders shall not be 

empowered to do staff evaluations or otherwise supervise staff.  U-32 may select up 

to four (4) teachers from those who apply for this position.  Teachers with a 

minimum of three (3) years of relevant teaching experience in the District may 

apply for such positions and will be selected by the Principal and the Director of 

Curriculum. Appointment of teacher leaders will be made on an annual basis. 

Individual contracts for teacher leaders shall be separate from their individual 

teaching contracts, and will include at least five (5), but not more than ten (10) 

additional work days to be scheduled outside of the regular school day/year (i.e. 

summer work, day before Town Meeting, Saturdays).  Each teacher leader shall be 

eligible to receive per diem pay for each of the up to ten (10) additional days 

worked as teacher leaders.  Such additional days will be scheduled jointly by the 

respective teacher leaders and the building principal in each district. 

 

Job descriptions for the position of Teacher Leader will be developed and agreed 

upon by an equal number of administrators and representatives of the Association.  

 

14.10   School Psychologist 

 

School psychologists that are employed by WCUUSD will remain members of the 

bargaining unit. The compensation is set by the Superintendent and may be outside 

the current salary schedule, consistent with the principle that people with the same 

responsibilities and of comparable experience and education are comparably 

compensated.  

 

14.11 Alternate B15 Column for employees hired prior to July 1, 2012 
 

 

a. Eligibility 

A teacher who is eligible for this provision  

342



1. has a date of hire prior to July 1, 2012 Collective Bargaining Agreement and 

2. is on the salary schedule in the A00-B15 column of the salary schedule in 

Appendix A 

 

b. Step Placement 

Any teacher who meets the criteria above and who is 

1. in the column B-15 for the 2016-2017 school year shall be placed on the Alternate 

B-15 Salary Column.  

2. any teacher who meets the criteria above and who is in the column A00-B00 who 

subsequently earns enough credits to move to B-15 will be placed on the 

Alternate B-15 column. 

 

c. The Grid Calculation for the Alternate B-15 column is the same as the B-15 except 

for steps K-O, an additional $1,000 is added to the formula for each step.   

 

d. Teachers on the Alternate B-15 Salary Schedule shown in Appendix A shall be 

eligible for annual step increases consistent with Article 14.1b. 

 

ARTICLE 15--GENERAL 
 

15.1 If any provision of this Agreement or its application is held to be contrary to law, 

then such provision or application will not be deemed valid and subsisting, except 

to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or applications will continue 

in full force and effect.  The parties will meet not later than ten (10) days after any 

such holding for the purpose of renegotiating the provision(s) affected. 

 

15.2 This Agreement may only be modified in whole or in part by the parties, by an 

instrument in writing, duly executed (signed and dated) by both parties. 

 

343



15.3 This Agreement incorporates the entire understanding of the parties on all matters 

which were the subject of negotiations.  During the terms of this Agreement, neither 

party will be required to negotiate with respect to any such matter whether or not 

covered by this Agreement. 

 

15.4 Labor Management Committees 

 

a. School Labor Management Committees  

The parties agree to establish a School Labor Management Committee at each site.  

 

1.  Purpose 

The purpose of the Committee shall include, but not be limited to: 

• Promote mutual understanding of the functional, professional and personnel 

issues of schools and the interests of teachers and administrators in addressing 

those issues; 

• Resolve functional, professional and personnel problems at the school building 

level; 

• Provide teacher advice in planning anticipated change in educational policy, 

programs and curriculum; 

• Make recommendations to the Labor Management Committee (see 15.4.b) 

  

2.  Committee Make-up 

Each of these committees will be composed of at least three members, 2 appointed by 

the Association, and an appropriate Administrator. Additional members may be added 

by consensus.  A quorum of the committee shall be two members, provided there is at 

least one representative of the Association and one Administrator. 

 

3.  Procedures 

The Association representative at each school will convene an initial and/or 

organizational meeting of the School Labor Management Committee by October 1st. 

344



Each committee shall determine its schedule of meetings.  The Committee will take 

minutes at all meetings. The Superintendent and the Association President(s) will be 

ex officio members of the Committee and, as such, will receive copies of the minutes.   

 

4. School Labor Management Committees have no authority to add to, detract from, or 

change the terms and/or conditions of the existing Agreement between the parties. 

 

      b.   Labor Management Committee 

The Committee shall act as a forum to identify problems and facilitate investigation 

of alternatives for problem resolution at the district level.  Interest based/integrative 

methods shall be used in this work. 

 

1.  Purpose 

The purpose of the Committee shall include, but not be limited to: 

A. providing an avenue for dialogue and problem-solving between the Association(s), 

the Administration and the Boards; 

B. discussing educational changes in the district;  

C. reviewing School Labor Management Committee recommendations which have 

system-wide implications; 

D. promoting the sustainability and success of School Labor Management 

Committees; 

E. reviewing educational policies, programs and practices, and recommendations for 

changes;  

F. permitting input by stakeholders  on matters of an educational nature. 

 

2.  Committee Make-up 

The membership of the Labor Management Committee shall be comprised of the 

following: 

• Superintendent  

• One president or co-president of the Association(s)  

345



• One representative appointed by the WCUUSD Board 

• Additional members by consensus of the above, providing balanced representation 

of stakeholders, appointed at the organizational meeting each year, including ESP 

members according to the terms and conditions of the ESP Collective Bargaining 

Agreement. 

 

Members shall be empowered to make decisions and recommendations on behalf 

of their constituencies.  A quorum of the Committee shall be the first three members 

listed above. 

 

Additional members of the bargaining unit and/or administrative members may be 

used as consultants when appropriate. When deemed appropriate by the Committee, 

a single issue task force may be established for the purpose of examining an issue 

and reporting its findings to the Committee.  This task force may include members 

who are not members of the Committee. 

 

3. Procedures 

A. The Superintendent will convene an organizational meeting no later than 

September 15th each year. Functions of the organizational meeting include 

establishing a schedule of subsequent meetings, and agreeing on consensus-based 

decision making procedures. 

B. The Committee will prepare and distribute a written progress report to the full 

WCUUSD Board, the Association, and the Leadership Team shortly after each 

committee meeting. 

C. The Committee shall work by consensus; when consensus is reached, the 

Committee will develop a written recommendation(s). 

D. The parties will act initially on the written recommendation within thirty (30) 

calendar days of receipt. 

 

4. The Labor Management Committee has no authority to add to, detract from, or change 

346



the terms and/or conditions of the existing Agreement between the parties; nor will it 

have any authority to add to, detract from, or impair in any way the legal responsibilities 

of the Board of Education or the Association. 

 

5. Any educational restructuring recommended by the Labor Management Committee 

which has an impact on the terms and conditions of this agreement or the ESP 

agreement, may be implemented only after a memorandum of agreement has been 

negotiated and ratified by the Association and the Board. 

 

      c.  Mutual Obligations 

1.  Members of the Committee(s) have an obligation to the success of the work.  While 

personal affairs may from time to time legitimately interfere with this obligation, the 

Committees shall establish norms for attendance to enable the Committees to fulfill their 

function. 

 

2. The Board and the Association(s) recognize the value that professional participation on 

these committees provides for both individual professional development and building the 

leadership capacity of the system. Participation in the work of these committees requires a 

major commitment of time on the part of the bargaining unit professional. Teacher 

contribution on either type of committee shall be considered by administration as 

significant evidence of achievement in Domain 4 of the Danielson Rubric for purposes of 

evaluation.   

 

ARTICLE 16--NO STRIKE PLEDGE 
 

The Board and the Association agree that disputes that may arise between them shall be 

settled without strike or lockout.  The Board agrees it will not lock out any or all of its 

teachers during the term of this Agreement, and the Association agrees on behalf of itself 

and its membership that there shall be no strikes, slow-downs, or interference of the 

normal operation of the school during the term of this Agreement. 

347



 

ARTICLE 17--DURATION 
 

The provisions of this Agreement will be effective as of July 1, 20201, and will continue 

and remain in full force and effect until June 30, 20213.  Said Agreement will be 

automatically renewed and will continue in full force and effect for additional periods of 

one (1) year unless either the Board or the Association gives notice, in writing, to the 

other no later than November 1, prior to the expiration date or any anniversary thereof, 

and its desire to reopen this Agreement and to negotiate over terms of a successor 

Agreement. 

  

348



 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hands and seals this ____ 
day of _______________________, 20210. 

 
 

WASHINGTON CENTRAL EDUCATORS UNION 
 
 
BY:______________________________ 
 
 
BY:______________________________ 
  
 
  
  
 
 
WASHINGTON CENTRAL UNIFIED UNION SCHOOL DISTRICT  
BOARD OF SCHOOL DIRECTORS 
 
 
BY:______________________________  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

349



 

Appendix A   
 

Terms and Conditions as Required by the Arbitration Award and Resolution of 
Negotiations Between the Commission of Public School Employee Health Benefits 
Pursuant to the Provisions of 16 V.S.A. Chapter 61  

 
Article I. Recognition: 

1.1 In accordance with 16 V.S.A. Chapter 61 (Act 11 of the 2018 Special Session of the 

Vermont General Assembly) (hereafter Act 11), the five (5) representatives of participating 

employees on the Commission on Public School Employee Health Benefits (Employee 

Commissioners) are recognized as the exclusive bargaining representative of eligible employees 

for all aspects of representation within the jurisdiction created by Act 11. The five publicly elected 

school board member Commissioners appointed by the Vermont State School Boards’ 

Association (Employer Commissioners) are recognized as representing the interests of the 

employing and governing school districts and supervisory unions throughout the State of 

Vermont within the jurisdiction created by Act 11. Together, the Employee   Commissioners   

and   the   Employer   Commissioners   constitute   the Commission on Public School Employee 

Health Benefits (Commission). 
 
Article II. Definitions: 

 
2.1 The  following  definitions  shall  be  applicable  to  this  document  of  the 

 
Commission (Document): 

 
a)  Licensed Teachers: Employees of Vermont school districts and supervisory districts 

providing employment services requiring a professional teaching license from the 

Vermont Agency of Education (AOE). 

b)  Licensed Administrators: Employees of Vermont school districts and supervisory 

districts (District Employees) providing employment services requiring a 

professional administrator’s license from the AOE. 

c)  Support Staff: A municipal employee as defined in 21 V.S.A. Section 1722. 
 
 
Article III. Scope of Bargaining: 

 

350



3.1 a)  Determining eligibility for health benefit plans and tiers of coverage for school   
employees; 

b)  Standardizing the duration of health insurance coverage during a term of employment; 

c)  Negotiating per the standards set forth in 21 V.S.A. Section 2103 as the same may be 

amended from time to time. 

d)  Researching,   vetting   and   establishing   a   system   of   third-party administration 

that is efficient and competent, technologically sophisticated and manageable, and 

accountable to employers and employees; 
 
3.2 The parties agree that nothing herein is intended to preempt or regulate an aspect of 

educational system employment that is outside of the statutory jurisdiction conferred upon the 

Commission. 
 
Article IV. Plan Offerings: 
 
4.1 All participating employees who are eligible for coverage will be able to select one of the 

four plans offered by the Vermont Education Health Initiative (VEHI): Platinum, Gold, Gold 

Consumer-Driven Health Plan (CDHP) or Silver CDHP. 
 
Article V. Eligibility for Health Benefit Coverage: 
 

 
5.1 Beginning on January 1, 2021, all public-school employees who work on average a 

minimum of 17.5 hours per week during the school year or calendar year shall have the 

right to enroll in a health benefit plan with an employer subsidy to pay for premium and 

out-of-pocket (OOP) costs. Employees may elect coverage for themselves, their spouses, 

domestic partners and other qualified dependents from any of the four (4) tiers (e.g., single, 

two-person, parent/child[ren] and family) in any of the four (4) plans (e.g., Platinum, Gold, 

Gold CDHP or Silver CDHP) offered by VEHI. Spouses of employees shall include those 

by marriage, domestic partnerships, or civil unions. 
 
5.2 Full-time status for determining the amount of employer-subsidized coverage for 

premium costs will be based on full time or full time equivalent (FTE) definitions as locally 

negotiated or determined. 

351



 
5.3 Employees who work less than full time but a minimum of 17.5 hours per week during the 

school year or calendar year shall be entitled to pro-rata health benefit contributions toward 

premiums. Employer contributions to a health reimbursement arrangement (HRA) or 

health savings account (HSA) will be made in full and not pro-rated. 
 
5.4 Employees will not be subject to a probationary period before being permitted access to 

health insurance coverage for which they are eligible. 
 
5.5 Health insurance coverage for new employees or employees newly eligible for health 

insurance coverage will start at the earliest possible date consistent with current 

VEHI/Blue Cross Blue Shield of Vermont (BCBSVT) enrollment rules. 
 
5.6 An employee seeking to obtain benefit coverage for the employee’s domestic partner 

and the child(ren) of that domestic partner must satisfy the following criteria and submit the 

attached affidavit to the district business office. 
 
 

Domestic Partner/Child(ren) of Domestic Partner  
 

The employee and the domestic partner are each other's sole domestic partner and 

have been in an exclusive and enduring domestic relationship sharing a residence for 

not less than six consecutive months before enrolling in their school district’s health 

benefit plan; and  

The employee and the domestic partner are 18-years old or older; and  

Neither the employee nor the domestic partner is married to anyone; and  

The employee and the domestic partner are not related by blood closer than would bar 

marriage under Vermont law; and  

The employee and the domestic partner are competent to enter into a legally 

binding contract; and  

The employee and the domestic partner have agreed between themselves to be 

responsible for each other's welfare. 

The employee may be required to produce documentary evidence in support of a 

Domestic Partnership affidavit and is required to notify their employer within 

352



thirty (30) days after the termination of a Domestic Partnership.  

 

Child[ren] of Domestic Partner: 

The child[ren] otherwise meets the eligibility criteria for dependent child[ren] under 

the eligibility provisions for school health benefit coverage; and The child[ren] can 

be, and is, claimed as a dependent by the employee and/or the domestic partner for 

federal income tax deduction purposes; and 

The child[ren] resides with the employee and the domestic partner; and  

The employee and the domestic partner have agreed between themselves to be jointly 

responsible for the child's welfare. 

 
5.7  Duration of Insurance Availability: the health insurance offered under this Document 

shall be co-terminus with a covered employee’s status as an eligible educational employee and 

will terminate when such status terminates. Nothing herein, however, is intended to affect a 

former employee’s rights under COBRA or to adversely affect a district or the applicable 

bargaining unit from negotiating continuing responsibility for COBRA payments in connection 

with any separation from employment. 
 
 
Article VI. Premium Cost-sharing: Employers and Employees: 

 
6.1 For Teachers, Licensed School Administrators:  Each employer will contribute eighty 

(80%) percent of the Gold CDHP or eighty (80%) percent of the Silver CDHP for any tier of 

coverage.  The amount of money available for Gold CDHP can be credited at the employee’s 

discretion toward the premium costs for a tier of coverage in the Platinum or Gold (non-CDHP) 

VEHI plans. 
 
 
6.2 For all Other School Employees:  The premium split for support staff will be status quo 

in the separate districts through December 31, 2021, but in no case shall exceed twenty (20%) 

percent of Gold CDHP or Silver CDHP plan for any tier of coverage.  Beginning on January 1, 

2022 all support staff who are not at the 20% premium contribution level will increase the 

employee contribution by not more than two (2%) percentage points, not to exceed twenty (20%) 

353



percent for any tier of coverage. The amount of money available for Gold CDHP can be credited 

at the employee’s discretion toward the premium costs for a tier of coverage in the Platinum or 

Gold (non-CDHP) VEHI plans. 
 
Article VII. Out-of-Pocket Cost Sharing: Employers and Employees 

 
7.1 For employees and their dependents enrolled in the VEHI Gold CDHP, employers will pay 

medical and pharmacy out-of- pocket (OOP) costs with first dollar contributions through a HRA 

in the following amounts: for licensed administrators and  teachers:  $2100  for  single-tier  

coverage  and  $4200  for  all  other  tiers  of coverage; for support staff $2200 for single-tier 

coverage and $4400 for all other tiers of coverage.   This amount of money can be credited at the 

employee’s discretion toward the OOP any other VEHI plan. For employees enrolled in the VEHI 

Silver CDHP, employers will pay medical and pharmacy OOP costs with first dollar 

contributions through an HRA or HSA, at the individual employee’s discretion, in the following 

amounts: For licensed teachers and administrators: $2100 for a single tier and $4200 for all other 

tiers; for support staff $2200 for a single tier and $4400 for all other tiers. 
 
 
Article VIII. Employees Under Part-time Contract in Two or More Districts/Supervisory 
Unions: 

 
8.1 Cost Sharing: Employees who have part-time contracts with multiple school district 

employers, but who meet the minimum eligibility standards hereof on the basis of all such 

contracted for work, shall be eligible for health insurance 

coverage according to this Document (“Eligible Employee with Multiple Employers”) as 

follows: Each district will bear a proportional premium, OOP and administrative fees sharing 

responsibility equal to the part time percentage of the employee’s contract. For example, if 

district “A” has a 60% employment contract/relationship with the school employee, District “A” 

will be responsible for 60% of the total district costs sharing responsibility set forth herein. 
 
 
8.2 Plan Administration for Multiple District Employee: For an Eligible Employee with 

Multiple Employers, administration of the employee’s health insurance benefits will be the 

primary responsibility of the district with the largest contractional relationship. In the event two 

of more districts have identical contractional relationships with the employee, the district that 

354



first employed the employee will have responsibility of administering the employee’s insurance 

benefits. 
 
8.3 Transfers Between Educational Employers: If an Eligible Employee with Multiple 

Employers transfers between two employers bound by this Document during the course of any 

one calendar year the employee’s coverage under the plan shall remain unchanged. However, 

the employer obligations under this Document shall be appropriately pro-rated between the 

two employers and the new employer shall take on applicable administrative responsibilities. 
 
 
Article IX. General: 

 
9.1 All terms and conditions of this Document will be incorporated by reference into existing 

collective bargaining agreements in accordance with applicable laws. 
 
 
9.2 All terms and conditions of this Document will be incorporated by reference into school 

policies or individual employment contracts that govern health benefits for school employees not 

in recognized bargaining units in accordance with applicable laws. 
 
 
9.3 Nothing in this Document shall be construed to deny, restrict or add in any way the right 

to health insurance coverage through an employer’s health care plan that employees and their 

dependents are entitled to under federal COBRA rules, the federal Family Medical and Leave 

Act (FMLA), Vermont’s Family and Medical Leave Laws, or other state and federal statutes. 

 
Article X. Duration of Statewide Document: 

 
10.1 Two and one-half years commencing July 1, 2020 (per statute) with the stipulation that the 

status quo prevailing in the various districts with respect to health care will remain in effect 

between July 1, 2020 and December 31, 2020 and to then implement the new state-wide changes 

on January 1, 2021 in order to correspond to the health care plan’s calendar year status and IRS 

regulations regarding HRA/HSA funding. 
 
 
Article XI. Transitioning to a Statewide Third Party Administrator Services in the 
Interi
m: 

355



 
11.1 Employers shall pay the administrative expenses charged by the Third Party 

 
Administrator (TPA). 

 
 
11.2 Autopayment to providers will be the default payment method unless requested otherwise 

by the bargaining unit. 

 
11.3 The TPA chosen shall be able to provide debit cards to facilitate payments when auto-

payment is not an option. Debit cards must be provided to employees prior to January 1st of each 

year of this Document. 
 

356



WCUUSD School Board  

Superintendent Personnel Summary and Recommendations  

June 23, 2021 

(as of June 23, 2021 ) 

 

1. New Teacher Nominations (for 21-22 school year) 
Jeremy Avoli- U-32 Physical Education & Health Education Teacher  

2. Retirement  
 
 

3. Resignations  
 

4. Leave of Absence Request  
 
  

5. Change in FTE  
 

6. Long Term Substitutes  (21-22 School year )  
 
Maxwell Segalla – U-32 English Long-Term Substitute  
 
 

7. New Hire – 
 

 






	6.23.21 WCUUSD Board Meeting Agenda
	Flag Request memo
	Flag Raising Request - Black Lives Matter - May 2021 (1)
	F46 Flag Raising
	Flag  Raising  Request Form
	flag letter dated June 17 2021
	Social Justice Statement
	WCUUSD Covid-19 Coordinator Pandemic Year Update
	CMSI MEMO
	CMSI Executive Summary and Curriculum report
	School Time Proposal
	WCUUSD Board Financial Update June 2021
	WCUUSD FY 21 Financial Update June 2021
	wcuusdfundbalancefy2021june estimates fund 1
	wcuusdfundbalancefy2021 june estimates misc funds
	Food Service WCUUSD June estimates 2021

	WCUUSD Ed Spending Per Eq Pupil Comparative Information
	WCUUSD FY 21 Financial Update June 2021 Ed Spending Per Eq Pupil
	AOE School Comparative Information  June 2021

	WCUUSD Special Education Comparative Information
	WCUUSD FY 21 Financial Update June 2021 Special Educations
	District Special Education Trends for school board June 15 2021
	District Special Education Trends Updated June 15 2021 FY20 to FY23

	F44 Password Management Policy
	Overview
	Purpose
	Scope
	User ID & Password

	B8 Electronic Communication Between Employees and Students
	D40 Acceptable Use
	F40 Change Management
	F43 Backups
	D3 District Take Home Device Updated
	F47 Electronic Mail
	F48 Incident Response Policy and Plan
	Ainsley Burroughs
	C. Cadorette School board letter of interest
	M. Leclerc Letter of Interest
	Maggie Weiss School board letter of interest
	School Board Letter of Interest_Leclerc
	Ursula Stanley WCUUSD Board interest
	WCUUSD_SB_letter_Whelley
	5.19.21 Board Meeting minutes
	6.2.21 Special Board Meeting minutes
	6.8.21 Special Board Meeting minutes
	6.16.21 Special Board Meeting minutes
	DRAFT  ESP Master Agree FY21-23 6-12-21 TA revision 1
	ARTICLE  1 – RECOGNITION
	ARTICLE 2 – DEFINITIONS
	ARTICLE 3 – RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES
	ARTICLE 4 - FAIR PRACTICES
	ARTICLE 5 – DUES DEDUCTION
	ARTICLE 6 – INDIVIDUAL CONTRACT RENEWAL
	ARTICLE 7 – EVALUATIONS AND DISCIPLINE
	ARTICLE 8 – REDUCTION IN FORCE
	ARTICLE 9 – CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT
	ARTICLE 10 – COMPENSATION
	ARTICLE 11 – INSURANCE
	11.57 Disability Insurance:  The Board agrees to provide group long term disability (“LTD”) insurance coverage to all ESP who are scheduled to work at least 24 hours per week on a regular basis.  Disability coverage will begin after meeting the eligib...
	ARTICLE 12 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
	ARTICLE 13 – LEAVES AND ABSENCES
	ARTICLE 14 – NOTICE OF VACANCIES AND TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES
	ARTICLE 15 – GENERAL
	ARTICLE 16 – NO STRIKE PLEDGE
	ARTICLE 17 – LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
	The Board and the Union agree to maintain a District Labor-Management Committee.  The purpose of the Committee is to discuss, explore, and study issues referred to it by the parties of this Agreement in an effort to foster positive communications.  Th...
	ARTICLE 18 – EARLY RETIREMENT OPTIONS
	ARTICLE 19 – ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF ARBITRATION
	ARTICLE 20 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT
	WCEU ESP Co-Vice-President
	Rebecca Pellegrini


	DRAFT May 20 2021  TEACHERS AGREEMENT FY21-23 6-12-21 TA revision 1
	APPENDIX DE2: HEALTH INSURANCE SUMMARY – BI-MONTHLY COST
	AGREEMENT
	ARTICLE 1--RECOGNITION
	ARTICLE 2--DEFINITIONS
	ARTICLE 3--RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES
	ARTICLE 4--FAIR PRACTICES
	ARTICLE 5--CONTRACT RENEWAL
	ARTICLE 6--TEACHER EVALUATION
	ARTICLE 7--REDUCTION IN FORCE
	ARTICLE 8--ASSOCIATION DUES DEDUCTION
	ARTICLE 9--CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT
	ARTICLE 10--PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
	ARTICLE 11--INSURANCE
	ARTICLE 12--LEAVES AND ABSENCES
	ARTICLE 13--GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
	ARTICLE 14—SALARY
	ARTICLE 15--GENERAL
	a. School Labor Management Committees
	1.  Purpose
	2.  Committee Make-up
	3.  Procedures
	4. School Labor Management Committees have no authority to add to, detract from, or change the terms and/or conditions of the existing Agreement between the parties.
	ARTICLE 16--NO STRIKE PLEDGE
	ARTICLE 17--DURATION

	J Avoli Nomination Form.pdf
	Avoli, Jeremy nomination 1.0 pe-health
	J Avoli resume
	J Avoli schoolspring profile May 2021
	J Avoli Level I 3-08 pe & 3-31 health exp 2023
	J Avoli recommendation - D Dunchus Jr
	J Avoli recommendation - J Wallett
	J Avoli recommendation - K Culpo
	J Avoli recommendation - S Striglia




